
 

 

 
 

To: Members of the  
ADULT CARE AND HEALTH POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 

 Councillor Mark Brock (Chairman) 

Councillor Dr Sunil Gupta FRCP FRCPath (Vice-Chairman) 
 Councillors Jessica Arnold, Felicity Bainbridge, Graeme Casey, Robert Evans, 

Mike Jack, David Jefferys, Kevin Kennedy-Brooks and Thomas Turrell 

  
 Non-Voting Co-opted Members 

Roger Chant, Bromley Carer 
Vicki Pryde, Bromley Mental Health Forum 
Rona Topaz, Bromley Experts by Experience  

 
 

 A meeting of the Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
will be held at Bromley Civic Centre on TUESDAY 24 JANUARY 2023 AT 7.00 PM  

 

 
PLEASE NOTE: This meeting will be held in the Council Chamber at the Civic Centre, 

Stockwell Close, Bromley, BR1 3UH. Members of the public can attend the meeting: 
you can ask questions submitted in advance (see item 3 on the agenda) or just 
observe the meeting. There will be limited space for members of the public to attend 

the meeting – if you wish to attend please contact us, before the day of the meeting if 
possible, using our web-form: 

 
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/Counci lMeetingNoticeOfAttendanceForm 

 

 
 

 TASNIM SHAWKAT 
Director of Corporate Services & Governance 

 

 
Paper copies of this agenda will not be provided at the meeting.   Copies can 

be printed off at http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/.  Any member of the public 

requiring a paper copy of the agenda may request one in advance of the 
meeting by contacting the Clerk to the Committee, giving 24 hours notice 

before the meeting. 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

BROMLEY CIVIC CENTRE, STOCKWELL CLOSE, BROMLEY BRI 3UH 
 
TELEPHONE: 020 8464 3333  CONTACT: Jo Partridge 

   joanne.partridge@bromley.gov.uk  

    

DIRECT LINE: 020 8461 7638   

FAX: 020 8290 0608  DATE: 16 January 2023 

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/CouncilMeetingNoticeOfAttendanceForm
http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/


 
 

A G E N D A 
 

PART 1 AGENDA 

Note for Members: Members are reminded that Officer contact details are shown on 

each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting. 
 

 STANDARD ITEMS 
 

1    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  

 

2    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

3   QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS AND MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ATTENDING 

THE MEETING  

 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, questions that are not specific to reports 
on the agenda must have been received in writing 10 working days before the date of 

the meeting.   
 

Questions specifically on reports on the agenda should be received within two working 

days of the normal publication date of the agenda.  Please ensure that questions 
specifically on reports on the agenda are received by the Democratic Services Team by 
5pm on Wednesday 18th January 2023. 

 

4    MINUTES OF ADULT CARE AND HEALTH PDS COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 

22ND NOVEMBER 2022 (Pages 5 - 24) 

 

5    WORK PROGRAMME AND MATTERS OUTSTANDING (Pages 25 - 30) 

 

 

 HOLDING THE ADULT CARE AND HEALTH PORTFOLIO HOLDER TO ACCOUNT 
 

6   UPDATE FROM THE DIRECTOR OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE  

 Including an update on Adult Social Care Reforms 

 

7    ADULT CARE AND HEALTH PORTFOLIO DRAFT BUDGET 2023/24 (Pages 31 - 52) 

 

8    TACKLING LONELINESS STRATEGY - ACTION PLAN UPDATE (Pages 53 - 80) 

 
 

 HOLDING THE EXECUTIVE TO ACCOUNT 

 

9    PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF EXECUTIVE REPORTS  

a    INTEGRATED COMMUNITY EQUIPMENT STORE - AWARD REPORT 
(PART 1) (Pages 81 - 90) 

 

  
 
 



 
 

POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND OTHER ITEMS 

 

10    BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD 2021/22 ANNUAL REPORT (Pages 

91 - 188) 

 

11    CONTRACT MONITORING - LEARNING DISABILITY SUPPORTED LIVING 
SERVICES (Pages 189 - 206) 

 

12    CONTRACT MONITORING - DOMICILIARY CARE (Pages 207 - 220) 

 

13    CONTRACT MONITORING - INFRASTRUCTURE SUPPORT TO VOLUNTARY 
SERVICES (Pages 221 - 230) 

 
 

14   LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

(ACCESS TO INFORMATION) (VARIATION) ORDER 2006 AND THE FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT 2000  

 

 The Chairman to move that the Press and public be excluded during consideration of the 

items of business listed below as it is likely in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members of the Press and public were 

present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information.  
 
 

15   EXEMPT MINUTES OF ADULT CARE AND 
HEALTH PDS COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 
22ND NOVEMBER 2022 (Pages 231 - 234) 

 

Information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority 

holding that information)  
 

 

16    PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF EXEMPT EXECUTIVE REPORTS  

a    INTEGRATED COMMUNITY EQUIPMENT 
STORE - AWARD REPORT (PART 2) 

(Pages 235 - 244) 

 

Information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority 

holding that information)  
 



This page is left intentionally blank



40 
 

ADULT CARE AND HEALTH POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 
Minutes of the meeting held at 7.00 pm on 22 November 2022 

 
 

Present: 

 
Councillor Mark Brock (Chairman) 

  
 

Councillors Felicity Bainbridge, Mike Jack, David Jefferys, 
Simon Jeal, Tony McPartlan, Kira Gabbert, Charles Joel 
and Shaun Slator 

 
Roger Chant and Vicki Pryde 
 

 
Also Present: 

 
Rona Topaz, Bromley Experts by Experience (via conference call) 

Councillor Graeme Casey (via conference call) 
 
 

Councillor Diane Smith, Portfolio Holder for Adult Care and Health 
 

 
 

39   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF 
SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Jessica Arnold, Robert 
Evans, Dr Sunil Gupta, Kevin Kennedy-Brooks and Thomas Turrell, and 

Councillors Tony McPartlan, Shaun Slator, Kira Gabbert, Simon Jeal and 
Charles Joel attended as their respective substitutes. 

 
 
40   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of interest. 

 
 
41   QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS AND MEMBERS OF THE 

PUBLIC ATTENDING THE MEETING 

 

No questions had been received. 
 
 

42   MINUTES OF ADULT CARE AND HEALTH PDS COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 7TH SEPTEMBER 2022 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 7th September 2022 were agreed, and 
signed as a correct record. 

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 

 

41 
 

43   WORK PROGRAMME AND MATTERS OUTSTANDING 

 
Report CSD22120 

 

The Committee considered a report setting out matters outstanding from 
previous meetings and the proposed work plan for 2022/23. 

 
With regards to the matter relating to the Bromley Healthcare Commissioner 
Assurance the Chairman said it was pleasing to see that the Portfolio Holder 

and Director of Adult Social Care were being kept up to date via summary 
emails from Bromley Healthcare. It was noted that the second matter 

outstanding had been completed following the September meeting. 
 
A Member noted that prior to the pandemic there had been a useful 

programme of Member visits and enquired if there were plans for this to be 
restarted. The Director of Adult Social Care said that a number of homes were 

now open for wider visitors, however they had continued to closely monitor 
what was happening in terms of COVID-19. It was considered that in the new 
year it may be appropriate to look at the possibility of re-establishing the 

programme of Member visits. 
 

Councillor Jefferys, Chairman of the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee, noted 
that the work programme also included the additional items that had been 
requested at the October meeting of the Sub-Committee. 

 
RESOLVED that the update be noted. 

 
 
44   UPDATE FROM THE DIRECTOR OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

 
The Director of Adult Social Care gave an update to Members on work being 

undertaken across the Adult Social Care department. 
 
The Director of Adult Social Care informed Members that since the last 

meeting most of the activity within the department had focussed on 
preparation for winter. Learning from last year had been taken and built upon 

what had worked, including regular reviews on progress in order that any 
unused funds could be redirected in a timely way. This year, there had been a 
focus specifically on work to prevent people from being admitted to hospital, 

rather than just focussing on hospital discharge. This had required a change 
of thinking across the whole system, aided by the good cross agency working. 

 
The required return to the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) on 
14th October 2022 was submitted with detailed returns from providers 

completed from a large section of the provider market, which aided the 
completion of the draft Market Sustainability Plan. Whilst not delivering any 

major surprises, as the department knew the market well, it did reinforce the 
challenges created by having a large private market accessed by 50% of 
those seeking and paying for care themselves. 

 

Page 6



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 
 

42 

The government’s announcement last week that some of the Adult Social 
Care Reforms had been delayed had been met with a mixed reception across 

the world of Adult Social Care. At a local level, officers were still seeking to 
make sense of what this meant for Bromley as “the devil was always in the 
detail”. It was intended that a lot of the work in progress would continue as 

this would enable the department to provide a better response to the 
community, and they also aimed to continue to develop a digital offer to 

support better systems. 
 
The planned re-introduction of an assurance process with Care Quality 

Commission (CQC) would continue, as would the departments preparation for 
this – work would be undertaken to ensuring policies and practice were 

aligned, good use was made of financial and performance data and that the 
impact of the work could be evidenced. The department continued to work 
with the voluntary sector, as well as providers and those that used the 

services, to develop practice. 
 

The Director of Adult Social Care informed Members that a number of newly 
qualified social workers had recently been welcomed to Bromley – they had 
been provided with an extensive induction programme, developed by the 

Principal Social Worker. Their introduction would enable the department to, 
once again, reduce the number of agency staff in post, a number of whom 
had held posts pending these appointments. Two graduates had also been 

welcomed – they would initially be working within the commissioning team, 
and receive the benefit of some time from a corporate graduate to assist 

preparation for assurance. Planning was well under way to ensure that 
comprehensive cover over the Christmas period, in order to ensure services 
could continue to be delivered at one of the busiest times of the year. 

 
The Director of Adult Social Care thanked Members for their support and 

constructive challenge during the year and wished them a happy festive 
season and a happy and healthy new year. 
 

With regards to the delay to the Adult Social Care reforms, a Member 
questioned what impact this was likely to have on the cost of residential care 

and what opportunities could be considered to mitigate this. The Director of 
Adult Social Care highlighted that the delays related to the introduction of the 
care cap, the ability for people to access care at the Council’s rate and 

changes to financial assessment levels. There had been no statement in 
relation to the impact of the fair cost of care work and this remained a risk. 

Work had been undertaken to ask providers what they believed a fairer cost of 
care to be, and there was an expectation that this would be worked towards 
by Councils over the next few years. The growth initially built into the budget 

was a combination of these things – the work to now be undertaken related to 
understanding the expectation at a national level. It was anticipated that some 

contribution towards the fair cost of care would be received – proposals would 
be developed at a local level and shared with the Portfolio Holder for Adult 
Care and Health once clear guidance was provided. It was noted that the 

pressure to reduce the gap between what the Council and private clients paid 
would be more significant in Bromley as a higher proportion of people funded 

Page 7



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 

 

43 
 

their own care. The fair cost of care would apply to both residential and home 

care providers. 
 
A Member noted that the update relating to staffing and recruitment was 

positive and enquired if previous concerns regarding retention of staff had 
eased. The Director of Adult Social Care advised that retention of staff within 

the directorate had been less of an issue compared to Children’s Social Care. 
There had been less movement and the risks anticipated were not currently 
been seen. 

 
RESOLVED that the update be noted. 

 
 
45   ACH PORTFOLIO PLAN 2022 Q2 UPDATE 

 
Report ACH22-038  

 
The Committee considered a report providing an update on the Adult Care 
and Health Portfolio Plan for the first half of 2022/23. 

 
The Adult Care and Health Portfolio Plan was refreshed for 2022/23 in line 

with the Council’s Transformation Programme and Making Bromley Even 
Better 2021-2031. The Plan focused on two ambitions from the Corporate 
Plan: 

- Ambition 2 - For adults and older people to enjoy fulfilled and 
successful lives in Bromley, ageing well, retaining independence and 

making choices; and, 
- Ambition 5 - To manage our resources well, providing value for money, 

and efficient and effective services for Bromley’s residents. 

 
Within each ambition there were a number of action and measures of success 

within the work of Adult Care and Health Services. The first six months of 
2022/23 had seen progress on the majority of the actions particularly in the 
case of newly commissioned or re-tendered services. Work also continued as 

part of the Transforming Adult Social Care programme to develop the working 
practices of front-line officers and the structure in which they operated to 

ensure best value support and services for vulnerable residents. Key 
achievements in the first half of 2022/23 were as follows: 
 

Ambition 2 
- The new Integrated Care System arrangements for South East London 

came into effect on 1st July 2022. Governance arrangements included 
a Local Care Partnership Board for Bromley jointly chaired by the 
Leader of the Council. 

- The contract for the revised primary and secondary intervention and 
prevention service was awarded to the incumbent provider, Bromley 

Third Sector Enterprises. 
- The Principal Loneliness Champion took up their role in September 

2022 and was working across the Council and with partners to deliver 

the action plan. 

Page 8



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 
 

44 

- A number of pilots using assistive technology had begun to test a 
range of technologies which would enable residents to increase their 

independence and monitor the level for support needed. 
 

Ambition 5 

- Preparations for the introduction of Market Sustainability, Fair Cost of 
Care and the Care Cap legislation were being taken forward in 

conjunction with partners learning from the experiences of Trailblazer 
sites. 

- Joint commissioning arrangements for mental health housing support 

services and the Integrated Community Equipment Services were 
being taken ahead. 

 
With regards to Ambition 2 – Action Point 6A) Promote opportunities for 
engagement with local communities and groups, a Member said the comment 

relating to day services was concerning. It was worrying that the uptake was 
not high following the COVID-19 pandemic, and it was questioned what work 

was being undertaken to understand why uptake had fallen. The Assistant 
Director for Integrated Commissioning advised that through the assessment 
process and referrals people were not opting to use day services. The Saxon 

and Biggin Hill Day Centres did still exist but there was continued caution 
post-pandemic. They were now trying to look at this from a different angle and 
using Day Centres to provide respite for carers – a survey was being 

undertaken of carers across the borough to see what respite and day services 
would be beneficial for them and the individuals they cared for. It was hard to 

state exactly why demand for day services had reduced, however the most 
likely reason was due to continued caution over COVID-19. 
 

With regards to Ambition 2 – Action Point 9E: Deliver the all-age Autism 
Strategy, a Co-opted Member noted that an autism ambassador programme 

would be developed to enable people with autism to support key services. It 
was questioned whether these services had been developed in consultation 
with people who had a diagnosis of autism or neurodiversity. The Director of 

Adult Social Care advised that this action was being led by the Director of 
Children’s Services, however it was confirmed that both adults and children 

who were diagnosed with autism or neurodiversity, and their parents and 
carers, had been involved in the planning and work undertaken in this area. It 
was noted that these individuals were also actively involved in the Board 

looking at this area of work. In response to a question from another Co-opted 
Member, the Assistant Director for Integrated Commissioning advised that the 

all-age Autism Strategy encompassed the broader diagnosis of 
neurodiversity. 
 

In response to a question, the Assistant Director for Strategy, Performance 
and Corporate Transformation confirmed that the role of the Principal 

Loneliness Champion was to bring together partnerships from across the 
borough. The Principal Loneliness Champion had been actively engaging with  
Bromley Well and Community Links Bromley, and would link with other 

organisations such as housing associations. If the Council could help other 

Page 9



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 

 

45 
 

agencies to recognise loneliness they could help to broker conversations with 

residents. 
 
With regards to Ambition 2 – Action Point 10A: Develop a new support offer to 

help and sustain unpaid carers including young carers, a Member noted that 
the development and publication of a Bromley Carers Strategy had a target 

date of January 2023 and asked for further information regarding timescales. 
The Assistant Director for Integrated Commissioning said it was anticipated 
that the Strategy would be brought to the Committee in March 2023. An early 

draft of the document had been written however they wanted to undertake 
further consultation following the Christmas period. It was noted that work was 

progressing, and a focus group had been held that morning to speak with 
voluntary groups. 
 

A Member noted that the action relating to the adult education programme 
(Ambition 2 – Action Point 11) stated that success was measured based on 

an increased number of participants on each course. It was questioned how 
the effectiveness of these courses was being measured. The Assistant 
Director for Strategy, Performance and Corporate Transformation advised that 

this question would be put to the Director of Education following the meeting, 
and a written response would be provided. With regards to Ambition 2 – 

Action Point 14A: Develop the use of assistive technology to enable residents 
to remain in their homes, the Member enquired how the pilot programme was 
progressing. The Director of Adult Social Care said that the programme was 

going very well. There had been a particular focus on people being 
discharged from hospital, which had seen some really positive results. This 

included people requiring far less support than anticipated and people being 
more positive about doing more for themselves. This was an area which they 
wanted to progress. 

 
RESOLVED that the progress on the actions associated with the Adult 

Care and Health Portfolio Plan for the first half of 2022/23 (Appendix 1) 
be noted. 

 

 
46   PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF ADULT CARE AND HEALTH 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER REPORTS 

 
The Committee considered the following reports where the Adult Care and 

Health Portfolio Holder was recommended to take a decision. 
 

A BUDGET MONITORING 2022/23 - Q2  
 
Report FSD22082  

 
The Committee considered a report providing the budget monitoring position 

for 2022/23 for the Adult Care and Health Portfolio, based on activity up to the 
end of September 2022. 
 

Page 10



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 
 

46 

The Director of Adult Social Care advised there was an error in paragraph 
3.3.1 of the report and confirmed that there was a projected underspend of 

£53k on the controllable budget. Overall this was good news, however it was 
noted that there had been overspends in the areas of Learning Disabilities 
and Mental Health and the associated cost pressures were projected to 

impact in 2022/23 by £1.924m. 
 

The Director of Adult Social Care said that in her update she had highlighted 
the work being undertaken to maintain performance against the budget. They 

were aware that pressures around hospital discharge had continued, with 
people having more complex needs – the figures indicated that this was being 
contained with people being moved towards move independence rather than 

needing long-term support. 
 

A Member asked for more information as to how the financial position had 
been achieved and suggested that it may be beneficial to have a report 
relating to this presented to a future meeting. It was highlighted that it was 

quite a turnaround, and the directorate should be congratulated on the work 
undertaken to achieve this. In response to a question, the Director of Adult 

Social Care advised that this related to reablement and therapies – it was due 
to a change of approach and a culture change with staff. Members were 
advised that a summary of what had been delivered through the 

Transformation Programme, and the associated savings, could be brought to 
a future meeting. It was highlighted that this was not due to cutting services, 

but was instead about working smarter and more efficiently. The Portfolio 
Holder for Adult Care and Heath highlighted that it was a whole system 
approach with health partners. For example the changes within the 

Domiciliary Care contract to encourage a reablement approach. 
 

A Member considered that credit was due to for reporting a net underspend, 
despite difficult circumstances, and asked for further information relating to 
the areas of overspend and trends identified. The Director of Adult Social 

Care advised that pressure was currently being seen within the younger 
disabled people cohort, those with learning disabilities and mental health 

needs, and this was reflective of where attention had been placed. Detailed 
discussions had been held over recent months with care providers, largely in 
the older people group. This was where attention had been focussed in 

relation to health, concentrated on people being discharged from hospital. It 
was considered to be harder to predict spend as there was much less 

consistency when looking at young adults with learning disabilities or mental 
health needs, whereas there was a range of costs for care for older people. 
The pressures within the learning disabilities service related mainly to young 

people who were coming through transition, and work was ongoing with the 0-
25 Service to resolve this at an earlier stage. 
 

In response to questions from another Member, the Director of Adult Social 
Care advised that work was being undertaken with the Director of Children’s 

Services and Head of Service – 0-25 Project (Preparing for Adulthood). Part 
of this was about working with young people and their families earlier. It was 
felt that having one service that straddled the age groups would be beneficial. 

Page 11



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 

 

47 
 

It was noted that there was growth built into the budget to fund young adults 

coming through transition 
 
A Member questioned if the underspend was due to there being less demand 

for the services than had been forecast. The Director of Adult Social Care said 
that it was about providing different solutions for people, and they were 

working closely with partners and using assistive technology. The emphasis 
was changing to help people to remain independent – the reablement 
services were working hard to get people “back on their feet” and withdrawing 

services from them. In response to a further question, the Director of Adult 
Social Care said they would do their best to balance the budget at year end. 

 
RESOLVED that the Portfolio Holder be recommend to: 

 
i) Note the projected net underspend of £53k on controllable 

expenditure based on information as at September 2022; and, 

 
ii) Recommend that Executive agree the release of funds from the 

Central Contingency as set out in section 3.5 of the report. 

 
 

B EXTENSION OF COVID-19 SURGE CAPACITY NURSING 
SUPPORT SERVICE  

 

Report ACH22-045 

 

The Committee considered a report providing an update on the contract 
supplying Support Nurses as required until March 2023. Approval was sought 
for an extension of the Contract until 31st March 2024, if required. 

 
In 2020/21 Bromley’s Public Health team worked with Smart Health Solutions 

to develop a “bank” of registered nurses to support them in responding to 
queries from professionals. These nurses were given appropriate training and 
detailed resources and systems were put in place. These ‘Support Nurses’ 

were only needed when there was a surge in infections. In 2021/22 the 
service was not used until December 2021 when the Omicron variant caused 

very high levels of infection in the borough. The ‘Support Nurses’ were 
currently on standby. It was anticipated that these nurses would be needed for 
surges of Covid infection if they occurred in the winter months of 2022/23 and 

also 2023/24. The Director of Public Health highlighted that the service would 
only be used if it was required. 

 
Members strongly supported the proposals – it was noted that they had 
worked well during previous years and would provide additional capacity, if 

needed. 
 
RESOLVED that the Portfolio Holder be recommend to: 
 
i) Note the report and authorise the further extension beyond term 

of the Contract with Smart Health Solutions for the provision of 

Page 12



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 
 

48 

Surge Nursing Support Services until 31st March 2024, should it 
be required; and, 

 
ii) Grant delegated authority to the Chief Officer to apply the 

extension based on an assessment of need and risk, in 

consultation with the Portfolio Holder. 

 

 
47   PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF EXECUTIVE REPORTS 

 

A LEARNING DISABILITY SHORT BREAKS - CONTRACT 
AWARD (PART 1)  

 
Report ACH22-041  

 

The Committee considered a report detailing the outcome of the tender 
process for the Learning Disability Short Breaks contract. Executive 

agreement was sought to award the contract as set out in the accompanying 
Part 2 report. 
 

The Council had a contract in place with Ambient Support to provide a bed-
based short breaks (formerly referred to as respite) service for adults with a 

learning disability. The contract was awarded for a two-year period from 1st 
April 2021 to 31st March 2023 and, as the contract was awarded following a 
direct negotiated contract award process, there was no opportunity to extend. 

The short breaks block contract currently provided 6 beds at the 118 Widmore 
Road short breaks service with up to 4 additional beds available for spot 
purchase from Ambient Support. 

 
A gateway report, setting out proposals in relation to the bed based short 

breaks service and seeking agreement to progress a tender process was 
scrutinised by Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny 
Committee on 28th June 2022 and received Executive agreement on 29th June 

2022. The report detailed the outcome of the tender process and sought 
Executive agreement to award the contract as set out in the accompanying 

Part 2 report. The contract was to provide 34 block bed nights per week and 
would commence on 1st April 2023 for a period of 5 years with an option to 
extend for another 3 years at a contract value as detailed in the 

accompanying Part 2 report. The option to purchase additional beds on a spot 
basis would be in place to meet any peaks in demand.  

 
RESOLVED that the Executive be recommended to: 
 

i) Award the contract for the provision of 34 block bed nights per 
week at the residential short breaks service at 118 Widmore Road 

for a period of 5 years from 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2028 with 
an extension option of 3 years from 1st April 2028 to 31st March 
2031 to the provider and at the contract value as detailed in the 

Part 2 report; and, 
 

Page 13



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 

 

49 
 

ii) Delegate to the Director of Adult Services, in consultation with the 

Portfolio Holder for Adult Care and Health Services, the Assistant 
Director Governance & Contracts, the Director of Finance and the 
Director of Corporate Services, authorisation to exercise the 3-

year extension period. 

 

 
B LEARNING DISABILITY SUPPORTED LIVING SERVICES - 

BROMLEY ROAD, BROSSE WAY & PADUA ROAD - 

CONTRACT AWARD (PART 1)  
 

Report ACH22-042 

 
The Committee considered a report detailing the outcome of the procurement 

process for the Learning Disability Supported Living Services (Bromley Road, 
Brosse Way and Padua Road) contract. Executive approval was sought for 

the award of contract to the provider detailed in the accompanying Part Two 
report commencing 6th March 2023 for a period of 4 years to 5th March 2027 
with an option to extend for a further 4 years from 6 th March 2027 to 5th March 

2031. The estimated total cost of the award over the full 8-year term 
(excluding inflationary increases and fluctuations due to individual client need) 

was detailed in the accompanying Part Two report. 
 
The Council had a contract with Southside Partnership (also known as 

Certitude) to provide care and support into 3 supported living properties within 
the borough. A gateway report, setting out the strategy for undertaking the 

reprocurement of these services was agreed at the Executive on 29 th June 
2022. 
 
RESOLVED that the Executive be recommended to: 
 

i) Award the contract for the provision of supported living services 
to the provider detailed in the Part Two report commencing 6 th 
March 2023 for a period of 4 years to 5th March 2027 with an 

option to extend for a further 4 years from 6th March 2027 to 5th 
March 2031. The estimated total cost of the award over the full 8-

year term (excluding inflationary increases and fluctuations due to 
individual client need) was detailed in the Part Two report; and, 

 

ii) Delegate to the Director of Adult Services, in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Adult Care and Health Services, the Assistant 

Director Governance & Contracts, the Director of Finance and the 
Director of Corporate Services, authorisation to exercise the 4-
year extension period. 

 
 

C CONTRACT AWARD: ADVOCACY SERVICES (PART 1)  
 
Report ACH22-036  

 

Page 14



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 
 

50 

The Committee considered a report detailing the results of the tendering 
process for the provision of the advocacy services. Executive approval was 

sought to award the contract as detailed in the accompanying Part 2 report. 
 
On 29th June 2022, the Executive had approved the re-tender of the Advocacy 

services to enable the commencement of a new contract from 1st April 2023. 
The current contract was delivered through Advocacy for All with an estimated 

annual value of £286k. 
 
A Member noted that the majority of the proposed Key Performance 

Indicators (KPIs) seemed to be numerical and enquired about the qualitative 
outcomes expected in terms of the support provided to service users. The 

Head of Service for Community Living Commissioning advised that within the 
specification, that had been included in the Gateway 1 Report, it stated that 
providers would be required to submit a detailed case study of service users 

on a quarterly basis. They were also required to complete an annual survey 
and the team would consider if feedback could also be gathered by 

Healthwatch Bromley as a one off insight. 
 
In response to a question, the Head of Service for Community Living 

Commissioning said that having a single point of access was Care Act 
compliant and gave service users the best experience. It was noted that other 
boroughs were also following this example. 

 
RESOLVED that the Executive be recommended to: 

 
i.) Award the contract for the provision of the Advocacy services as 

detailed in the accompanying Part 2 Report. The proposed 

contract would commence on 1st April 2023 for a five-year period 
with the option to extend for up to a further two years; and, 

 
ii.) Delegate to the Director of Adult Services, in consultation with the 

Portfolio Holder for Adult Care & Health services, the Assistant 

Director of Governance & Contracts, the Director of Finance and 
the Director of Corporate Services, authorisation to vary the 

contract to meet statutory demands and exercise the extension 
period for up to two years. 

 

 
D ADULT MENTAL HEALTH RECOVERY AND REHABILITATION 

SUPPORT @ HOME SERVICE  
 
Report ACH22-035  

 
This Committee considered a report which sought Executive approval to 

commence the procurement of the adult mental health recovery and 
rehabilitation support@home service. 
 

Mental Health recovery and rehabilitation accommodation-based support and 
floating support services aimed to support mental health service users away 

Page 15



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 

 

51 
 

from reliance on hospital and residential provision towards more enabling and 

cost-effective services such as supported accommodation, support in the 
community and targeted support towards independent living. The LBB Mental 
Health Flexible Support Service contract would expire on 30 th September 

2024. The current contract had been in place since 1st October 2019 and had 
an estimated value of £319k per annum. The contract had no further options 

to extend and had a cumulative value of approximately £1,890k over the 5-
year term. 
 

The South East London Integrated Care Board (SELICB) Adult Mental Health 
Residential and Supported Accommodation Services contract would expire on 

30th September 2024. The current contract had been in place since 1st April 
2019 and had an estimated value of £1,432k per annum. The contract had no 
further extension options remaining and had a cumulative value of 

approximately £6,963k over the 5-year term. In addition, the Local Authority 
held individual placement contracts for clients placed into SELICB contracted 

provision. In 2021/22 the combined annual value of these placements was 
estimated to be approximately £1.12m per annum. In total these two services 
had an estimated combined value more than £2.94m per annum. 

 
The Gateway 0 report (ACH22-018), presented to the Executive on 29th June 

2022, advised Members on the procurement options for future housing 
support mental health services in Bromley and gained approval to replace the 
existing service model with a new joint adult mental health recovery and 

rehabilitation support@home service contract in 2024, underpinned by the 
section 75 agreement between the Local Authority and SELICB, and with a 

combined total contract value estimated at £2.66m per annum, split 50:50 
between the Local Authority and SELICB. The report presented to Members 
set out the actions relating to stakeholder engagement and co-production. 

 
A Member considered that the proposals seemed logical but asked how staff 

would be impacted and if they would spend more time travelling to visit 
service users than delivering care. The Project Manager – Mental Health, 
South East London ICB (“Project Manager”) said that these were elements 

that would be built into the specification. It was emphasised that this was not a 
flat procurement of the same services and was instead a part of the wider 

transformation of the housing support pathway. Some of the current 
residential services were de-registering in order to become a supported living 
environment – a benefit of this was residents could gain their own tenancies, 

essentially living in their own homes. This was a change to the model and the 
way in which client groups were supported. 

 
A Member asked what safeguards were in place to ensure that the 
appropriate service was provided for each service user, rather than the 

provider delivering what was best for them financially. The Project Manager 
advised that the service provided should be in line with the assessed needs of 

an individual. As part of the wider transformation programme additional 
capacity had been provided by the Social Care Team at Oxleas NHS 
Foundation Trust to work with the provider to undertake reassessments of all 

individuals who were currently receiving services to ensure they were the 

Page 16



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 
 

52 

services required. It was highlighted that the opposite was often seen, with the 
provider wanting the service user to move on to a more independent setting, 

but the current model did not necessarily have the capacity to provide this. 
Looking that the services wholistically it would ensure that the right level of 
support was available to service users in the community rather than filling 

beds. It was about getting the model right and ensuring that up to date 
assessments were undertaken. In response to a further question, the Project 

Manager said that where individuals were living in a co-located building with 
their own tenancies and just receiving community support – when they reach 
a point in time where they no longer required this level of support the 

oversight dropped away. Having a provider overarching all services and 
facilities there should be a better connection between them and the individual, 

and contact would not automatically be lost when support stopped. 
 
A Member enquired as to what other London boroughs were doing in relation 

to this service. The Project Manager advised that this proposal was moving in 
the same direction, both locally and nationally. It was noted that providers 

were used to delivering this model of service. 
 
RESOLVED that the Executive be recommended to: 

 
i.) Approve the commencement of a tender process for the housing 

support mental health services ‘support@home’ contract:  

- for an initial period of 5 years from 1st October 2024 to 30th 
September 2029; 

- with two options to extend for a further period of 2 years 
from 1st October 2029 to 30th September 2031 and 1st 
October 2031 to 30th September 2033;  

- at an estimated total contract value of £23.4m; and, 
 

ii.) Delegate authority to the Chief Officer in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder to approve the contract extension period(s) on 
satisfactory achievement of the contract performance indicators. 

 
 

E SUBSTANCE MISUSE CONTRACTS - GATEWAY REPORT  
 
Report ACH22-037  

 
This Committee considered a report which sought Executive approval to 

commence the procurement of the substance misuse contracts. The Assistant 
Director – Public Health advised that Members of the Adult Care and Health 
PDS Committee were asked to note and endorse the recommendations to the 

Council’s Executive. 
 

The London Borough of Bromley had a statutory duty to improve the health of 
the population and to provide local public health services including 
arrangements to secure the provision of substance misuse services for adults 

and young people. Substance misuse services were currently provided by 
CGL (Change, Grow, Live) who delivered the adult substance misuse service, 

Page 17



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 

 

53 
 

BDAS (Bromley Drug and Alcohol Service) and the young people’s substance 

misuse service, Bromley Changes at an estimated whole value of £7,490k. 
Both contracts are due to expire on 30th November 2023. In recent years the 
Service had received additional grants from the Office for Health Improvement 

and Disparities (OHID) to increase the capacity and scope of the Contracts. 
Further grants were likely to be made available for 2023/24 and 2024/25. 

 
It was proposed that: 
a) the current contracts be varied to reflect increased demand for the 

period from 1st December 2022 to 30th November 2023 at an estimated 
value of £120k; 

b) the current contracts be extended beyond term for a period of 4 months 
from 1st December 2023 to 31st March 2024, to align the contracts with 
the financial year and grant allocations, at an estimated value of £540k; 

and, 
c) proceed to procurement for a combined Adults and Young People’s 

Substance Misuse Service for a period of 5 years with the option to 
extend for up to 3 years at an estimated annual value of £1,718k and a 
whole life value of £13,744k. The increased contract value reflected the 

rise in need and demand and would be contained within the Public 
Health Grant budget. 

 
In response to a question, the Assistant Director – Public Health said that the 
supplementary grant was for a period of three years. Indicative amounts had 

been provided, but were subject to confirmation – however commitment was 
demonstrated through the National Drugs Strategy. 

 
A Member enquired how competitive the market was for providing this 
service. The Assistant Director – Public Health highlighted that there were 

currently two separate contracts, however during the last procurement they 
had been won by the same provider. Throughout the life of the contracts they 

had seen the benefits of these being under one management structure, 
particularly in terms of efficiency and effectiveness. It was noted that there 
were a number of providers in the market, both for young people and adults. 

In response to a further question, the Assistant Director – Public Health said 
they needed to follow due process in terms of when they could engage with 

providers. If approval was granted to proceed to procurement they would start 
the engagement – this was not just about getting potential bidders to listen, it 
was about bringing providers together to network and consider how they could 

work collaboratively. 
 

In response to questions, the Senior Strategist – Public Health advised that an 
example of a reason for people not being accepted into the service was that 
they were not a Bromley resident. They may have come through an Accident 

and Emergency Department, or other pathway, but would be referred on to 
the appropriate service. With regards to trends, the Senior Strategist – Public 

Health advised that they received information on a quarterly basis and 
Bromley compared very well against the national data across England. It was 
noted that the current provider was one of the biggest national providers – 

they compared all of the London boroughs, and Bromley was ranked second 

Page 18



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 
 

54 

in terms of successful completions for the last quarter. It was agreed that 
comparison data could be circulated to Members following the meeting. 

 
A Member noted concerns in relation to combining the two contracts as the 
whole life value was a substantial increase on the current contract. A contract 

of this size would limit the number of providers that could realistically deliver it 
and could price out small, specialist services, and it was questioned if large 

providers could tailor their service to meet the local needs. The rise in 
demand was the reason for the increase in contract value and there were 
further concerns about what was being done in relation to prevention services. 

The Assistant Director – Public Health advised that the proposal was to 
combine the contract, not the services – they wanted to gain the benefits and 

efficiency of one management structure, which was what was currently 
happening and there would also be two separate service specifications. In 
terms of how the market would pan out, it was difficult to say. 

 
The Member further questioned if the contract could be split back down if 

needed. The Assistant Director – Public Health said that the contract 
monitoring process would be used to continue to monitor performance, 
including how the provider worked with partners and ensured there was 

continuity of care. In terms of providing reassurance the Senior Strategist – 
Public Health advised that a number of neighbouring boroughs used different 
providers, and they were confident that more than one bid would be received. 

 
RESOLVED that the Executive be recommended to: 

 
i.) Approve a variation to the current Adult and Young People’s 

Substance Misuse Services contracts (paragraphs 3.17 and 3.18) 

to increase the contract value across both contracts by £120k for 
the period from 1st December 2022 to 30th November 2023; 

 
ii.) Approve the extension beyond term for the current contracts 

(paragraph 3.19) for a period of 4 months from 1st December 2023 

to 31st March 2024 at an estimated value of £540k; 
 

iii.) Approve the commissioning approach and proceed to 
procurement for a combined Adults and Young People’s 
Substance Misuse Service (paragraphs 3.20 to 3.25) for a five year 

contract commencing 1st April 2024, with the option to extend for 
a further three years, at an estimated annual value of £1,718k 

(whole life value £13,744k); and, 
 
iv.) Approve delegated authority to Chief Officers in consultation with 

the Portfolio Holder to authorise an appropriate portion of the 
Supplemental Substance Misuse Treatment and Recovery 

(SSMTR) Grant to be drawn down in 2023/24, 2024/25 and to vary 
the scope and value of the contract accordingly subject to the 
grant conditions which will be specified by the Office for Health 

Improvement and Disparities (OHID). 

 

Page 19



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 

 

55 
 

(Councillor Jeal requested that his vote against the recommendations be 

recorded) 
 
 

48   HESTIA - MENTAL HEALTH FLEXIBLE SUPPORT SERVICE - 
ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 

 
Report ACH22-044  

 

The Committee considered a report detailing the annual performance of the 
Mental Health Flexible Support Service (MHFSS) which was currently 

provided by Hestia Housing Support Ltd. 
 
The report provided a summary of how the service had performed to date in 

addressing the requirements of the specification and demonstrating how 
community-based support was a key element in meeting the Council’s 

statutory duties by preventing the need for more expensive accommodation / 
health-based provision. The Mental Health Flexible Support Service was a 
specialist service for adults with mental ill health, offering and providing 

support towards independent living and resettlement in the community 
following hospital discharge or a diagnosis of mental ill health. The current 

contract was awarded to Hestia Housing and Support, following a competitive 
tender, and commenced on 1st October 2019. The contract was let for 3 years 
with the option to extend for a further 2 years. The option to extend had been 

exercised and the contract was now in the first year of the 2-year extension. 
 

The Integrated Strategic Commissioning Officer advised that, to date, the 
service had performed well over the life of the contract. The provider had 
been very proactive in supporting clients. When they had initially taken on the 

contract, reviews of all clients had been completed – this had highlighted a 
number of clients who were then assessed by the care co-ordinators and 

moved to different services. The provider had also work well with the Local 
Authority and Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust in relation to the safeguarding of 
clients. It was noted that efficiencies had been made without reducing the 

quality of the support and care provided. 
 

In response to questions, the Integrated Strategic Commissioning Officer 
stated that referrals were made into the service – but if they were assessed as 
not being suitable for the service they would be signposted back to the 

referrer. It was noted that these instances had been reduced as a resource 
panel had been established and reviewed the cases before referral to Hestia. 

The Head of Service for Community Living Commissioning advised that there 
was a close relationship between the Hestia support workers and the care 
managers that worked directly with the clients – both would feed in the 

information needed to build a holistic package of support which was bespoke 
to the service user. With regards to how success was measured, the 

Integrated Strategic Commissioning Officer stated that, due to the nature of 
the client group, there would be some clients that would always require some 
level of support. Others would only be in the service for a couple of years then 

would be in a position to move on in stages. Members considered that 

Page 20



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 
 

56 

reassurance needed to be provided through figures for comparison. The Head 
of Service for Community Living Commissioning advised that comparative 

benchmarking data could be circulated to Members following the meeting. 
 
A Member enquired if feedback was gathered from service users. The 

Integrated Strategic Commissioning Officer said that this was something that 
the provider could be asked to submit, however as service users were not 

always willing to engage so this may be challenging. The Head of Service for 
Community Living Commissioning advised that this was an area that they had 
asked Healthwatch Bromley to look into, but they had not been able to meet 

with service users. It was noted that they could consider the methods being 
used by the provider and look at best practice. The Integrated Strategic 

Commissioning Officer highlighted that there had been low uptake in relation 
to the consultation held by Experts by Experience, however another event 
was planned to take place next month. 

 
A Member noted that reference had been made in the report to four 

individuals that ceased services and suggested that it would be useful to 
gather feedback as to why. The Integrated Strategic Commissioning Officer 
said that this had been due to non-engagement or refusal of the service. The 

provider would then liaise with the care co-ordinator to identify an alternative 
provision. From the information gathered, engagement was usually impacted 
by a dual diagnosis, such as substance misuse. The Director of Public Health 

highlighted that treatment services had clear outcomes and were therefore 
much easier to gather data – however support services were much harder to 

quantify as individuals often had very different packages of support provided 
to them. 
 

Another Member considered that there should now be a focus on gathering 
intelligence and ensuring that aspects within the contract were correct. The 

Director of Adult Social Care noted that there had initially been some 
concerns when the contract was retendered as the previous provider had 
been delivering the service for a long period of time, but the current contract 

provider had performed extremely well. 
 
RESOLVED that the content of the contract monitoring report on the 
performance of Hestia Housing Support Ltd be noted. 

 

 
49   CONTRACT REGISTER (PART 1) 

 
Report ACH22-043 

 

The Committee considered an extract from the September 2022 Contracts 
Register which was presented to Members for detailed scrutiny. The 

Contracts Register contained in Part 2 of the agenda included a commentary 
on each contract to inform Members of any issues or developments. It was 
highlighted that no contracts had been flagged as a concern during this 

quarter. 
 

Page 21



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 

 

57 
 

The Head of Complex and Long-Term Commissioning noted that the report 

provided a snapshot as at the 31st August 2022. There were three contracted 
‘amber’ rated, however all had since either progressed through the 
procurement process or via exemption. Members were advised that the 

Contract and Compliance Team were looking at ways to present the reports in 
a timelier manner to future Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 

meetings. The Director of Adult Social Care noted that this was a standard 
report which was submitted in accordance with the corporate timetable, and 
the time at which they were presented to the Committee was dependent on 

the schedule of meetings. 
 

A Member enquired if there were concerns about any of the contracts, and if 
any had shifted from ‘green’ to ‘amber’. The Head of Complex and Long-Term 
Commissioning advised that that there were currently no contracts of concern. 

 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 

 
 
50   QUESTIONS ON THE ADULT CARE AND HEALTH PDS 

INFORMATION BRIEFING 

 

The Adult Care and Health PDS Information Briefing comprised 6 reports: 
 

 Adults Risk Register Q2 update 

 Bromley Local Account 2021/22 

 Capital Programme Monitoring Q2 2022-2023 

 Complaints & Compliments Annual Report 2021-2022 

 Bromley Healthcare Update - CQC Improvement Plan – Health 

Scrutiny Sub-Committee - October 2022 

 Minutes from the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee meeting held on 11th 

October 2022. 
 
RESOLVED that the Information Briefing be noted. 

 
 

51   LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) 
(VARIATION) ORDER 2006 AND THE FREEDOM OF 

INFORMATION ACT 2000 

 
RESOLVED that the Press and public be excluded during consideration 

of the items of business listed below as it was likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if 

members of the Press and public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information. 

 
The following summaries 

Refer to matters involving exempt information 

 

Page 22



Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee 
22 November 2022 
 

58 

52   EXEMPT MINUTES OF ADULT CARE AND HEALTH PDS 
COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 7TH SEPTEMBER 2022 

 
RESOLVED that the exempt minutes of the Adult Care and Health PDS 
Committee meeting held on 7th September 2022 be agreed. 

 
 

53   PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF EXEMPT EXECUTIVE 
REPORTS 
 

A LEARNING DISABILITY SHORT BREAKS - CONTRACT 
AWARD (PART 2)  

 

The Committee noted the Part 2 information within the report. 
 

 
B LEARNING DISABILITY SUPPORTED LIVING SERVICES - 

BROMLEY ROAD, BROSSE WAY & PADUA ROAD - 
CONTRACT AWARD (PART 2)  

 

The Committee noted the Part 2 information within the report. 
 

 
C CONTRACT AWARD: ADVOCACY SERVICES (PART 2)  

 

The Committee noted the Part 2 information within the report. 
 

 
54   CONTRACT REGISTER (PART 2) 

 

The Committee noted the Part 2 information within the report. 
 

 
The Meeting ended at 8.42 pm 
 

 
 

Chairman 

 

Page 23



This page is left intentionally blank

Page 24



  

1 

Report No. 
CSD23016 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 

 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: ADULT CARE AND HEALTH POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Date:  Tuesday 24th January 2023 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: MATTERS OUTSTANDING AND WORK PROGRAMME 

Contact Officer: Jo Partridge, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 020 8461 7694      E-mail:  joanne.partridge@bromley.gov.uk 

 

Chief Officer: Director of Corporate Services and Governance 

Ward: All Wards 

 
1. Reason for decision/report and options 

1.1 The Adult Care and Health PDS Committee is asked to review its forward work programme and 
matters outstanding from previous meetings. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 The Committee is requested to review the Adult Care and Health PDS Committee forward 

work programme and matters outstanding from previous meetings, and indicate any changes 
required. 

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 

1. Summary of Impact: None  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Transformation Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Not Applicable  

2. Making Bromley Even Better Priority (delete as appropriate): Not Applicable:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable:  

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable:  
3. Budget head/performance centre: Democratic Services 

4. Total current budget for this head: £366k 
5. Source of funding: Revenue Budget 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):   6 
2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:         
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: None:  
2. Call-in: Not Applicable:  Non-Executive reports are not subject to call-in 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: Not Applicable  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Property  
 

1. Summary of Property Implications: Not Applicable  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Carbon Reduction and Social Value  
 

1. Summary of Carbon Reduction/Sustainability Implications:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users or customers (current and projected):  This report is intended 
primarily for the benefit of Committee Members. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  Not Applicable 
 

 

Page 26



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

 Matters Outstanding from Previous Meetings  

3.1 The Adult Care and Health PDS Committee’s matters outstanding table updates Members on 
“live” recommendations from previous meetings and is attached at Appendix 1.  

 Work Programme  

3.2 The Adult Care and Health PDS Committee Work Programme outlines the programme of work 
for the Committee including areas identified at the beginning of the year, new reports and those 

referred from other committees, the Portfolio Holder for Adult Care and Health or the Council’s 
Executive.  

3.3 The Committee is asked at each meeting to consider its Work Programme and ensure that 

priority issues are being addressed; that there is an appropriate balance between the 
Committee’s key roles of holding the Executive to account, policy development and review, and 

external scrutiny of local services, including health services; and that the programme is realistic 
in terms of Member time and Officer support capacity. The proposed Work Programme is 
attached at Appendix 2.  

3.4 Other reports will be added to the 2022/23 Work Programme as items arise. 

 

Non-Applicable Headings: Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children, 

Transformation/Policy Implications, Financial Implications, 
Personnel Implications, Legal Implications, Procurement 

Implications, Property Implications, Carbon Reduction/Social 

Value Implications, Customer Impact, Ward Councillor Views  
 

 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact Officer) 

Minutes of previous meetings  

 
 

Page 27



This page is left intentionally blank



  

 

MATTERS OUTSTANDING FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS 

 
PDS Minute 

number/title 
Committee Request Update 

Completion 

Date 

Minute 43 
22nd November 2022 
Work Programme and 

Matters Outstanding  

 

The possibility of re-establishing the 
programme of Member visits to be 
considered in the new year. 

A plan to be brought forward in the 
new year. 

In progress 

Minute 45 
22nd November 2022 

ACH Portfolio Plan 2022 
Q2 Update 
 

A response regarding how the 
effectiveness of the adult education 

courses was being measured to be 
provided by the Director of 
Education. 

 

Response to be circulated. In progress 

Minute 46a 
22nd November 2022 
Budget Monitoring 

2022/23 - Q2 
 

A summary of what had been 
delivered through the Transformation 
Programme, and the associated 

savings, to be brought to a future 
meeting. 
 

To be included as part of the 
budget report which will also cover 
new efficiencies to be found next 

financial year. 

In progress 

Minute 47e 

22nd November 2022 
Substance Misuse 
Contracts - Gateway 

Report 
 

Comparison data to be circulated to 

Members following the meeting. 

Comparison data to be circulated. In progress 

Minute 48 
22nd November 2022 
Hestia - Mental Health 

Flexible Support 
Service - Annual 
Monitoring Report 

 

Comparative benchmarking data to 
be circulated to Members following 
the meeting. 

Response to be circulated. In progress 

 

APPENDIX 1 
APPENDIX 1 

Page 29



  

 

APPENDIX 2 
 

 

Adult Care and Health PDS Work Programme 2022/23 
 
 

Adult Care and Health PDS Committee  24th January 2023 

Item  Status 

Update from the Director of Adult Social Care 
- to include ASC reforms 

 Standing item 

Adult Care and Health Portfolio Draft Budget 2023/24   PH item / Annual 

Integrated Community Equipment Store - Award Report Part 1 & 2 Executive item 

Contract Monitoring – Learning Disability Supported Living 
Services 

  

Contract Monitoring – Domiciliary Care   

Contract Monitoring – Infrastructure Support to Voluntary 
Services 

  

Tackling Loneliness Strategy – Action Plan Update  PDS item 

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report  Annual PDS item 

Adult Care and Health PDS Committee  15th March 2023 

Item  Status 

Update from the Director of Adult Social Care  Standing item 

Extra Care Housing – Strategic Review  Executive item 

Capital Programme Monitoring 2022/23 Q3  PH item 

Budget Monitoring 2022/23 – Q3  PH item 

0-25 Service   

Adult Social Care Strategy   

Contract Monitoring – DP Support and Payroll   

Contract Register  PDS item 

Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee  20th April 2023 

Item  Status 

Update from King’s College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust  Standing item 

Update on the Bromley Healthcare CQC Action Plan  Standing item 

Update on review of joint working arrangements between 
Oxleas and LBB 

  

GP Access  Standing item 

SEL ICS/ICB Update  Standing item 

Dental appointments (TBC)   

Healthwatch Bromley – Patient Engagement Report   

Joint Health Scrutiny Committee Verbal Update   

 

Page 30



  

1 

 Report No. 
 FSD23011 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: ADULT CARE AND HEALTH POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Date:  Tuesday 24th January 2023 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: ADULT CARE AND HEALTH PORTFOLIO DRAFT BUDGET 
2023/24 

 

Contact Officer: James Mullender, Head of Finance, Adults, Health & Housing 

Tel: 020 8313 4196    E-mail:  James.Mullender@bromley.gov.uk  

Chief Officer: Director of Finance 

Ward: All 

1. Reason for report 

1.1. The prime purpose of this report is to consider the Portfolio Holder’s Draft 2023/24 Budget which 

incorporates future cost pressures, planned mitigation measures and savings from transformation 
and other budget options which were reported to Executive on 18th January 2023. Members are 
requested to consider the initial draft budget being proposed and also identify any further action 

that might be taken to reduce cost pressures facing the Council over the next four years. 
 

1.2. Executive are requesting that each PDS Committee consider the proposed initial draft budget 
savings and cost pressures for their Portfolio and the views of each PDS Committee be reported 
back to the next meeting of the Executive, prior to the Executive making recommendations to 

Council on 2023/24 Council Tax levels. 
 

1.3. There are still outstanding issues and areas of uncertainty remaining. Any further updates will be 
included in the 2023/24 Council Tax report to the next meeting of the Executive. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1  The Adult Care and Health PDS Committee is requested to: 

i) Consider the update on the financial forecast for 2023/24 to 2026/27; 

ii) Consider the initial draft 2023/24 budget as a basis for setting the 2023/24 budget; and 

iii) Provide comments on the initial draft 2023/24 budget for the February meeting of the 

Council’s Executive. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 

1. Summary of Impact: None arising directly from this report 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy  
 

2. MBEB Priority: Adults and Older People, Managing our resources well 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable 
 

2. Ongoing costs: Recurring Cost  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Adult Care and Health portfolio budgets 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £87.9m (draft 2023/24 budget) 
 

5. Source of funding: Draft revenue budget for 2023/24   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):  Full details will be available with the Council’s 2023/24 
Financial Control Budget to be published in March 2023 

 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: Not Applicable    
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement: The statutory duties relating to financial reporting are 

covered within the Local Government Act 1972; the Local Government Finance Act 1998; the 
Local Government Act 2000; the Local Government Act 2002 and the Accounts and Audit 

Regulations 2015.  
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: Not Applicable   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):  The 2023/24 budget reflects 
the financial impact of the Council’s strategies, service plans etc. which impact on all of the 

Council’s customers (including council tax payers) and users of the services.  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  Not Applicable 

Page 32



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1. APPROACH TO BUDGETING, FINANCIAL CONTEXT AND ECONOMIC SITUATION 

WHICH CAN IMPACT ON PUBLIC FINANCES 

3.1.1. The Draft 2023/24 Budget enables the Council to continue to deliver on its key priorities and 
the financial forecast enables medium term financial planning. Early decisions should be 

considered which impact on the medium-term financial plan within the context of meeting 
‘Making Bromley Even Better’ priorities. 

3.1.2. The Council continues to deliver key services and ‘live within its means’. Forward financial 
planning and financial management is a key strength at Bromley. This report continues to 
forecast the financial prospects for the next four years and includes the outcome of the 

Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2023/24. It is important to note that some 
caution is required in considering any projections for 2024/25 to 2026/27 as this depends on 

the outcome of the Government’s next Spending Review as well as the impact of the Fair 
Funding Review (likely to be from 2026/27).  

3.1.3. A strong economy with growth increases revenues which supports the Government’s ability 

to reduce public sector debt as the gap between finances raised and spend on public services 
is reduced. The slowing down of the global economy and many sources of uncertainty has 

previously resulted in a downgrading of the level of economic growth in the UK economy. It 
is important to consider the key national issues that could impact on public finances over the 
next four years. The Covid situation had a dramatic impact on public finances. Not since the 

second world war has a national emergency affected every business and household in the 
UK. The economic shock has had no comparisons for over 300 years. As part of the Office 
for Budget Responsibility report, published with the Autumn Statement, government overall 

debt is projected to represent 89.9% of Gross Domestic Product (GDP). This is expected to 
continue to increase and peak at 97.6% in 2026/27, maintaining a level not seen since the 

early 1960s. The next few years remain uncertain economically and fiscally, given that GDP 
is expected to fall in 2023/24 but deliver an overall increase of 2.6% per annum by 2026/27. 
These economic factors could impact on the funding available for local government The 

Spending Review provided a one-year settlement which leaves considerable uncertainties 
over future years, with some limited assurances for 2024/25. However local government 

funding is currently expected to fall from 2025/26.  

3.1.4. Local Government has borne the brunt of austerity and savings compared with other areas of 
Government expenditure from 2009/10 till 2019/20 (10 years) and had a ‘rollover plus’ one-

year financial settlement for 2020/21, 2021/22 and 2022/23. For 2023/24 the Council has 
received a more generous settlement which includes additional funding for social care, 

including the repurpose of Adult Social Care Reform monies and a new Adult Social Care 
Grant. However, this needs to be considered in the context of the ‘new normal’ (post Covid), 
significant increases in inflation since 2022/23 and the considerable cost pressures across 

service areas facing local government. Austerity measures for future years, from 2025/26, will 
be a consideration but this will depend on the need for a sustainable economic recovery. It is 

currently predicted that it could take more than a decade to return UK public finances to full 
health. Therefore ‘flat’ real terms funding for councils may be the best-case scenario from 
2025/26. The Government will need to address the impact of the public finances from the 

Covid situation. Although, the Government did give positive recognition of the need for funding 
for local government, as part of the 2023/24 Provisional Local Government Finance 

Settlement, funding may remain ‘unprotected’ and the impact of additional funding for NHS 
and other ‘protected’ services results could lead to future real term funding reductions 
remaining for local government. Even if funding levels are maintained the ongoing 

demographic and other costs pressures are unlikely to be matched by corresponding 
increases in government funding. 

Page 33



  

4 

3.1.5. The Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2023/24 mainly provides funding 
proposals for one year only and the financial forecast assumes that various elements of the 

additional funding will continue in future years. 

3.1.6. The Budget Strategy has to be set within the context of ongoing cost and demographic 
pressures not being matched by Government or other external funding with potential 

Government funding reductions in the medium and longer term. There is an on-going need to 
transform the size and shape of the organisation to secure priority outcomes within the 

resources available. There is also a need to build in flexibility in identifying options to bridge 
the medium-term budget gap as the gap could increase further. 

3.1.7. Bromley has the second lowest settlement funding per head of population in 2023/24 for the 

whole of London, giving us £118 per head of population compared with the average in London 
of £314 – the highest is £533. Despite this, Bromley has retained the third lowest council tax 

in outer London (other low grant funded authorities tend to have higher council tax levels). If 
the council tax was the average of the four other low grant funded boroughs, our income 
would increase by £30.2m. The lower council tax level has been achieved by having a below 

average cost per head of population in outer London. The Council continues to express 
concerns with the current and previous governments about the fairness of the funding system 

and to lobby for a fairer deal for our residents.  Despite being a low-cost authority, Bromley 
has achieved general savings of over £120m since 2011/12 but it becomes more challenging 
to achieve further savings with a low-cost base. 

3.2. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL FORECAST 

3.2.1. Details of the financial forecast are provided in the Draft 2023/24 Budget and Update on the 
Council’s Financial Strategy 2024/25 to 2026/27 report to the Executive on 18th January 2023.  

 
3.2.2. Even though the draft budget would be broadly balanced next year, the future year’s budget 

gap is projected to increase to £29.6m per annum by 2026/27. Without any action to address 
the budget gap in future years additional reserves will need to be used with the risk of the 
budget gap increasing in future years and becoming unsustainable. 

 
3.2.3. In the financial forecast, after allowing for inflation, council tax income and other changes 

there is an unfunded budget gap from 2026/27 partly due to net service growth/cost 
pressures. This highlights the importance of scrutinising growth and recognition that 
corresponding savings will need to be found to achieve a statutory balanced budget. It is 

timely as we all have to consider what level of growth the council can afford and the need for 
significant mitigation or alternative transformation options. 

3.3. CHANGES SINCE THE 2022/23 BUDGET THAT IMPACT ON THE DRAFT 2023/24 
BUDGET AND FINANCIAL FORECAST 

3.3.1. The 2022/23 Council Tax report reported to Executive in February 2022 identified a 

significant “budget gap” over the four-year financial planning period. Some key changes are 
summarised below. 

 
3.3.2. The Local Government Finance Settlement 2023/24, which covers 2023/24 continues to 

provide a significant improvement in funding for local government and combined with 2021/22 

and 2022/23 represented the most positive funding proposal for local government since 
austerity began 12 years ago. The latest 2023/24 settlement provides a continuation of real 

increases in funding although this is retaining reliance on the utilisation of the ASC precept (2% 
increase) to support cost pressures in social care. It has also provided retention of One-Off 
Services Grant (reduced from £2.652m in 2022/23 to £1.494m in 2023/24, repurposed Adult 

Social Care Reforms funding (£5.9m (net) in 2023/24 rising to £8.4m (net) per annum from 

Page 34



  

5 

2024/25), additional funding towards social care costs (£3.9m in 2023/24 rising to £6.6m in 
2024/25) and inflation cover for the Council’s business rate share (£4.1m).  

 
3.3.3. The additional funding is welcomed but this has to be considered against the highest inflation 

levels for 41 years and ongoing cost/service pressures. Uncertainty remains on the level of 
funding beyond 2024/25. The forecast assumes that the level of core grant funding will not 

reduce from 2025/26. 

3.3.4. Historically the main measure of inflation for annual price increases for the Council’s 
contracted out services was Retail Price Index (excluding mortgage interest rates) i.e., RPIX. 
However, more recent contracts use Consumer Price Index (CPI). The RPIX is normally at 

least 1% above the Consumer Price Index (CPI) level. The Draft 2023/24 Budget assumes 
contract price increases of 8.0%, in 2023/24 reducing to 4.0% in 2024/25 and 2% per annum from 

2025/26, which compares with the existing CPI of 10.7% (13.9% for RPIX) - inflation is at its 
highest level for 41 years. The Bank of England reported that CPI inflation remains elevated 
at over 10% in the near term’. They also state that ‘CPI inflation is expected to remain close 

to 11% through the remainder of Q4. It then eases towards 10% in 2023 Q1, before falling 
further in subsequent quarters’. However the Monitory Policy Committee (MPC) views ‘that 

the risks to the inflation projection are skewed to the upside’ . 

3.3.5. The Draft 2023/24 Budget and financial forecast includes significant growth/cost pressures, 
with the net impact reduced to reflect mitigation assumed of £14.1m in 2023/24 rising to 

£26.8m per annum from 2026/27. Any reduction in the delivery of the mitigation savings could 
have a significant detrimental impact on the Council’s budget gap and the contingency sum 
provides some funding support towards delivering a balanced budget in the medium term. 

Given the scale of savings identified and any inherent risks, the need for longer term financial 
planning, the uncertainty on future year cost pressures, significant changes that may follow 

relating to future new burdens, effect of ongoing population changes and the potential impact of 
other public agencies identifying savings or new cost burdens which impact on the Council’s 
costs it is essential to retain an adequate sum to partly mitigate such cost risks. The 

uncertainty of future arrangements for Adult Social Care reforms adds to that risk. If the 
monies remaining are not required during the year the policy of using these resources, in 

general, for investment, generate income/savings and provide a more sustainable financial 
position should continue. 

3.3.6. With a remaining uncertainty on Government funding available in the future and the ongoing 

requirement for local authorities to be more self-sufficient, there is a need to consider what 
significant changes are required to manage within this new environment. The required 

changes relate to opportunities for partnership working, collaboration, reviewing the approach 
to managing risks, using technology to enable transformation of our services, helping people 
help themselves (friends’ groups) and exploring opportunities around community-based place 

shaping led by the Council as a community leader. Even with the additional income identified 
in this report the Council will need to plan for significant changes including the impact of a 

recession and the ‘new normal’. As pressures in statutory services such as adult social care, 
children’s social care and high needs as well as homelessness are growing, the scope to 
invest in local priorities and services that benefit the widest range of people is reducing. The 

Council has delivered savings of over £120m per annum since 2009/10 and the ability to 
make savings in lower priority areas becomes more problematic. The need for savings in 

areas that support the Council’s key priorities becomes more critical to meet the legal 
requirements for a balanced budget. The Council will continue to look for ways to operate 
more efficiently and generate more income, but this alone will not be enough to meet the 

future years’ budget gap. The key consideration is how the Council can balance the budget 
over the next four years. Considering the core statutory minimum service requirements, Chief 

Officers continue to undertake the transformational review across all services, focusing on 
higher spend services first with options being presented to future meetings. The ongoing 

Page 35



  

6 

transformation review will be a key consideration in addressing the budget gap over the next 
four years. 

3.3.7. The current Adult Care and Health Portfolio budget includes new Transformation Savings 
totalling £1,832k per annum. 
 

3.3.8. This key work continues, and further proposals will be reported to Members in the future as 
part of addressing the four-year financial forecast and meeting the ‘budget gap’ whilst  

ensuring key priorities are met.     

3.3.9. There remain significant cost/growth pressures impacting on Adult Care and Health budgets 
as well as opportunities for the mitigation of costs which have been reflected in the Draft 

2023/24 Budget and financial forecast which are summarised below with more details in 
Appendix 1: 

 2023/24 

£’000 

2024/25 

£’000 

2025/26 

£’000 

2026/27 

£’000 

Growth/cost pressures   6,164 9,298 19,225 24,952 

Mitigation  Cr     2,468 Cr   2,754 Cr   10,659 Cr   10,659 

Net additional costs 3,696         6,544 8,566 14,293 
 

3.3.10. It remains essential that there is the ongoing scrutiny and review of growth/cost pressures, 

which are mainly unfunded beyond 2024/25 with options to help achieve a balanced budget, 
including any mitigation over the financial forecast period. 

3.3.11. DETAILED DRAFT 2023/24 BUDGET 

3.3.12. Detailed Draft 2023/24 Budgets are attached in Appendix 1 and will form the basis for the 
overall final Portfolio/Departmental budget after any further adjustments to deal with service 

pressures and any other additional spending. Under the budget process previously agreed, 
these initial detailed budgets are forwarded to PDS committees for scrutiny and comment 
prior to the next Executive meeting in February. 

3.3.13. Appendix 1 sets out: 

 A summary of the Draft 2023/24 Revenue Budget for the Portfolio showing actual 2021/22 

expenditure, 2022/23 budget, 2023/24 budget and overall variations in planned spending 
between 2022/23 and 2023/24; 

 A summary of the main reasons for variations for the Portfolio in planned spending 

between 2022/23 and 2023/24 together with supporting notes;  

 A high-level subjective summary for the Portfolio showing expenditure on employees, 

premises etc. 

3.3.14. Appendix 2 sets out details of the Growth and Mitigation/Transformation savings over the 

previous three financial years.  
 

3.4. ADULT SOCIAL CARE REFORM 

3.4.1. In September 2021, the Government provided plans to reform adult social care in England 
and £5.4bn (cumulative) was allocated for the period 2022/23 to 2024/25 to fund the reforms. 

This consisted of:   

 £2.2bn would be used to reform how people pay for social care (charging reforms) and 

£1.4 bn to help local authorities move towards paying a “fair cost of care” to providers 
(total £3.6bn); 

Page 36



  

7 

 £1.8bn would be used to support wider system reform. 

3.4.2. The funding was initially planned to come from the new Health and Social Care Levy, but in 

September 2022 the Government announced the levy would be cancelled. The then Health 
Secretary, Thérèse Coffey, however, said that funding for social care would remain 
unchanged. 

3.4.3. The Government originally proposed that the adult social care charging reforms would be 
implemented from October 2023. However, at the Autumn Statement 2022, the Chancellor 

announced that the reforms would be delayed for two years (until October 2025), with the 
funding allocated “to allow local authorities to provide more care packages.” 

3.4.4.  Under the now-delayed reforms, the Government planned to introduce a new £86,000 cap 

on the amount anyone in England will have to spend on their personal care over their lifetime. 
The cap will apply irrespective of a person’s age or income. The legislative framework for a 

cap is already provided by the Care Act 2014, but the relevant provisions are not currently in 
force. Only money spent on meeting a person’s personal care needs will count towards the 
cap. Spending on daily living costs (commonly referred to as “hotel costs” in a care home) is 

not included. Prior to its announcement delaying the reforms, the Government had said daily 
living costs would be set at a notional level of £200 per week at 2021/22 prices. 

3.4.5. The cap would not apply retrospectively (i.e., costs accrued before implementation will not 
count towards the cap). The Government also proposed to make the means test for accessing 
local authority funding support more generous. The upper capital limit (the threshold above 

which somebody is not eligible for local authority support) will increase from £23,250 to 
£100,000. The lower capital limit (the threshold below which somebody does not have to 

contribute towards their care costs from their capital) will increase from £14,250 to £20,000. 

3.4.6. Known as ‘Fair Cost of Care’,  local authorities can use their position as a large purchaser of 
social care to obtain lower fee rates from care providers, which can be less than the cost of 

providing the care. To compensate, providers often attempt to cross-subsidise by charging 
more to people who fund their own care. The Government said this leads to market failure 

and announced two measures to address the issue: 

 Provisions in the Care Act 2014 (section 18(3)) will be brought fully into force enabling 
self-funders to ask their local authority to arrange their care in a care home for them so 

that they can benefit from lower rates. 

 £1.4 billion was to be provided to local authorities to support them to increase the rates 

they pay to providers where necessary (move towards paying a “fair cost of care”) 

3.4.7. Prior to the Autumn Statement announcement delaying the charging reforms, the 

Government had announced the Fair Cost of Care reforms would be implemented in stages 
from October 2023 to April 2025. The Council has previously raised concerns that the funding 
for the reforms was insufficient, particularly for the Fair Cost of Care, with Bromley facing a 

higher funding shortfall compared with many other local authorities.  

3.4.8. As part of the Draft 2023/24 Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement, the funding 

for Fair Cost of Care and Charging Reforms has been ‘repurposed’ and therefore can be used 
to support additional cost pressures on adults and children social care which is welcomed. 
There remains uncertainty about the future funding for the reforms when implemented in 

October 2025 and whether the existing ‘repurposed’ funding would need to be diverted to 
support the delayed reforms. The financial forecast assumes that the ’repurposed’ funding 
can be used to support the Council’s revenue budget and will not be required to fund the 

Page 37



  

8 

delayed reforms. This remains a potential financial risk for the Council and creates uncertainty 
for the future funding of key services.    

3.4.9. The Draft 2023/24 Budget includes the ‘repurposed’ Adult Social Care Reform funding (£5.9m 
in 2023/24) as well as a new Adult Social Care Market Sustainability and Improvement Fund 
grant (£2.8m in 2023/24 and grant conditions are awaited).  

3.4.10. A White Paper on social care reform was published on 1st December 2021 which included, 
for example, offering more choice, control and independence for care users, information on 

workforce reform, inspection and quality assurance, integrated housing support and 
integration with health services. As part of support for wider system reform the £1.8bn over 
the period 2022/23 to 2024/25 was originally planned to be allocated as follows:  

 At least £300m to provide integrated housing 

 At least £150m for technology and digitalisation 

 At least £500m for workforce training and qualifications 

 Up to £25m to support unpaid cares 

 £30m for innovation of support and care 

 At least £5m to help people understand care and support available 

 More than £70m to improve the delivery of care and support services 

 Use of the balance (around £720m) yet be determined 

 
3.4.11. Further details are still awaited on the allocation of grant conditions of some of the above 

proposals.  

3.5. INTEGRATION WITH HEALTH 

3.5.1. The Council is working with the Bromley Integrated Care Board (previously South East 

London CCG) to explore opportunities for any further delivery of local integration of health 
and social care. Integration will help protect social care and provide more effective services 
to people in the community. There are close interdependencies between health and social 

care which was recognised by the Government in the creation of the Better Care Fund. 
Opportunities will be explored including the pooling of resources across the locality if it 

enables better opportunities for value for money, economies of scale, reduce duplication and 
streamline processes. The state of finances within the NHS, particularly amongst health 
providers, does create an inherent risk and therefore any integration arrangement must fully 

consider the implications, including the level of financial risk. 

3.5.2. Advice from Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) states that 

Councils have a duty to their own council taxpayers as well as their clients and need to ensure 
that their council taxpayers are not, in effect, being asked to underwrite a portion of NHS 
costs. 

3.5.3. The new Integrated Care System (ICS) created from June 2022 provides a new combined 
South East London ICS. The changes will be monitored closely to identify the 
risks/opportunities that may arise to meet the ‘Making Bromley Even Better Priorities’.  

3.6. REVIEW OF FEES AND CHARGES 

3.6.1. There will need to be an ongoing review identifying opportunities as the medium term ‘budget 

gap’ remains significant. The 2023/24 Budget includes significant additional income from the 
review of fees and charges and Chief Officers will continue to review fees and charges for 
2024/25 and beyond to identify opportunities to reduce the future years ‘budget gap’. 

3.7. IDENTIFYING FURTHER SAVINGS/MITIGATION 

Page 38



  

9 

3.7.1. The scale of savings required in future years cannot be met by efficiency alone – there may 
need to be a reduction in the scope and level of services. The council will need to continue 

to review its core priorities and how it works with partners and key stakeholders and the 
overall provision of services. A significant challenge is to consider discretionary services 
which, if reduced, could result in higher cost statutory obligations. Therefore, it is important 

to consider the risk of ‘unintended consequence’ of reducing discretionary services 
adversely impacting on the cost of statutory services. The Draft 2023/24 Budget represents 

the fourth year of savings from the Transformation Programme. This key work continues, 
and further proposals will be reported to Members as part of addressing the four- year 
financial forecast and meeting the ‘budget gap’ whilst ensuring key priorities are met. 

3.8. POSITION BY DEPARTMENT – OTHER KEY ISSUES/RISKS 

Adult Social Care 

3.8.1. The budget proposals represent a realistic position for Adult Social Care which build on the 
success of the previous transformation programme. The new proposals seek to address 
further areas of potential efficiencies and to address some inequalities in current service 

delivery. Work on developing these has been carried out with providers of services, both 
statutory and voluntary and those represented by them. 

3.8.2. The impact of covid on the Adult Social Care system remains a pressure, with a continuation 
of people being discharged from hospital with higher levels of acuity, requiring more care at 
higher cost. The impact of health paying for discharges to clear hospital beds, at higher cost, 

has remained a pressure and will become a risk if this funding ceases. Another remaining 
pressure is with those young people moving through transition into adulthood as the new 
Moving into Adulthood service is yet to start delivering efficiencies. 

3.8.3. A further risk lies with the governments delay of some of the Adult Social Care reforms. Work 
with the provider sector has raised genuine expectations of the Council moving towards the 

Fair Cost of Care, but it remains unclear if the government will now make any allocation 
towards this. The pressure created by the Care Cap, the ability of private funders to access 
care at the Councils agreed rate, and the changes to financial assessment, have been 

delayed for two years, at the moment, which does remove a significant pressure, but by no 
means all. 

3.8.4. Adult Social Care is committed to moving forward with the increased use of digital technology 
to make best use of available staff capacity, whilst enabling service users to remain 
independent. 

3.8.5. The Directorate continue to prepare for the new Assurance Process with the Care Quali ty 
Commission, who will consider as part of the assurance process if appropriate resource is 

available to meet statutory requirements. As the Director of Adult Social Care, I am content 
that the available budget for the next financial year is appropriate to do this, within the current 
governmental requirements, but any additional burdens introduced within the year will require 

additional funding. 

 

 

Public Health 

3.8.6. The Covid-19 pandemic has brought increased health protection responsibilities for Public 

Health teams at local level. The main areas of growth are outbreak management, clinical 
response service and support.  

Page 39



  

10 

3.8.7. In relation to other Public Health services, throughout the pandemic there has been a 
significant growth not only in demand (as seen in the local drug and alcohol service) but also 

a rise in complex cases with significant safeguarding issues. The recent experience is not 
new, but the pandemic has heightened the pressure and brought forth the challenge on 
service delivery during the pandemic.  

3.8.8. The recurring cost pressure of annual NHS pay award uplift, which now include not only 
Agenda for Change but also pay awards for medical staff, remains for both the 0-19 

Programme and Sexual Health Service.  

3.8.9. For Sexual Health Service, other cost pressures arisen from more expensive cost of 
provisions and new clinical pathways, are now incorporated into the new London Integrated 

Sexual Health Tariffs and their impact will be felt in 2023/24. Potentially, this will also affect 
the block contract set for the new integrated sexual health service which will go live on 1 April 

2023. Work is underway to consider if the provider, King’s College Hospital, would be able to 
absorb these additional pressures with perhaps an adjustment to the activity baseline. 
However, due to the nature of open access, if patients do not get their service locally, they 

can still access services out of borough and their costs will have to be met by the Council.  

3.8.10. Additionally, the online testing service continues to grow, partly due to online testing are now 

open to users who are low risk but symptomatic during the pandemic as well as the inclusion 
of online testing as part of the PrEP treatment pathway in London. This position has been 
further exacerbated by the recent outbreak of monkey pox infection, leading to an increase of 

16% in online testing service in the last two quarters of 2022/23. 

3.8.11. The cost of the online service while compensated by the less costly clinic attendances, has 
well exceeded the original budget. This is an area of significant growth which will require close 

monitoring. 

3.8.12. The previous concerns over the contraception waiting list is now under control and as the 

clinics are gradually returning to normal operation, it is expected the wait will be back to the 
agreed level of two weeks for an appointment in the new year. 

4. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN  

4.1 The Draft 2023/24 Budget reflects the Council’s key priorities which includes, for example, 
supporting vulnerable adults with children and being ambitious for all our children and young 

people. 
 
5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Draft 2023/24 Budget enables the Council to continue to deliver on its ‘Making Bromley 
Even Better’ key priorities and the financial forecast enables medium term financial planning 

allowing for early decisions to be made which impact on the medium-term financial plan. The 
Council continues to deliver key services and lives within its means. 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 Financial implications are contained within the overall body of the report. 

7. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Staff, departmental and trade union representatives will be consulted individually and 
collectively on any adverse staffing implications arising from the Draft 2023/24 Budget. 
Managers have also been asked to encourage and facilitate staff involvement in budget and 

service planning. 

Page 40



  

11 

 
8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 The adoption of the budget and the setting of the council tax are matters reserved for the 
Council upon recommendation from the Executive. In coming to decisions in relation to the 
revenue budget (and the Council Tax), the Council and its officers have various statutory 

duties. In general terms, the Council is required by the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
to make estimates of gross Revenue expenditure and anticipated income, leading to a 

calculation of a budget requirement and the setting of an overall budget (and Council Tax). 
The amount of the budget requirement must be sufficient to meet the Council’s legal and 
financial obligations, ensure the proper discharge of its statutory duties, and lead to a 

balanced budget. 
 

8.2  Schedule 72 to the Localism Act 2011 inserted a new section IVZA in the Local Government 
Finance 1992 Act which sets out the duty on billing authorities, and precepting authorities to 
each determine whether their relevant basic amount of council tax for a financial year is 

excessive. If an authority’s relevant basic amount of council tax is excessive, the provisions 
in relation to the duty to hold a referendum will apply 

 
8.3  The making of these budget decisions at full Council is a statutory responsibility for all 

Members. The Council should be satisfied that the proposals put forward are a reasonably 

prudent use of resources in both the short and long term, and that the interests of both Council 
Taxpayers and ratepayers on the one hand and the users of Council services on the other 
are both taken into account. The Council has a number of statutory duties which it must fulfi ll 

by law. Although there can be an element of discretion on level of service provision. The 
Council also discharges a range of discretionary services. The Council is not bound to carry 

out such activities in the same way as it is for statutory duties, however, it may be bound 
contractually to do so. A decision to cease or reduce provision of a discretionary service must 
be taken in accordance with sound public /administrative law decision making principles. The 

Council must also comply with the Public Sector Equality Duties in section 149 of the Equality 
Act 2010. In doing so, the Council must have due regard to elimination of discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations with 
persons who share a protected characteristic. 

 

8.4 This report sets the budget for the forthcoming financial year and, in some cases where 
budgets are recommended to be reduced, further decisions may be required (or have already 

been taken) to implement the initiative achieving the budget reduction. These decisions will 
be subject to any applicable consultation requirements and analysis of equalities impacts 
together with consideration of other specific legal requirements. This will be undertaken as 

part the decision-making process as required to implement the proposed budget. 
 

8.5 Further a significant number of these decisions are by law for the Executive or delegated 
officers. Such considerations, which will be fully assessed by the decision makers in due 
course, are therefore not set out in this report. It therefore follows that the outcome of these 

decisions may lead to further amendments and/or changes to the proposed savings. 
Members will be aware that decisions on the budget do not amount to detailed decisions on 

the precise delivery of services, those decisions, in any event, for most services, being by law 
a matter for the Executive. Decision makers (usually Executive, Portfolio Holders or Chief 
Officers) are aware and will be reminded of their flexibility for example, around possible 

budget virements and adjustments and the use of reserves when they consider it appropriate 
to make alternative decisions, which may not accord with a particular budget line. The overall 

requirement to balance the budget remains, however. 
 

8.6 The Local Government Act 2003 included new requirements to be followed by local 

authorities, which includes the CIPFA Prudential Code. This includes obligations, which 

Page 41



  

12 

includes ensuring adequacy of future years reserves in making budget decisions and section 
25 of that Act requires the Director of Finance to report on the robustness of the estimates 

made for the purposes of calculating the Council Tax and the adequacy of the reserves. 
Further details to support these obligations will be reflected in the 2023/24 Council Tax report 
to be reported to the February meeting of the Executive 

  

 
Non-Applicable 

Sections: 
Procurement Implications 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 

Officer) 

Draft 2023/24 Budget and Update on the Council’s Financial 
Strategy 2024/25 to 2026/27, Executive 18th January 2023. 

 

 

Page 42



APPENDIX 1

ADULT CARE & HEALTH PORTFOLIO

DRAFT REVENUE BUDGET 2023/24 - SUMMARY

2021/22 
Actual Service Area 2022/23 

Budget
Increased 

costs
Other 

Changes
2023/24 Draft 

Budget
£ £ £ £ £

Adult Social Care
22,492,722  Assessment and Care Management 24,473,360  2,787,640   3,757,030Cr  23,503,970  

0                 Carers 0                  5,630          0                  5,630           
117,472      Direct Services 86,120         63,530        12,330Cr       137,320       

39,169,154  Learning Disabilities Services 43,583,360  2,903,240   1,567,240     48,053,840  
8,380,196   Mental Health Services 8,197,430    508,500      291,490Cr     8,414,440    
1,779,101   Quality Assurance & Safeguarding 1,929,970    119,320      22,290Cr       2,027,000    

71,938,645  78,270,240  6,387,860   2,515,900Cr  82,142,200  

Integrated Commissioning Service
25,440Cr      Better Care Fund 20,320Cr      1,029,170Cr 0                  1,049,490Cr 

0                 Improved Better Care Fund 0                  0                 0                  0                  
0                 Information & Early Intervention 0                  200,500      36,000Cr       164,500       

2,105,753   Integrated Commissioning Service 2,250,030    149,740      49,260Cr       2,350,510    
2,080,313   2,229,710    678,930Cr    85,260Cr       1,465,520    

Public Health
128,430Cr    Public Health 290,070       99,460        102,650Cr     286,880       
128,430Cr    290,070       99,460        102,650Cr     286,880       

73,890,528  TOTAL CONTROLLABLE 80,790,020  5,808,390   2,703,810Cr  83,894,600  

2,601,762   TOTAL NON CONTROLLABLE 434,250       13,960        110,650       558,860       

5,249,396   TOTAL EXCLUDED RECHARGES 3,488,780    0                 0                  3,488,780    

81,741,686  PORTFOLIO TOTAL 84,713,050  5,822,350   2,593,160Cr  87,942,240  

Page 43



Ref VARIATION IN 2023/24

 ORIGINAL 
BUDGET 
2022/23 

£'000 £'000 £'000

1    2022/23 BUDGET 84,713      

2    Increased Costs 5,822        
 

Full Year Effect of Allocation of Central Contingency
3    Agency workers contract savings 72Cr          
4    Adj to NI budget following reversal of 2022-23 increase 145Cr        217Cr         

Real Changes

Other Real Changes
5    ASC Reform Monies 880Cr      0                   

6    
 Release of IBCF previously used as an earmaked reserve for hospital discharge to 
support revenue budget 1,677Cr   1,677Cr         

7    Adult Social Care Market Sustainability and Improvement Fund 2,800Cr   4,849Cr         
8    Fall out of Covid reserves monies 1,000     4,357Cr     1,000           

Growth
9    Assessment & Care Management - Full Year Effect of 2022/23 1,071        28,979       

10  Learning Disabilities - Full Year Effect of 2022/23 551           44,469       
11  Mental Health - Full Year Effect of 2022/23 80Cr          6,711         
12  National Living Wage 800           1,378         
13  ASC Reforms Costs 1,000        0                
14  Fall out of one-off IBCF funding 1,000        1,000         
15  Learning Disabilities Growth 1,822        6,164        44,469       

Mitigation
16  Preparing for adulthood support - Learning Disabilities 439Cr        44,469       
17  BCF allocation for Discharge to Assess (D2A) 458Cr        0                   
18  Improved hospital discharge arrangements 1,005Cr     0                   
19  IBCF inflation 227Cr        0                   
20  Savings from Domiciliary Care contracts 180Cr        14,926         
21  Changes to Fees & Charges 159Cr        2,468Cr     17,350Cr       

Transformation Programme Savings
22  Renegotiation of the lease agreement for Day Centre 6Cr            6Cr                
23  Charging for Dementia Respite Service 103Cr        0                   
24  Trusted Assessor for Domicilary Care 700Cr        14,926         
25  Reintroduce Joint Panel for Mental Health packages of care with NHS 100Cr        128Cr            
26  High cost Placements and  Package of Care and Review  200Cr        6,711           
27  Reducing void levels in Learning Disability Supported Living schemes 100Cr        18,332         
28  Review of Learning Disabilities Day Care 20Cr          2,301           
29  Review of Learning Disabilities Day Care 1:1's 100Cr        2,301           
30  Reduction of Extra Care Housing Void levels 100Cr        4,256           
31  Charge Providers for PVI Training 20Cr          0                   
32  Shared lives - move to in Borough placements 32Cr          627              
33  Change of management arrangements for the Independent Living Centre 36Cr          36Cr              
34  Management of Community Equipment and Integrated Therapies demand and catalogue 175Cr        2,240           
35  Review of moving and handling needs of individuals with high-cost care packages 50Cr          11,985         
36  Sexual Health 50Cr          
37  NHS Health Check 40Cr          1,832Cr     

38  Variations in Capital Charges 0               

39  Variations in Insurances 117           

40  2023/24 DRAFT BUDGET 87,942      

SUMMARY OF BUDGET VARIATIONS 2023/24

ADULT CARE & HEALTH PORTFOLIO

Page 44



Ref Comments

Full Year Effect of Allocation of Central Contingency

3 Agency workers contract savings (Cr £72k)
The full year effect of agency worker savings expected as a result of the most recent 
contract award.

4 Adj to NI budget following reversal of 2022-23 increase (Cr £145k)
The adjustment for the 1.25% National Insurance contributions increase included in the 
2022/23 budget has been reversed, following the Government's announcement in 
September 2022.

Real Changes

Other Real Changes

5 ASC Reform Monies (Cr £880k)
The government had previously announced funding for the Adult Social Care Reforms 
which were due to take effect from October 2023. The reforms have subsequently been 
delayed for two years, however the funding has been repurposed and will be distributed 
through the Social Care Grant for adult and children’s social care. This helps offset growth 
pressures detailed below.

6
Release of IBCF previously used as an earmaked reserve for hospital discharge to support 
revenue budget (Cr £1,677k)
In previous years the non-recurrent Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) funding of £1,677k 
had been set aside as a contribution to a 'whole system' reserve that can be called upon in 
relation to any crisis in the joint health and social care systems. This contribution is now 
being released to support growth pressures in the ASC revenue budget. 

7 Adult Social Care Market Sustainability and Improvement Fund (Cr £2,800k)
The Adult Social Care Market Sustainability and Improvement Funding Grant is provided to 
upper tier authorities to enable tangible improvements to be made to adult social care in 
particular to address discharge delays, social care waiting times, low fee rates and 
workforce pressures in the adult social care sector.

8 Fall out of Covid reserves monies (£1,000k)
The 2022/23 budget included £1m from unringfenced Covid funding carried forward 
through reserves for the additional costs relating to the impact of Covid-19 on Adult Social 
Care. This was non-recurrent and falls out in 2023/24.

Growth

9 Assessment & Care Management - Full Year Effect of 2022/23  (Dr £1,071k)
The full year effect of the 2022/23 overspend on Assessment & Care Management is 
£1,071k and this has been funded in the 2023/24 budget.

10 Learning Disabilities - Full Year Effect of 2022/23 (Dr £551k)
The full year effect of the 2022/23 overspend on Learning Disabilities services is £551k and 
this has been funded in the 2023/24 budget.

ADULT CARE & HEALTH PORTFOLIO

Notes on Budget Variations in 2023/24

Page 45



11 Mental Health - Full Year Effect of 2022/23 (Cr £80k)
The full year effect of the 2022/23 underspend on Mental Health services is £80k and this 
has been funded in the 2023/24 budget.

12 National Living Wage (Dr £800k)
Provision of £800k has been included in the 2023/24 budget to fund the impact of the 
increase to the National Living Wage (from £9.50/hour to £10.42/hour).

13 ASC Reforms Costs (Dr £1,000k)
Growth of £1m has been included for preparatory work associated with the Adult Social 
Care reforms for 2023/24 and 2024/25. This is funded through the ASC Reform Grant 
detailed in note 5.

14 Fall out of one-off IBCF funding (Dr £1,000k)
£1.4m of one-off underspends on the Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) was allocated in 
2022/23 to part fund growth pressures. The remaining £400k is being used in 2023/24 so 
there is a fall out of £1m.

15 Learning Disabilities Growth (Dr £1,822k)
There are demand-related pressures on the Learning Disabilities budget in 2022/23 arising 
mainly from transition clients and increased client needs and complexity.  This is offset by 
both mitigation and transformation savings as detailed below.

Mitigation

16 Preparing for adulthood support - Learning Disabilities (Cr £439k)
Investment in support planning for young people who will require support as adults will 
create sustainable services and partly mitigate the demand-related growth pressures for 
adult social care services in conjunction with Children’s services.

17 BCF allocation for Discharge to Assess (D2A) (Cr £458k)
Included in the Assessment & Care Management FYE growth item above is an amount for 
the Discharge to Assess pathway. An allocation has been made from the additional 
increase in the Better Care Fund (BCF) allocation for 2022/23 above inflation.

18 Improved hospital discharge arrangements (Cr £1,005k)
As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, the hospital discharge pathway had to be revised, 
resulting in additional costs borne by the Council. As the pressure has now subsided to 
some extent, and with new pathways being implemented in association with health 
partners, reductions in these costs are now anticipated, partly offsetting the Full Year Effect 
of 2022/23 expenditure shown in note 9.

19 IBCF inflation (Cr £227k)
Inflation on the Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) in 2022/23 has been allocated towards 
funding growth pressures in ASC.

20 Savings from Domiciliary Care contracts (Cr £180k)
In 2021/22 the domiciliary care contracts with providers were recommissioned, with 
expected savings to be made across all service user groups as reported to the Executive in 
June 2021. This is in addition to the £240k included in the 2022/23 budget.

21 Changes to Fees & Charges (Cr £159k)
Savings from an increase to fees and charges across the Council of 3% above budgeted 
inflation for 2023/24.

Page 46



Transformation Programme Savings

22 Renegotiation of the lease agreement for Day Centre (Cr £6k)
Changes to the lease arrangements for the day centre at St Marks Church will result in a 
saving of £6k.

23 Charging for Dementia Respite Service (Cr £103k)
Currently the Council has not implemented the charging policy for the dementia respite 
service. The implementation of the charging policy will bring in additional income of £103k.

24 Trusted Assessor for Domiciliary Care (Cr £700k)
The Trusted Assessor scheme involves the safe and timely review of provider support 
plans and to adjust them within agreed parameters. This approach allows domiciliary care 
providers to make changes to their support plans with the aim of helping people who use 
their services to reach their goals. It is expected that reduction in package costs can be 
achieved by adopting this approach.

25 Reintroduce Joint Panel for Mental Health packages of care with NHS (Cr £100k)
The reintroduction of a joint panel to agree packages of care with the NHS should result in 
additional funding of packages by the NHS.

26 High cost Placements and Package of Care and Review (Cr £200k)
Reviewing high cost packages of care in older people, physical disabilities and mental 
health areas is expected to realise savings of £200k.

27 Reducing void levels in Learning Disability Supported Living schemes (Cr £100k)
Ensuring that the supported living schemes are used effectively, with reduced numbers of 
voids is expected to save £100k from the budget.

28 Review of Learning Disabilities Day Care (Cr £20k)
This saving relates to the reduction in the use of spot placements in favour of making 
placements at the block contracted Astley Day Centre.

29 Review of Learning Disabilities Day Care 1:1's (Cr £100k)
A review will be undertaken of 1:1 packages for service users with complex needs who are 
attending a day care setting.

30 Reduction of Extra Care Housing Void levels (Cr £100k)
Reducing the level of voids in Extra Care Housing (ECH) schemes will result in better 
utilisation of the block funded ECH beds, avoidance of paying void rent and reducing 
placements (at additional cost) in domiciliary care or spot residential provision. 

31 Charge Providers for PVI Training (Cr £20k)
Recharging some of the costs of training provided to care providers would result in an 
estimated £20k in additional income. 

32 Shared lives - move to in Borough placements (Cr £32k)
Estimated savings of £32k are envisaged by bringing out of borough Shared Lives 
placements back in borough.

33 Change of management arrangements for the Independent Living Centre (Cr £36k)
Changes to the management arrangements for the Independent Living Centre at Lewis 
House in Beckenham are expected to save £36k.

34
Management of Community Equipment and Integrated Therapies demand and catalogue 
(Cr £175k)
To ensure that equipment provided offers the best value for money by continuously 
reviewing the catalogue and commencing trials of new equipment when possible. To 
provide training to staff across the Integrated Care System to support appropriate 
prescription. To scrutinise clinical reasoning for special orders and high-cost items.

Page 47



35
Review of moving and handling needs of individuals with high-cost care packages (Cr 
£50k)
Ongoing reviews of care packages that require more than one member of staff are 
expected to save £50k.

36 Sexual Health (Cr £50k)
Savings of £50k are expected from further developing on-line provision and therefore 
reduce clinic attendance.

37 NHS Health Checks (Cr £40k)
Efficiency savings of £40k from using different near-patient testing and potential use of 
digital offer.

38 Variations in Capital Charges (Cr £6,682k/Dr £6,682k)
The variation in capital charges is due to a combination of the following:

(i) Revenue Expenditure Funded by Capital Under Statute (REFCUS) – these are schemes 
in the capital programme that do not add value to the Council’s fixed asset base. It is the 
nature of the capital programme that the projects covered will change from year to year. 
The amounts shown are for our current best understanding of the relevant schemes for 
2023/24.
(ii) Government grants – mainly due to variations in credits for capital grants receivable in 
respect of 2023/24 capital programme schemes.

39 Variations in Insurance (Dr £117k)
Insurance recharges to individual portfolios also have changed between years, in some 
cases significantly, partly due to the changing profile of actual claims in the recent past. 
Inflation has also had an impact, both on the projected policy costs, and the costs of 
delivering the service. 

Page 48



Service area Employees Premises Transport
 Supplies and 

Services 
 Third Party 
Payments 

 Transfer 
Payments 

 Government 
Grants 

 Other Grants 
Reimbursements 
and Contributions 

 Customer and 
Client Receipts 

 Controllable 
Recharges 

 Capital 
Charges/   
Financing 

 Movement 
between 
Reserves 

 Total
Controllable 

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Adult Social Care
Assessment and Care Management 8,871,360        203,700           371,650           5,002,430        45,767,660      4,818,250        8,708,550Cr      661,440Cr                14,539,380Cr    17,621,710Cr    0                      0                      23,503,970      
Carers 0                      0                      0                      0                      0                      99,520             0                      0                              93,890Cr           0                      0                      5,630               
Direct Services 1,443,730        0                      79,380             99,990             46,320             0                      0                      0                              552,160Cr         979,940Cr         0                      0                      137,320           
Learning Disabilities Services 1,365,270        24,740             879,460           45,640             49,411,670      5,920,120        425,190Cr         1,099,110Cr             3,791,870Cr      4,276,890Cr      0                      0                      48,053,840      
Mental Health Services 124,400           0                      15,430             324,360Cr         8,940,610        199,940           0                      235,740Cr                82,450Cr           223,390Cr         0                      0                      8,414,440        
Quality Assurance & Safeguarding 1,843,230        1,880               2,830               253,570           6,210               0                      0                      0                              0                      80,720Cr           0                      0                      2,027,000        

13,647,990      230,320           1,348,750        5,077,270        104,172,470    11,037,830      9,133,740Cr      1,996,290Cr             18,965,860Cr    23,276,540Cr    0                      0                      82,142,200      

Integrated Commissioning Service
Better Care Fund 0                      0                      0                      0                      9,206,060        0                      1,200,000Cr      26,645,710Cr           0                      17,990,160      0                      400,000Cr         1,049,490Cr      
Improved Better Care Fund 0                      0                      0                      0                      190,530           0                      7,730,240Cr      0                              0                      7,939,710        0                      400,000Cr         0                      
Information & Early Intervention 0                      0                      0                      0                      3,760,550        0                      170,590Cr         254,400Cr                0                      3,171,060Cr      0                      0                      164,500           
Integrated Commissioning Service 2,438,000        0                      11,560             36,560             273,230           0                      0                      113,870Cr                20,000Cr           274,970Cr         0                      0                      2,350,510        

2,438,000        0                      11,560             36,560             13,430,370      0                      9,100,830Cr      27,013,980Cr           20,000Cr           22,483,840      0                      800,000Cr         1,465,520        

Public Health
Public Health 1,757,270        0                      4,500               354,460           9,027,720        15,611,290Cr    7,560Cr                    0                      5,020,780        0                      259,000Cr         286,880           

1,757,270        0                      4,500               354,460           9,027,720        0                      15,611,290Cr    7,560Cr                    0                      5,020,780        0                      259,000Cr         286,880           

17,843,260      230,320           1,364,810        5,468,290        126,630,560    11,037,830      33,845,860Cr    29,017,830Cr           18,985,860Cr    4,228,080        0                      1,059,000Cr      83,894,600      

Service area

 Capital 
Charges/   
Financing 

 Repairs, 
Maintenance & 

Insurance 

 Rents and 
Other Property 
Based Charges 

 Not Directly 
Controllable  Net Recharges 

 Total Net 
Budget 

£ £ £

Adult Social Care
Assessment and Care Management 31,000             332,060           112,140Cr         250,920           4,360,450        28,115,340      
Carers 0                      0                      0                      0                      0                      5,630               
Direct Services 0                      750                  0                      750                  2,900Cr             135,170           
Learning Disabilities Services 125,000           140,560           0                      265,560           2,799,600Cr      45,519,800      
Mental Health Services 45,000             23,630             28,730Cr           39,900             1,535,970Cr      6,918,370        
Quality Assurance & Safeguarding 0                      640                  0                      640                  1,006,620Cr      1,021,020        

201,000           497,640           140,870Cr         557,770           984,640Cr         81,715,330      

Integrated Commissioning Service
Better Care Fund 0                      0                      0                      0                      20,320             1,029,170Cr      
Improved Better Care Fund 0                      0                      0                      0                      0                      0                      
Information & Early Intervention 0                      0                      0                      0                      0Cr                    164,500           
Integrated Commissioning Service 0                      790                  0                      790                  4,164,020        6,515,320        

0                      790                  0                      790                  4,184,340        5,650,650        

Public Health
Public Health 0                      300                  0                      300                  289,080           576,260           

0                      300                  0                      300                  289,080           576,260           

201,000           498,730           140,870Cr         558,860           3,488,780        87,942,240      

 ADULT CARE & HEALTH PORTFOLIO 
 DRAFT REVENUE BUDGET 2023/24 - SUBJECTIVE SUMMARY 

P
age 49



T
his page is left intentionally blank



APPENDIX 2

Adult Social Care

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Cumulative
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Growth
ACM - Placements overspend/FYE 1,069 1,339 2,445 4,853
Learning Disabilities overspend/FYE 520 2,191 1,991 4,702
Mental Health overspend/FYE 510 832 45 1,387
Learning Disabilities Growth 617 1,262 974 2,853
Fall out of one-off IBCF (incl. carry forward) 1,453 1,500 2,953
National Living Wage 1,000 100 300 1,400
Blue Badge Assessments 91 91
Ongoing Impact of COVID 1,400 1,400
Supported living contract increases following 
tender 164 164
Recruitment & retention of social workers 150 150

5,260 8,624 6,069 19,953
Savings/Mitigation

Increase Uptake In Shared Lives -360 -170 -310 -840 

Shared Lives is a cost effective service and the further expansion of the scheme boths help to 
mitigate cost pressures and care for service users in a supportive setting where a high level of 
independence is maintained. Due to staff illness savings from earlier years there was a delay in 
progressing this so efficiencies have been rolled and revised into later years. With a new manager 
and renewed energy to recruit new cares, this area of work is now beginning to deliver as planned

CCG funding for Joint Commissioning AD post -48 -48 

Integrated commissioning arrangements between the Council and Bromley Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) were formalised through this jointly funded post.  Since April 2020 
the post has led on commissioning and contract management for both the Council's Adult and 
Children's Services and NHS Community Services. 

LD - Review of high cost packages -447 -447 

The Learning Disability Team and Commisioning Service is working closely with service users, 
their families and care providers to ensure that each care package is tailored to meet the individual 
needs of each service user and that a strengths based approach to used to ensure that all people 
with learning disabilities can be supported to develop their good health, wellbeing and 
independence.

Vacancy factor -419 -419 
A budget reduction to LBB funded posts was applied for 2020/21 and delivered through reduced 
staff turnover. 

Reduction of double handed care packages -295 -295 

Reduction in emergency placements -74 -74 

Conversion of agency workers to permanent -167 -167 
This planned saving relates to increasing the proportion of staff that are employed on a permanent 
basis and reducing the reliance on high cost agency staff. 

Review of placements above maximum rate -132 -132 
Savings arising by ensuring we are supporting people to live as independently as possible and 
reducing costs in a timely way post discharge from hospital once people recover sufficiently.

Savings arose form ensuring appropriate assessments ands reviews are undertaken. There is an 
increase in double handed care being requested in 2022/23 to enable early hospital discharge so 
this will need to be reviewed again

P
age 51



APPENDIX 2

Review of live in care and additional/1:1 support 
in care homes -34 -34 -68 
Review of LD live in care -34 -34 -68 

Reduction in LD Transition costs -55 -55 

This project sought to ensure that the right care at the right cost was in palce for young adults 
transitioning from Children's Services to Adults Care Services. This work is now being led by the 0-
25 Service based in the Children, Education and Families Department.

Implementation of savings previously deferred -1,000 -150 -1,150 
Working with health to minimise people’s long term reliance on services and increasing 
contributions where health needs are identified

Better Care Fund grant -1,000 -1,000 
Use of unallocated Better Care Fund (BCF) grant to mitigate pressures in Adult Social Care from 
the ongoing increase in BCF allocations for 2020/21 and 2021/22 above inflation assumptions.

Strengths based provision from out of borough 
providers for adults with LD -434 -434 

Priority targeted work will be undertaken with some out of borough residential service providers to 
develop strengths based practice in providers with support from care managers. This will impact on 
independence levels and associated costs of residential care.

VCS support to promote independence of 
people with LD -348 -348 

The maximisation of VCS support for adults with a learning disability, along with work on strengths 
based practice, will support and promote increased independence and a reduction in support 
required.

Support for young people with disabilities in 
transition to adulthood -150 -150 

Investment in support planning for young people who will require support as adults will create 
sustainable services and partly mitigate the demand-related growth pressures for adult social care 
services.

Training -2 -2 
A saving will be made across training budgets through central monitoring of collective spend and 
improvements in procurement efficiency.

Use of IBCF from previous years to mitigate 
growth -1,400 -1,400 

There was an anticipated underspend of £1,400k on IBCF in 2021/22 which was carried forward to 
2022/23 to part mitigate the growth pressures above. This is a non-recurrent funding source. 

Allocation of unringfenced Covid funding from 
Reserves -1,000 -1,000 

Funding of £1m from unringfenced Covid funding carried forward through reserves was been 
added to the 2022/23 budget for the additional costs relating to the impact of Covid-19 on Adult 
Social Care services.

Savings from domiciliary care contracts -240 -240 
This is the estimated savings that will be achieved in 22/23 from the new domiciliary care contracts 
as reported to Executive in June 2021.

-2,065 -3,104 -3,168 -8,337 

Total Net Growth 3,195 5,520 2,901 11,616

Savings arose from ensuring more cost effective services are being commissioned for service 
users to mitigate growth in demand.

P
age 52



 

  

1 

Report No. 
ACH23-008 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: ADULT CARE AND HEALTH POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Date:   Tuesday 24th January 2023 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: TACKLING LONELINESS STRATEGY ACTION PLAN 2022-2026 
 

Contact Officer: Naheed Chaudhry, Assistant Director Strategy, Performance and Corporate 
Transformation 
 
Helayna Jenkins Principal Loneliness Champion  

Tel:  020 8313 4113   E-mail:  Helayna.jenkins@bromley.gov.uk 
 
Denise Mantell, Strategy Officer  

Chief Officer: Kim Carey, Director, Adult Social Care 

Ward: N/A 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1 This report presents an update in delivering the Tackling Loneliness Strategy Action Plan.  

1.2 The Tackling Loneliness Strategy was approved by Adult Care and Health PDS (Pre-Decision 
Scrutiny) in November 2021 and launched at the end of 2021.  

1.3 Members were advised that an updated Action Plan would be brought to the Adult Care and 
Health PDS with evidence of progress throughout the lifetime of the Strategy. 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1 Members are asked to note the progress made in delivering the Tackling Loneliness Strategy 
Action Plan 2022–2026. 

2.2 Members are asked to comment on any additional actions they would seek to encourage. 

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Helayna.jenkins@bromley.gov.uk


 

  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: To provide the Scrutiny Committee with a regular update on Council and 

partnerships performance in mitigating Loneliness. 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Transformation Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy: Monitoring of the Loneliness Strategy and Action Plan is part of 
the performance management framework developed to ensure that there is strong leadership 
and management oversight of services in Bromley.   

 
2. Making Bromley Even Better Priority  

(1) For children and young people to grow up, thrive and have the best life chances in families 
who flourish and are happy to call Bromley home. 

(2) For adults and older people to enjoy fulfilled and successful lives in Bromley, ageing well, 
retaining independence and making choices. 

 (5) To manage our resources well, providing value for money, and efficient and effective 
services for Bromley’s residents. 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable  
2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):  Not Applicable  
2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:  Not Applicable   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Non-Statutory - Government Guidance  
2. Call-in: Not Applicable  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications:  Not Applicable      
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Property  
 

1. Summary of Property Implications:  Not Applicable      
________________________________________________________________________________ 
Carbon Reduction and Social Value  
 

1. Summary of Carbon Reduction/Sustainability Implications: Not Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users or customers (current and projected): Not Applicable      
________________________________________________________________________________ 
Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  

Page 54



 

  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

 Background 
3.1 As part of its commitment to mitigate loneliness, Bromley Council has acted as a systems 

leader to bring together the work that is being carried out by statutory, private, and voluntary 
partners throughout Bromley. 

 
3.2 Bromley Council led on the work to produce the Tackling Loneliness Strategy following 

engagement with stakeholders and which was approved by Adult Care and Health PDS in 
November 2021.  

 
3.3 An Action Plan was brought to the Adult Care and Health PDS based upon the three key 

priorities: 

• Priority One: Organisation and services 

• Priority Two: Community infrastructure that empowers social connections 

• Priority Three: Building a culture that encourages strong social relationships 
 
3.4 It was agreed that the Action Plan would be brought to ACH PDS on a regular basis for 

oversight on the delivery of the Strategy.  
 
 Progress againt the Action Plan in this update includes: 

✓ Intergenerational project with Schools, Children and Family centres and Mytime Active 
afterschool clubs creating Christmas cards for people experiencing loneliness within 
various care settings. 900 cards which were delivered to 6 Care homes, 6 Extra care homes 
and 4 domiciliary care agencies across the borough of Bromley. Remaining cards were donated 
to Care leavers, St. Christopher hospice patients in Sydenham and the PRUH/ Orpington 
Hospital.  

✓ New information included on the Councils webite including ‘Lonely, not alone’, a virtual platform 
for young people to come together and speak about their own experience around loneliness. 
Further embedded links were added to enable easy access to other web pages. 

✓ Work by partners in the libraries, leisure, and community sectors to support groups at 
risk of and experiencing loneliness by participating in targeted activities. 

✓ The new Bromley Well contract started in October 2022 and includes the development of a service 
offer to reduce isolation and loneliness and enhance the befriending offer across all pathways in the 
service. Residents who received local befriending services during the pandemic are continuing with 
their befriending relationship through local voluntary organisations. Bromley Third Sector Enterprise 
(BTSE) latest Impact report from 2021-2022 released September 2022 states that Bromley Well 
have helped 371 people via their befriending services. 

✓ The first round of Platinum Jubilee Parks Fund applications helping to tackle loneliness 
and social isolation across the borough. 

✓ Communication with national organisations and other local authorities on various 
platforms to promote good practice, share knowledge and idea’s to tackle loneliness. 

✓ Entered The Campaign to End Loneliness’s poster competition to highlight the work 
which the council, statutory, private, and voluntary partners are carrying throughout 
Bromley. 
Engagement with Borough Partnership members November 2022 to establish future 
connections with the Tackling Loneliness initiative.  
 

3.5 As the work to tackle loneliness develops, new actions will be incorporated where 
appropriate to ensure that the Action Plan remains relevant to the needs of the residents of 
Bromley. 

 
 
 
 

Page 55



 

  

4 

4. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN  

The Bromley Tackling Loneliness Strategy will help to mitigate loneliness for people throughout 
the life course who are at risk of, or experiencing, loneliness. This will prevent a greater 
likelihood of developing negative physical, emotional, and social outcomes as well as an 
adverse financial impact for individuals and families.  

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

 There are no policy implications arising directly from this report. Any policy implications arising 
from the implementation of the various actions contained within the plan will be reported to the 
PDS Committee separately.  

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. Any financial implications 
arising from the implementation of the various actions contained within the plan will be reported 
to the PDS Committee separately.  

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. Any legal implications arising 
from the implementation of the various actions contained within the plan will be reported to the 
PDS Committee separately.  

Non-Applicable Sections: Personnel Implications, Procurement Implications 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

N/A 

 

Page 56



Page 1 of 22 

 

Tackling Loneliness Strategy Action Plan – January 2023 Update 

Priority One: Organisation and services 
 
Bromley already has a wide range of services, groups and activities which can help to tackle loneliness. However, during our consultation we 
found out it was difficult for people to find information, advice, and guidance to access these.   
 

 
To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

a) make it easier to 
access information 
about local 
community groups, 
activities and support 
services for 
loneliness  
 

i) Develop a service e-directory 
for residents in order to know 
what is available: residents, 
carers, care workers and other 
advisers need to have access to 
a reliable directory of 
community-based services.  
 
Community Links Bromley have 
been funded to update their 
Simply Connect e-directory 
resource and to put in place 
volunteers to sustain the 
database thereafter. 
 
 
The Simply Connect e-directory 
will be accessible via the 
Council website and promoted 
on Council social media 
channels. 

Community 
Links Bromley 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
London 
Borough of 
Bromley/AD 
Commissioning 
 
 
 
 
 
London 
Borough of 
Bromley/AD 
Corporate 
Transformation 
 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Completed 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Completed 

Bromley Simply Connect 
The Bromley Simply Connect database continues 
to be developed to promote information about 
local groups, activities and support services which 
can be accessed by all. 1,235 Activities are 
currently available to view online. Officers have 
fed back Member comments to improve ‘mega 
data’ to ensure that opportunities can be easily 
searched. 
 
During September 2021 to February 2022 a 
worker was employed to boost the number of 
organisations and activities on the Simply Connect 
e-directory.  Since then, volunteers had 
maintained the database contributing 504 hours to 
the project. 544 organisations are now promoted. 
 
 
Links to the Simply Connect e-directory can be 
found on the following pages on the Bromley 
website: 
www.bromley.gov.uk/loneliness, 
www.bromley.gov.uk/befriending 
 
Advice and support | London Borough of Bromley 

P
age 57

https://bromley.simplyconnect.uk/
http://www.bromley.gov.uk/loneliness
http://www.bromley.gov.uk/befriending
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/directory/28/local_organisations_and_advice_services/category/26


Page 2 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

a) make it easier to 
access information 
about local 
community groups, 
activities and support 
services for 
loneliness (cont’d) 
 

ii) Continue to produce the Adult 
Care Services Directory  
 
 
Early Help Directory – 
consultation feedback included 
the need for printed as well as 
digital materials.  

London 
Borough of 
Bromley/AD 
Children Social 
Care Specialist 
Services 
 
AD Corporate 
Transformation 
 

Completed 
2022 
 
Annual 
action. 

The Adult Care Services Directory –Your Guide to 
Independent Living Support and Care Services is 
updated annually and published during the 
summer each year both in printed and electronic 
formats. 7,000 copies were distributed to front-line 
health and social care professionals, voluntary 
organisations, libraries, GP practices, pharmacies, 
and faith groups in August 2022. 
 
Bromley Local Offer (website for those with 
special education needs and disabilities) and 
Bromley IASS — Bromley Information, Advice and 
Support Service (IASS) website- Free, impartial, 
confidential information, advice and support about 
special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) 
and their parents and carers 

iii) Showcase the service e-
directory and to demonstrate 
how it may be used to support 
giving advice and guidance to 
residents – working with public 
facing services such as library 
staff, social care staff and GP 
Link workers. 

Community 
Links Bromley 
 

Completed  Simply Connect Bromley was officially launched 
on 22 September 2022. The launch was attended 
by 25 people from health, local authority, voluntary 
and community organisations.  
 
Additional promotional work has been undertaken 
with front-line professionals including Social 
Prescribing Link Workers, Adult Social Care, 
Mental Health Providers Forum, Older People 
Mental Health Teams, the Memory Clinic, Adult 
Social Care, Memory Service’s multi-disciplinary 
team and the Activity Network Forum.  
Promotional materials for staff and residents will 
remain in circulation with ongoing promotion. 
 
 

iv) Update the Befriending page 
on Council website annually.   
 

London 
Borough of 
Bromley/AD 

Completed 
2022 
 

The Befriending webpage and Befriending Guide 
was reviewed and updated for Loneliness 
Awareness week in June 2022 as well as for 

P
age 58

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/200050/help_for_adults/1226/adult_care_and_support_services_directory
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/200050/help_for_adults/1226/adult_care_and_support_services_directory
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/children-young-adults-disabilities-learning-needs/bromley-local-offer
https://bromleyiass.org.uk/
https://bromleyiass.org.uk/


Page 3 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

Corporate 
Transformation 

Annual 
action 

Befriending Week in November 2022. 
www.bromley.gov.uk/befriending . 
 
New information includes ‘Lonely, not alone’, a 
virtual platform for young people to come together 
and speak about their own experience around 
loneliness. Further embedded links were added to 
enable easy access to other web pages.  

P
age 59

http://www.bromley.gov.uk/befriending


Page 4 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

a) make it easier to 
access information 
about local 
community groups, 
activities and support 
services for 
loneliness (cont’d) 
 

v) Support families from Ukraine 
to connect with other refugees 
and their local communities. 

London 
Borough of 
Bromley/ 
Director, 
Housing, 
Planning & 
Regeneration 

Ongoing Under the Homes for Ukraine scheme, fortnightly 
meet up sessions take place at Bromley Central 
Library to enable guests and sponsors to meet 
other people from their local community and make 
connections. 175 people attending the first meet 
up session and 85 people attending the second 
meet up session. Since these sessions, around 40 
people have been attending each fortnight at 
Bromley Central Library.  
 
The weekly Support Hub at the Civic Centre also 
enables families to connect with others whilst 
receiving multi-agency support and advice. This 
Hub is still on going with people meeting regularly.  
There have been several cases where placements 
have been coming to an end and the team have 
successfully re-matched our guests with new 
sponsors at these sessions. 
 
An event to celebrate Ukraine Independence Day 
in August was organised by the Rotary Clubs with 
a smaller celebration at the Support Hub at the 
Civic Centre the following day. The Rotary Clubs’ 
event saw more than 100 people attend this 
celebration and approximately 75 people 
attending the Civic Centre the following day.  
 
A Christmas celebration event was delivered on 
10th December at one of the Weekly Support 
sessions.  

P
age 60



Page 5 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

b) improve our ability 
to recognise people 
at risk of 
experiencing 
loneliness at certain 
life trigger points by 
providing appropriate 
training to staff and 
volunteers supported 
by information and 
advice  
 

i) Train a network of champions 
to raise awareness about trigger 
points and key events that can 
help to tackle loneliness 

 
Multi agency front line workers, 
voluntary sector and faith 
groups  

 

Training resources to be 
sourced and made available for 
all Council staff and partner 
organisations. 

London 
Borough of 
Bromley 
 
AD Corporate 
Transformation 
AD HR 
Learning and 
Development 
 

March 
2023 

A training course is being developed for everyone 
who may interact with residents together with a 
further course for Loneliness Champions who 
wish to take these learnings further and help to 
change the culture and stigma of loneliness within 
their teams and workplaces.  
 
The courses are due to be rolled out to officers in 
health and the local authority in early 2023.  
 
The Bromley Borough Partnership discussed the 
Tackling Loneliness Strategy and its progress so 
far at its November meeting. Partners from the 
emergency services, health, Mytime Active and 
London Southeast Colleges (LSEC) supported the 
Tackling Loneliness initiative. All partners have 
asked for Befriending leaflets for use by front-line 
officers. Meetings with partners are also planned 
for December 2022 and January 2023 to discuss 
further partnership working. 
 
LSEC have reached out to work in partnership to 
help tackle loneliness in the community by 
engaging students, staff and the BR6 cafe. Plans 
are being developed to hold a free community 
event by LSEC alongside statutory, community 
and voluntary sector organisations with 
confirmation in early 2023. 

ii) Ensure commissioned 
services have identifying and 
mitigating loneliness as part of 
their service specification 
 

London 
Borough of 
Bromley 
 
AD Corporate 
Procurement 
 

Completed  Procurement gateway report templates have been 
adjusted to include the following “‘Bromley’s 
corporate Tackling Loneliness Strategy commits 
to have identifying and mitigating loneliness as 
part of the service specification in all appropriate 
contracts, please consider how this contract could 
help towards these outcomes.’ 

P
age 61

http://www.bromley.gov.uk/loneliness


Page 6 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

iii) Continue Befriending 
services through voluntary 
organisations established 
during pandemic. 

Bromley Well  Completed The new Bromley Well contract started in October 
2022 and includes the development of a service 
offer to reduce isolation and loneliness and 
enhance the befriending offer across all pathways 
in the service. 
 
Residents who received local befriending services 
during the pandemic are continuing with their 
befriending relationship through local voluntary 
organisations. 
 
Bromley Third Sector Enterprise (BTSE) latest 
Impact report from 2021-2022 released 
September 2022 states that Bromley Well have 
helped 371 people via their befriending services. 
 
 

P
age 62



Page 7 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

c) through social 
prescribing in GP 
practices and 
potentially other front-
line services we will 
connect people at 
risk of or 
experiencing 
loneliness.   
 

i) Ensure that CCG Social 
Prescribing Link Workers in GP 
practices use the e-directory 
resources and identifies 
loneliness  

Bromley GP 
Alliance 
 

Ongoing Social Prescribing Link Workers have met with 
Community Links Bromley to demonstrate its 
content and how it can be used with patients. 
 
The Principal Loneliness Champion has met with 
several social prescribers who are helping to run 
local loneliness mitigating events such as the 
Orpington Wellbeing Café. Orpington Wellbeing 
Café - Bromley Healthcare 
 
Relevant information is being sent directly to the 
Social Prescribing Link Workers on a regular basis 
to ensure they are informed of new activities and 
events which their clients can attend.   

ii) Use Children and Family 
Assessments (early help 
through Children and Family 
Centres) to identify loneliness 
as a factor in family members 
and signpost to services 

London 
Borough of 
Bromley/ AD 
Children Social 
Care Specialist 
Services 
 

Ongoing As part of the Children and Family Assessments 
loneliness and social isolation are identified and 
families are sign-posted to appropriate services. 
 
Information has been shared directly with the 
Mental Health education lead and on projects, 
research and papers which may help teachers 
and governing bodies support children within 
education who are experiencing mental ill-health 
issues and Loneliness. This information has also 
been published into the Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Toolkit for teachers Mental Health & 
Wellbeing Toolkit (adobe.com) 
 
On 5th December, the Principal Loneliness 
Champion delivered a presentation to all Mental 
Health leads within schools and governing bodies 
at the Warren to raise awareness about loneliness 
in children and young people, its effects, triggers 
and how to help children cope with these feelings. 
See appendix for details of the presentation. 

P
age 63

https://www.bromleyhealthcare.org.uk/latest/blog/orpington-wellbeing-cafe/
https://www.bromleyhealthcare.org.uk/latest/blog/orpington-wellbeing-cafe/
https://express.adobe.com/page/H2FLvy4xnCpFj/
https://express.adobe.com/page/H2FLvy4xnCpFj/


Page 8 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

 
Loneliness will now be an ongoing topic at all the 
Mental Health and Wellbeing networking events 
going forward.  

iii) Ensure that the Adult Social 
Care ‘front door service” can 
signpost to appropriate 
pathways – including Bromley 
Well as the early intervention 
service  
 

London 
Borough of 
Bromley/ AD 
Adult Social 
Care 
 

Completed  The Initial Contact Team continues to make 
referrals and signposting clients to the Bromley 
Well service when appropriate.  As part of the new 
Bromley Well contract, a worker from Bromley 
Well service will be joining the Initial Response 
Team. 
 
Heads of Service in Adult Social Care have had a 
demonstration of Simply Connect Bromley as well 
as the Team Leads in the Operational Team. 

 

P
age 64



Page 9 of 22 

 

Priority Two: Community infrastructure that empowers social connections 
 
Voluntary and community groups have told us that it can be difficult to find appropriate venues to hold activities at affordable prices.  
Residents have also told us that some find it difficult to travel to activities because of ill-health or disability.  Some others fed back that their 
own confidence using technology was a barrier to accessing online services.  
 
 

 
To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

a) unlock the 
potential of 
underutilised 
community space. 
 

i) Finding Community Spaces – 
With Community Links Bromley 
identify low cost and no cost 
community spaces that can be 
used for day activities. 

Community 
Links Bromley 

Completed Halls and Rooms for hire 
The majority of this information can now be found 
on the Simply Connect database 
https://bit.ly/3QcLcfi with over 90 venues now 
being promoted on this platform. 

ii) Review of community facilities 
to streamline and maximise 
usage as community resources. 

London 
Borough of 
Bromley/ 
Assistant 
Director of 
Culture and 
Regeneration 

April 2023 A wide range of options to take forward 
management of the Mottingham Community and 
Learning Shop and the Cotmandene Community 
Resource Centre are being considered including 
co-location with other services to maximise usage 
as a community resource. 
 

iii) Work with Extra Care 
Housing landlords and 
residential care homes to utilise 
their facilities for the local 
community. 

Extra Care 
Housing 
landlords 
Care Homes 

 A range of initiatives are under way to develop 
more opportunities with care homes, extra care 
providers and community groups. 
 
 P

age 65

https://www.communitylinksbromley.org.uk/support-services/venue-hire/
https://bit.ly/3QcLcfi


Page 10 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

a) unlock the potential 
of underutilised 
community 
space(cont’d) 

iv) Promoting the use of 
communal spaces, gardens, 
walks etc. increasing access to 
spaces that encourage people to 
meet and socialise  

London 
Borough of 
Bromley 

AD 
Environment 
AD Culture 
and 
Regeneration 

 The Platinum Jubilee Parks Fund was launched in 
July 2022. The £1 million fund aims to contribute 
towards community led projects that improve 
Bromley Council’s green spaces in line with the 
Open Space Strategy, with £40k assigned per 
ward.  This includes initiatives to tackle social 
isolation and loneliness. 
 
Applications for the first round of the Council’s 
Jubilee Parks Fund have recently closed – a fund 
set up to contribute £1 million pounds towards 
community led projects that improve the borough’s 
green spaces. The Council received around 30 
applications during the first round from across the 
borough and for a wide range of proposals 
including playground improvements, biodiversity 
enhancements, community orchards and in one 
case a dog agility course. Whilst no proposals at 
the time of writing have received approval, all have 
been assessed against 5 key strategic objectives 
within the Council’s Open Space Strategy, 
including their ability to positive benefit community 
physical and mental health. The proposals 
received contained initiatives to facilitate 
networking and combat social isolation in the 
community and include the creation of meeting 
places, the establishing of community groups such 
as garden clubs, increasing access to nature, and 
the enhancement of spaces for quiet 
contemplation and relaxation. 
 
There are other projects going on across the 
borough to help improve greenspaces and help 
tackle loneliness. Queensmead playground project 
in Shortlands is being redesigned with parents and 

P
age 66

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/jubileeparksfund
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/file/1753/open-space-strategy-strategy-content


Page 11 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

carers in mind as well as helping to tackle 
loneliness.  
 
As part of the Ramblers Wellbeing Walks 
programme, Mytime Active have begun a series of 
walks in Bromley which aim to create new 
friendships while promoting health and wellbeing. 
Over the 6 months these walks have been running 
there have been 1,700 attendances across walks 
ranging from 30 – 90 minutes. Mytime Active 
currently have 12 leaders registered through the 
Ramblers, with 10 leading the walks.  
 
Mytime Active have registered the Wellbeing 
Walks with the London Sport Open Sessions as 
part of their Red January campaign to keep people 
active through the winter. 

b) raise awareness of 
a transport network 
that supports people’s 
social connections 
and helps people be 
connected to their 
community – through 
accessible and 
inclusive transport. 

i) Update the Council’s Guide to 
Accessible Transport 
 
 

London 
Borough of 
Bromley/ 
 
AD Corporate 
Transformation 
 
 

Completed The Bromley Guide to Accessible Transport has 
been updated and can be found on the Bromley 
website. 

c) maximise the 
power of digital tools 
through connecting 
people, particularly 
older and disabled 
adults, and 
addressing loneliness 
and internet safety. 
 

i) Evaluate series of pilot 
assistive technology tools being 
trialled across health and care 
services including assistance 
devices for older residents and 
those with learning disabilities. 

London 
Borough of 
Bromley/ 
Director Adult 
Social Care 
 

TBC Funding secured for pilot project of 20 units for an 
Alexa-style system which monitors activity, 
provides prompts and enables communication with 
other service users through the device.  
 
Reablement service identifying appropriate 
residents to take part in pilot which is due to begin 
in September 2022. This project has been 
postponed to 2023 due to internal changes. 

P
age 67

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/download/251/guide-to-accessible-transport-in-bromley


Page 12 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

c) maximise the 
power of digital tools 
through connecting 
people, particularly 
older and disabled 
adults, and 
addressing loneliness 
and internet safety 
(cont’d) 

ii) Promote the continued use of 
Library activities delivered face 
to face and online activities for 
all ages, including virtual groups 
for new parents, people  
with dementia, the hard of 
hearing, carers and children.  
Outreach to less mobile through 
the Home Library Service. 
 

GLL/ AD 
Culture and 
Regeneration 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Activities in Bromley Libraries 
A full programme of activities and events is 
underway and continues to develop. 
 
Additional Restrictions Grant Cultural Grant 
funding has provided a portable Magic Table and 
the Happiness programme from Social-Ability.  18 
staff have been trained in its use which provides 
interactive group activities for people with 
dementia.  Groups have been established at 
Beckenham, Chislehurst, and St Paul’s Cray 
libraries. 
 
Mottingham Library, through London Sport 
Tackling Inequalities Funding, is the first UK library 
to offer sports and digital gaming through an 
Exergame unit to encourage physical activity.  70 
‘Move It’ sessions have taken place so far, with 
462 children and 120 adults taking part in the 
three-month trial period. 
 
Mottingham Library is fully established as an 
autistic friendly library aimed at people on the 
autistic spectrum. 
 
Bromley Home Library Service was re-launched 
and re-branded to increase membership after the 
pandemic to attract new customers. Promotion of 
this free service for residents unable to attend their 
local library including those living in care homes is 
underway.  
 
Since promotion during Befriending Week (1st – 7th 
November) including the Befriending leaflet, there 
have been 7 new members using the Home 

P
age 68

https://www.better.org.uk/library/london/bromley/biggin-hill-library/news/what-s-on-in-bromley-libraries
https://social-ability.co.uk/
https://www.better.org.uk/library/london/bromley/bromley-home-library-service


Page 13 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

Library Service and a higher footfall through the 
libraries over the course of November 2022.  
 
Bromley Libraries are offering free tea and coffee 
at activities as part of the Warm Space’s initiative. 
 
Bromley Central Library is currently exhibiting the 
Peter Rabbit Storytime Trail – an exhibition for 
families from 12th December – 27th January.  
 
Penge Library has received funding to install 
another Exergame unit and will launch a 
programme like the Mottingham programme in 
January 2023 
 
Start Up Bromley now has over 300 members and 
are hosting a Christmas showcase at the Glades 
shopping centre this December.  
 

 

P
age 69

https://www.better.org.uk/library/london/bromley/bromley-central-library/news/the-world-of-peter-rabbit-storytime-trail
https://www.better.org.uk/library/london/bromley/bromley-central-library/start-up-bromley


Page 14 of 22 

 

Priority Three: Building a culture that encourages strong social relationships 
 
Sharing knowledge and best practice of support that can successfully tackle loneliness we want to strengthen existing activities and identify 
potential new kinds of support. 
 

 
To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

a) Continue to build 
on this conversation 
to raise awareness 
and reduce the 
stigma surrounding 
loneliness. 

iii) Deliver a communications 
campaign every year of this 
strategy, to raise awareness and 
reduce the stigma of loneliness  

London 
Borough of 
Bromley/ AD 
Corporate 
Transformation 
 

Annual  
2022-2026 

Befriending week (1st – 7th November) was 
promoted across the borough with our partners.  
 
An A5 leaflet was produced to advertise local 
befriending services and volunteering 
opportunities within those services. Over 1,500 
copies of the leaflet were distributed to: 
- Bromley Libraries 
- Faith groups within Bromley.  
- 6 Children and Family Centres  
- the Cotmandene and Mottingham community 

shops and 
- the Civic Centre Main Reception and 

Registrars. 
 

The leaflet was also distributed electronically to all 
Council staff and partners for front-line 
professionals.  See appendix for details on the 
leaflet and poster. 
 
A press release launched Befriending Week in 
Bromley and social media posts on Facebook/ 
Twitter were used during the week including the 
Bromley Children’s Project Facebook page. These 
posts were promoted by our partners as well. 
 
Community Links Bromley dedicated a section of 
their e-newsletter to Befriending Week and 

P
age 70

https://www.bromley.gov.uk/news/article/401/befriending-brings-bromley-closer-together-to-tackle-loneliness


Page 15 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

promoted befriending volunteering opportunities in 
their Volunteer newsletter. 
 
A post about our Befriending Week campaign was 
made on the Tackling Loneliness Hub to share 
good practice with other organisations and 
Councils which have an interest in tackling 
loneliness.  
 
Christmas a time for giving campaign saw a press 
release in late December to promote volunteering, 
befriending services and giving back at this time of 
year. This story was also approved by the leader 
of the Councill to be features in the Bromley 
Christmas newsletter which reaches 70, 000 
people.  

iv) Promote Loneliness 
Awareness Week in June each 
year 

London 
Borough of 
Bromley/ AD 
Corporate 
Transformation 

Annual  
2022-2026 

A communication plan has been drawn up from 
October 2022 to June 2023, addressing not only 
Loneliness Awareness week in June but various 
other milestones throughout the year.  
 
A communication campaign was carried out for 
Loneliness Awareness Week during June.  This 
included promotion of the Befriending page on the 
Council’s website through the voluntary sector and 
One Bromley partners as well as promotion of 
resources to Bromley staff.  A social media 
campaign for residents also highlighted Simply 
Connect Bromley. 
 
During Loneliness Awareness Week, Mytime 
Active ran a series of wellbeing walks and coffee 
mornings throughout the borough. 
 

P
age 71

https://tacklinglonelinesshub.org/
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/news/article/433/christmas-is-a-time-for-giving
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/news/article/433/christmas-is-a-time-for-giving


Page 16 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

b) Encourage 
grassroot 
opportunities to 
strengthen local 
social relationships 
and community ties -
through volunteering 
sectors and 
threading awareness 
of social connections 
through new and 
existing programmes 
such as our 
partnerships working 
with libraries, 
museums and the 
arts. 
 

i) Promote volunteering to 
mitigate against 
loneliness 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ii) Additional grassroots 

activities 

Community 
Links Bromley 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
London 
Borough of 
Bromley/ AD 
Corporate 
Transformation 
Loneliness 
Champion  

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Completed 
 

Befriending opportunities are promoted on the 
Simply Connect Bromley site and through the 
Volunteering Update newsletter.   
 
Mytime Active offers volunteering opportunities 
through the Primetime Buddies initiative and the 
Wellbeing Walks programme. Mytime currently 
have 24 Primetime Buddies who are all older 
people who support and encourage their peers to 
be physically active.   
 
Bromley Council has developed an Employee 
Volunteering Strategy allowing staff to volunteer 
for 2 days a year. 
 
Volunteering opportunities to tackle loneliness 
continues to be promoted throughout the year. 
 
The Christmas Card Project, is an 
intergenerational scheme which was prompted in 
late November/ December to help those who may 
be experiencing loneliness and social isolation 
during the festive period in Care homes, Extra 
Care Housing and those receiving domiciliary care 
support. The project was taken up by Schools/ 
Children and Family Centres and Mytime Active 
after school clubs get involved to make cards for 
those in need. 
 
10 schools (primary and secondary) got involved 
in making cards, all 6 children and family centres 
and Mytime Active after school club at Unicorn 
Primary School. Together they created 900 cards 
which were delivered to 6 Care homes, 6 Extra 
care homes and 4 domiciliary care agencies 

P
age 72



Page 17 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

across the borough of Bromley. Remaining cards 
were donated to Care leavers, St. Christopher 
hospice patients in Sydenham and the PRUH/ 
Orpington Hospital.  
 
Many of the schools have asked to work together 
in 2023 to further their outreach.  
 
A post about the scheme was put on the Tackling 
Loneliness HUB for other professionals working in 
the field of loneliness can learn from. This project 
also features in the Domiciliary care newsletter 
which reaches all Dom care providers, all 
commissioned and non-LBB commissioned DOM 
care providers in Bromley.  

ii) Supporting community groups 
in establishing new day activities 
for older people in a number of 
new and safe settings across 
the borough  

London 
Borough of 
Bromley/  
AD 
Commissioning 
 

Ongoing Work to identify the type of day activities that older 
people want to participate in is on-going. 

iii) Promote leisure, cultural and 
sporting activities with our 
partners in the arts and 
Proactive Bromley. 

London 
Borough of 
Bromley/  
AD Culture 
and 
Regeneration 

Ongoing The Tackling Loneliness Strategy has been 
reviewed with Mytime Active and partners in 
ProActive Bromley to identify current programmes 
which can support the aims of the Strategy and 
consider further actions which can be undertaken. 
This will be an agenda item for all future Pro-active 
meetings. 
 
Mytime Active  
MyClub and MyClub Junior activities promote 
inclusion for people of all ages with Special 
Educational Needs and/or Disabilities and for 

P
age 73



Page 18 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

b) Encourage 
grassroot 
opportunities to 
strengthen local 
social relationships 
and community ties -
through volunteering 
sectors and threading 
awareness of social 
connections through 
new and existing 
programmes such as 
our partnerships 
working with libraries, 
museums and the 
arts (cont’d) 

iii) Promote leisure, cultural and 
sporting activities with our 
partners in the arts and 
Proactive Bromley (cont’d) 

those with learning disabilities and Dementia. 
Activities include quieter soft play and bowling 
sessions, sports of all kinds as well as social 
activities. 104 people are registered as part of 
MyClub and MyClub Junior. Mytime Active have 
recorded an average attendance of 120 attendees 
each week. 
 
Primetime activities are run in community venues 
such as Farnborough and Biggin Hill. 
 
Lottery funded Prime8 is running from May to 
October 2022 offering older people who are lonely 
and/or deconditioned 8 weeks free access to 
Primetime classes, including new seated and low 
intensity classes for people with limited mobility or 
who are deconditioned. Due to the programme 
starting on 31st October, final reporting figures will 
be published in January 2023. 
 

iv) Mapping gaps – The Simply 
Connect e-directory work will 
map existing community 
activities and other assets. We 
will want to understand access 
to activities across the borough 
and identify any gaps of 
provision or coverage across the 
borough. 

Community 
Links Bromley / 
 
London 
Borough of 
Bromley/ AD 
Commissioning 
 

Ongoing During the promotional work with front-line 
professionals, additional activities not currently on 
the e-directory are being identified and groups 
invited to join the database.  Where groups do not 
meet the safeguarding and equalities threshold, 
CLB will work with them to put policies and 
procedures in place. 
 
CLB have also identified certain activities and 
groups where voluntary and community sector 
provision is limited.  These include alcohol and 
substance misuse; digital inclusion; general advice 
and information; legal advice; safety and security 
(violence and abuse); transport and mobility; 

P
age 74



Page 19 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

bereavement and support services; smoking 
cessation and weight management. 

P
age 75



Page 20 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

 v) Pump priming funds for new 
services – Working with Bromley 
Well we will prioritise the 
Innovation Fund to support the 
development of new local day 
activity projects. The aim will be 
to develop a set of new and 
diverse activities across the 
borough that may be financially 
sustainable over time through a 
mix of self-funding and Direct 
Payments. 

London 
Borough of 
Bromley/ AD 
Commissioning 
 
 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 

Reducing social isolation and loneliness is one of 
the criteria for the Innovation Fund and examples 
of some of the current projects that support this 
aim include: 
 
- A project delivering digital support and 

confidence building:  Currently being delivered 
in Penge, the project supports 
older and vulnerable persons and carers get 
out into the community as well as becoming 
more comfortable and confident in using the 
internet for social and other purposes  

 
- The Living Well Arts Café at Community 

House supports clients using the food bank 
service to come together to engage in creative 
arts and wellbeing activities together with 
access to a listening ear / counsellor services 
and signposting to relevant additional 
services.  

 
The innovation fund is now managed by 
commissioners from Bromley Council with new 
arrangements in place to administer the quarterly 
bidding rounds and projects. The December 
bidding round invited bids, with projects being 
informed of their award in January 2023.  
 
Bromley and Lewisham Covid-19 Grant Giving 
Scheme – applications to this £235k Lottery 
funded scheme were invited in January/February 
2022 for organisations connecting communities to 
respond to COVID-19 and volunteering.  Projects 
will run between April and October 2022.  
 

P
age 76



Page 21 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

8 groups received £118,750 to deliver a range of 
services that include food support, debt advice, 
beds for vulnerable children, a dad’s mentoring 
scheme and as well as a literacy project. Capacity 
building support is also available to support the 
sustainability of these projects. Interim monitoring 
is now taking place, including a programme of 
visits to groups. 
 
Collectively the projects will provide support to 

over 3,100 individuals including help for 500 older 

people and over 1,000 children and young people 

in Bromley. The funding will also support around 

165 volunteering roles. Ruther updates will be 

presented in 2023 about the success of these 8 

groups. 

 
 

c) Be the catalyst to 
the sharing of 
knowledge and good 
practice  
 

Learn from national and local 
evaluations of services to 
mitigate against loneliness 
 

London 
Borough of 
Bromley/ AD 
Corporate 
Transformation 
 

 The Principal Loneliness Champion has been 
connecting to national organisations and local 
authorities across the UK to share ideas and good 
practice via the Tackling Loneliness HUB and 
Tackling Loneliness HUB Coffee morning roulette 
scheme which runs monthly. 
 
Attendance at seminars about current research 
and evaluation of loneliness projects hosted by 
charity The Campaign to End Loneliness has 
provided information about good practice which 
can be disseminated locally. Such seminars have 
been around topics such as Loneliness and 
communication, the Chatty café scheme, 
Loneliness in Australia, and research into 
understanding who is lonely within the UK. 
 

P
age 77



Page 22 of 22 

 

To respond to this, 
we will…   
 

Action Lead Timescale Update 

Further seminars are planned for 2023 with an 
international conference by The Campaign to End 
Loneliness in February 2023.  
 
The London Borough of Bromley has entered The 
Campaign to End Loneliness’s poster competition 
which closed on the 15th of December 2022. The 
competition is to show the work Bromley has been 
doing around loneliness since 2021. If we are 
successful, our poster is to be showcased in their 
virtual library, with the very best submissions 
being discussed during The Campaign to End 
Loneliness’s international virtual conference in 
February 2023.  
 
Find the London Borough or Bromley’s 
competition submission here: 
CEL_Loneliness_PosterCompetition2022 - Google 
Slides 
 

Established a post funded by 
LBB to coordinate and deliver 
this strategy  
  

London 
Borough of 
Bromley/ AD 
Corporate 
Transformation 
 

Completed Appointment to post of Principal Loneliness 
Champion made with successful candidate 
starting in September 2022. 

 

P
age 78

https://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/conference-2023-tackling-loneliness-for-a-new-era-of-connection/
https://docs.google.com/presentation/d/1nWx0fH5PIQvsOoayiW1qcexXzQKI4_x7UhZ3HA8LXvs/edit#slide=id.p5
https://docs.google.com/presentation/d/1nWx0fH5PIQvsOoayiW1qcexXzQKI4_x7UhZ3HA8LXvs/edit#slide=id.p5


www.bromley.gov.uk/befriending

CALL 07929 742252 EMAIL bromley.hls@royalvoluntaryservice.org.uk

Befriending and transport for people aged 65+.

Careplus

CALL

VISIT

07930 955 398
careplusbromley.org.uk

Befriending for people aged 65+.

Bromley Well

CALL

VISIT

0808 278 7898 (freephone)
bromleywell.org.uk/events

Befriending for people with dementia.

Bromley Dementia Support Hub

CALL

VISIT

020 3328 0366
blgmind.org.uk

Volunteer befrienders to its sight impaired adult
service users.

Kent Association for the Blind

CALL

EMAIL

020 8464 8406
rehab.bromley@kab.org.uk

Befrienders for parents of children with
complex medical needs or disabilities.

The Maypole Project

VISIT

01689 889889
themaypoleproject.co.uk

Online and in person activities for all ages, and volunteers can bring the library to you.

Bromley Libraries and Home Library Service 

VISIT bromley.gov.uk/libraries

Befriending
services 

Find befriending groups and organisations across the borough:

Bromley Council 
bromley.gov.uk/befriending

B
ef

ri
en

di
ng

 W
ee

k 
20

22
1 

to
 7

 N
ov

em
be

r 2
02

2

O
R 

SC
A

N
 H

ER
E:

Simply Connect Bromley
https://bromley.simplyconnect.uk

O
R 

SC
A

N
 H

ER
E:

Local organisations and contacts:

Befriending for pregnant
women and new mums
(via a referral).

Mindful Mums

CALL 07885 975129
CALL

Page 79

http://www.bromley.gov.uk/befriending
http://www.bromley.gov.uk/befriending
http://www.bromley.gov.uk/befriending
http://www.bromley.gov.uk/befriending


www.bromley.gov.uk/befriending
Produced by Strategy, Performance and Corporate Transformation. © The London Borough of Bromley, May 2022. All rights reserved.

A PARTNERSHIP OF:

Community Links Bromley
communitylinksbromley.org.uk/volunteer

O
R 

SC
A

N
 H

ER
E:

Bromley Council 
bromley.gov.uk/volunteering

O
R 

SC
A

N
 H

ER
E:

VISIT themaypoleproject.co.uk
EMAIL volunteer@themaypoleproject.co.uk

Would you like to become a befriender to a cause which is important to you? Befriending is rewarding,
and anyone can get involved after appropriate training and clearances to help those who may be feeling
lonely within Bromley. Here is some useful information to start you on your journey.

Volunteering opportunities
Get involved. Make a difference. Create an impact.

Find volunteering opportunities across the borough:

A befriending service for children and families
affected by long term medical needs and
disabilities.

The Maypole Project

CALL 01689 889889

A befriending service which matches children
in care to good, stable role models from
outside of the care system.

Coram Voice

Local organisations and contacts:

CALL

VISIT

020 7883 5792
coramvoice.org.uk/volunteering

EMAIL VLondon@coramvoice.org.uk

Befriending for people aged 65+.

Bromley Well

CALL

VISIT

0808 278 7898 (freephone)
bromleywell.org.uk/about-us/
volunteer-with-us

Page 80

http://www.bromley.gov.uk/befriending
http://www.bromley.gov.uk/befriending
http://www.bromley.gov.uk/befriending
http://www.bromley.gov.uk/befriending


Report No. 
ACH23-005 
 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART 1 - PUBLIC 

 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: EXECUTIVE  
WITH PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY FROM ADULT CARE AND HEALTH 

SERVICES POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (24 
JANUARY 2022) 

 

Date:  January 2022 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Executive  
 

Key  
 

Title: PERMISSION TO  CALL-OFF NEW CONTRACT FOR THE 
INTEGRATED COMMUNITY EQUIPMENT SERVICE IN 
BROMLEY, VIA THE LONDON CONSORTIUM MEMBERSHIP  

Contact Officer: Esme Ahmeti, Senior Commissioning Officer   

Tel: 0208 Tel   E-mail: esme.ahmeti@bromley.gov.uk  

Chief Officer: Kim Carey, Director of Adult Social Care, ECHS 

Ward: This service will operate boroughwide 

1. Reason for report 

1.1 This Part 1 Contract Award report outlines the current arrangements for the provision of Bromley’s 
Integrated Community Equipment Service (ICES), commissioned through the London Community 
Equipment Consortium (London Consortium), and sets out the results of the Tender Excercise for 
the provision of the new service. 

1.2 The current contract for ICES ends on 31st March 2023 and both 1+1 extension options have 
been utilised. Executive previously approved (ECHS19049) re-procuring the service through 
continued membership of the London Consortium and for Bromley Council to participate in the 
joint re-tendering exercise, which was activated in April 2022.  

1.3 Approval to call-off the new contract is being sought to support the conclusion of the Consortium-
led Tender Exercise and the new Framework Agreement, in order for the new service to 
commence on 1st April 2023, and for Bromley to continue to support and meet the needs of 
Bromley residents.  

1.4 This Contract Award Part 1 makes recommendations for the new ICES provision in Bromley and 
should be read in conjunction with the Contract Part 2 Award Report.  

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 The Adult Care and Health Services PDS Committee are asked to note and comment on the 
contents of this report. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 9a

mailto:esme.ahmeti@bromley.gov.uk


2.2 The Executive are requested to agree to the following: 

i. Support the London Consortium  award of the Framework Agreement to the successful bidder 
for the new ICES. The new provider will operate as the single supplier to a framework 
agreement to provide an Integrated Community Equipment Service on behalf of the London 
Community Equipment Consortium.  The new contract is scheduled to commence on 1st April 
2023; 

ii. Approve to call-off the new contract for the provision of ICES, with an initial period of 5 years, 
with one plus one year extension periods;  

iii. Approve Recommendation iii, as detailed in Part 2; 

iv. Delegate to the Director of Adult Services, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Adult 
Care & Health Services, the Assistant Director of Governance & Contracts, the Director of 
Finance and the Director of Corporate Services, authorisation to extend the contract for up to 
two years. 

v. Continue to approve the annual Consortium membership fee (value detailed in Part 2).  

 

 

 

 

Page 82



Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 

1. Summary of Impact: Continued membership of London Consortium and a new call-off contract award to 
deliver the necessary equipment to enable people to live safely in their own home.  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Transformation Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy  

2. Making Bromley Even Better Priority:  
 For children and young People to grow up, thrive and have the best life chances in families who 

flourish and are happy to call Bromley home. 

  For adults and older people to enjoy fulfilled and successful lives in Bromley, ageing well, 
retaining independence and making choices.   

 To manage our resources well, providing value for money, and efficient and effective services for 
Bromley’s residents.  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Detailed in Part 2  
2. Ongoing costs: Detailed in Part 2 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Assessment and Care Management 
4. Total current budget for this head: £2,326k 
5. Source of funding: Adult Social Care revenue budget, ICB contribution and Better Care Fund 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):  Not Applicable    
2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: Not Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement - Care Act 2014. (Children’s equipment is covered by the 
Children Act 1989 and the Chronically Sick and disabled Persons Act 1970), NHS Act 2006 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: The London Community Equipment Consortium 

completed a tender exercise to identify a preferred supplier for the new single provider framework 
and call-off contracts for the Consortium member boroughs. The Framework Agreement is 
planned to commence on 1st April 2023 for a period of five years, with an option to extend for a 

further two years (maximum term of 7 years).  
________________________________________________________________________________ 

  
 

Property  
 

1. Summary of Property Implications: Not Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Carbon Reduction and Social Value  
 

1. Summary of Carbon Reduction/Sustainability Implications: Please see 8.1 
________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 83



Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users or customers (current and projected):  An estimate of 46,346 activities 
and services delivered per annum, including equipment deliveries, collections, joint visits, servicing and 
repairs etc.   

________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments: None 

 
  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

Page 84



3. COMMENTARY 
 

3.1 Local authorities in England have a statutory duty to plan for the provision of certain home-based 
services, including disability aids and community equipment, to meet the assessed eligible needs 
of those individuals who are ordinarily resident in their area. As with most other local authorities, 
the Council and the then Bromley Primary Care Trust (which then became part of South East 
London CCG and is now the Soth East Londong Integrated Care Board)  set up a combined 
Integrated Community Equipment Service. The agreement, made under Section 256 of the NHS 
Act 2006, highlighted that “The community equipment contract is an important element in delivering 
on that objective allowing both health and social care professionals to quickly order items for loan 
such as hoists, beds, commodes etc. which can support early discharge from hospital or prevent 
the need for a hospital admission in the first instance.” 
 

3.2 The Community Equipment contract in Bromley is currently delivered by Medequip Assistive 
Technology Ltd through the London Consortium Membership. Loan equipment is ordered online 
from the directory of items by named ‘prescribers’ via the Medequip IT system. The directory 
contains ‘global’ stock items i.e. those provided within the Consortium contract, plus ‘local’ stock 
items which the Bromley Equipment Operational Group has agreed. Bespoke or specialist items 
can also be purchased from Medequip.  

 
3.3 The current community equipment system enables monitoring of prescribing by organisations, 

teams or by individual prescribers.  As is the case across the country, the greater proportion of 
equipment is ordered by healthcare professionals. The quantity of community equipment loans has 
been steadily rising, responding to a greater focus on supporting timely hospital discharges and 
demand from home-based care. Demand is also driven by our ageing population. 

3.5    Bromley Council joined the Consortium in October 2011, following Executive’s agreement to take 
part in the joint partnership. There are currently twenty one London Boroughs, including Bromley, 
within the Consortium partnership, making it the largest community equipment consortium in the 
UK and Europe. South East London ICB and the Council have a joint arrangement via a Section 
75 agreement to use the call-off contract with Medequip to meet its community equipment 
requirements. This enables named health professionals from Bromley Healthcare, King’s NHS 
Trust (PRUH) and Oxleas, plus St Christopher’s to order equipment directly from Medequip. Items 
above a certain value must be authorised by a designated manager. 

 
3.6  The Consortium operates a Framework contract with Medequip, held by the Bi-Borough 

arrangement, (Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster City Council) with 
whom Bromley and each member local authority has a call-off contract. The four-year contract with 
1+1 extension is due to end on 31 March 2023, and there are no further permissible options to 
extend the contract. As the Lead Commissioning organisation for the Consortium, the Bi-borough 
arrangement has been leading on re-tendering the Framework, in order to have a new contract in 
place by 1st April 2023. The Consortium-led Tender Exercise has been concluded and the 
successful provider for the new contract has been determined. Details of the procurement exercise 
process are included in Part 2 of this report.   

 
3.7 The recommendations in 2.2 i-iii above are presented because a decision from Council Members 

from the respective Consortium boroughs is required, in order to finalise the new Framework 
Agreement. However, it should be noted that consent to proceed via the London Consortium was 
previously granted by Bromley Executive in July 2021, on the basis that all Consortium members 
would support the outcome of the tender. 

 
3.8 The community equipment market has remained a complex environment nationally, while the 

additional challenges and disruptions experienced due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, as well as the 
transition to post-Brexit have led to short term price rises, due to continued pressure on the supply 
chain. The Executive approval of the one year extension in 2020, allowed for the Framework to 
observe prices, with the hope this would stabilise before the re-procurement exercise, and therefore 
reduce the risk of higher than expected price increases to be submitted as part of the tender 
process.  
 

Page 85



3.9 Because it is difficult to efficiently determine whether equipment has been provided due to a health 
or social care need and because over time the purpose of someone’s equipment needs may 
change, the basis for contributing to this has been agreed at 60:40 basis for the ICB and LBB 
respectively.   
 

3.10 The new service specification was developed to address a number of inefficiencies experienced 
during the current contract period and to drive forward the quality of the provider’s performance 
and improved contract monitoring and reporting. It is anticipated that the new model’s costs will be 
partially offset by a reduction in use of the higher cost emergency out of hours activity fee. There 
will be a new “On Time In Full” KPI, which will require the provider to ensure that all deliveries and 
other activities are completed within the time window specified by the Prescriber and that all 
equipment is delivered clean, in good working order and no missing parts. Failure to achieve this 
will require the provider to cascade the activity fee to the actual completed tariff and any re-work 
will be at the provider’s expense. Failure to achieve the KPIs will result in service credits being 
applied.  

 
3.11 The Consortium will also be taking the lead in reviewing the equipment catalogue and working 

directly with the supply chain and the service provider to maximise the Consortium’s buying power. 
The Consortium Team will be working with the member Boroughs to take measures locally to 
mitigate the risk of increased equipment expenditure and use of high-cost activity tariffs to ensure 
appropriate clinical oversight of equipment provision and effective contract management of their 

call-off contracts. 

 
4.     Tender Exercise 

 
4.1  The London Consortium Framework contract is due to end on 31st March 2023. The London 

Consortium tender was published in May 2022 utilising the procurement portal CapitalEsourcing, 
in order to identify a preferred supplier for the new single provider framework and call-off contracts 
for the Consortium member boroughs, including Bromley. The procurement process for the ICES 
was conducted in the name of the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC) with 
Westminster City Council (WCC) acting as co-lead with RBKC and the tender followed the ‘Open 
Procedure’.  

 
4.2    A summary of the results of the evaluation process are detailed in the Part 2 Report. 

 
4.3    The Tender Evaluation Panel consisted of representatives from some of the Consortium member 

authorities (including Bromley), as well as the Consortium Management team and Consortium 
Clinicians, representing areas of Information Governance, Adults Social Care, Finance, 
Commissioning and Procurement. 
 

4.4   The Framework Agreement for the new service is planned to commence on 1st April 2023 for a 
period of five years, with an option to extend for a further two years on a 1+1 basis (maximum term 
of 7 years). This exceeds the usual 4 year rule as prescribed in PCR 33(3) of PCR, in order to 
maximise the opportunities to further develop ICES for its customers during the lifetime of the 
arrangement and to deliver value for money.  

 
 
 

5 CONTRACT AWARD RECOMMENDATION 

 
5.1 Recommended Provider - Detailed in Part 2 

 
5.2 Estimated Contract Value (annual and whole life) – Detailed in Part 2 

 
5.3 Other Associated Costs – Detailed in Part 2  

 
5.4 Proposed Contract Period –   Total Contract period is for 5 years, with the option to extend for 

a further 2 years (on a 1 plus 1 basis). 
 

Page 86



5.5 The conclusion of the Tender experienced slight delays due to the complexity and high value of 
the tender, as well as the need for clarification of questions submitted during the Tender activities. 
Further delays have occurred due to legal processes that have arisen, following the Tender 
outcome. 

 
 
5.7      Contract Mobilisation  

 
The Consortium will continue to review resources needed to successfully complete mobilisation 
and support local contracts. The Mobilisation period will focus on:  

 Providing a matrix template (product and speed groups) for members 

 Aligning the catalogue, including legacy stock 

 Review recycled specials; what can be kept, what could be disposed of.  
 Data tidying; products on site, deceased service users, duplicate records 

 
Mobilisation will also include: 

 Workshops focusing on the KPI section of the new contract 

 Producing a contract manual with local contract management and operational guidance. 

 Creating PowerBI reports for local reporting 

 Prescriber training (IT and products) 
 
 

6 MARKET CONSIDERATIONS 

 
6.1 As detailed in 3.7 
 
6.2      The Consortium undertook a stakeholder engagement/workshop prior to activating the Tender, 

which was attended by 7 providers, including manufacturers. 3 main providers continued to 
engage in the clarification stage of the Tender and participated in the process. More details are 
included in Part 2. 

 
 

7. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
7.1   Bromley Commissioning in partnership with Bromley Healthwatch undertook a Community 

Equipment Survey aimed at gathering service users’ and carers’ feedback on service provision 
by Medequip. The survey closed on 22nd July and a full summary of findings is due to be published 
by Bromley Healthwatch.  Initial findings shared by Bromley Healthwatch indicate that 72.5% of 
the respondents found the use of their community equipment helpful in maintaining their 
independence, and 90% of the respondents had a positive experience with equipment 
delivery/installation in their homes.   

 
7.2   Further consultation with local residents will be undertaken by Commissioning Officers in 

collaboration with Operational colleagues, following the new contract arrangements post-April 
2023, to establish levels of service user satisfaction during the first 12 months of the new service 
provision.    

 
8.  SUSTAINABILITY AND IMPACT ASSESSMENTS 

 
8.1 The Consortium seeks to enhance Social Value as part of its procurement process. In procuring 

this Service, the Consortium wishes to use its combined responsibility under the Public Services 
(Social Value) Act 2012 to seek wider local economic and community benefits from the Contract 
over its life.  

 
            The areas where social value is a priority for this contract include the following:  

 Local environment 

 Targeted recruitment, training and contracting 

Page 87



 Other social value offers – this could include sponsorship of community initiatives 
within any borough that forms part of the Consortium e.g., Schools’ Clean Air 
projects, donations of resources and/or skilled volunteering. 
 

The Consortium requires the Service Provider to appoint a nominated Social Value Lead by 
contract commencement, to work with Consortium member boroughs to deliver community 
benefit and to find creative and mutually acceptable ways in which Social Value can be further 
enhanced during the life of the contract.  
 

 
 

 9. POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 
 

9.1 A key objective for both health and social care is to support the independence of vulnerable 
people in the community and is in line with Bromley’s strategic priority to ensure that people with 
care and support needs, and those whose circumstances make them vulnerable, can live their 
lives to the full and are protected from avoidable harm. (Care Services Portfolio Plan 2018-22). 

 
9.2 The ICES contract is an important element in delivering this objective, by allowing health and 

social care professionals to order equipment such as beds, hoists, commodes and walking 
frames, which can support timely discharge from hospital, prevent hospital admissions and avoid 
increased care packages. 

 
9.3 The London Borough of Bromley and its local health partners are signed up to the Bromley 

Alliance, whose principles are to work towards a share vision of integrated service provision, to 
commit to delivery of systems outcomes regarding clinical matters, service user experience and 
financial matters, and to commit to common processes, protocols and other systems inputs. 

 
9.4      This service meets the Strategic Plan Ambitions:  

 For children and young People to grow up, thrive and have the best life chances in families 
who flourish and are happy to call Bromley home. 

 For adults and older people to enjoy fulfilled and successful lives in Bromley, ageing well, 
retaining independence and making choices.   

 To manage our resources well, providing value for money, and efficient and effective 
services for Bromley’s residents.  

 
 
 
10. IT AND GDPR CONSIDERATIONS 

 

10.1 The contract will reflect the Council’s policy regarding data protection and comply with legal 
requirements. 

 
 

11.  PROCUREMENT RULES 
 

11.1 The service is seeking to award a Call-Off Contract to the successful bidder, as part of the London 
Community Equipment Consortium, hosted by the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea. 

 
11.2 The Tender for this was undertaken in compliance with the UK Procurement Regulations 2015, 

with relevant notices to follow. This Call-off, will also require the relevant Contracts Finder and 
Find A Tender notices to be completed. 

 
11.3 This is in compliance with Section 3.5 and  7.4 of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, in 

consultation with the Head of Procurement regarding the use of the Framework. 
 
11.4  A call off contract duration of 5 years, plus 2 extension periods of up to 1 year are permitted under 

the terms of the framework.  
 

Page 88



11.5 The Council’s Contract Procedure rules require the following for authorising an award via a 
framework for a contract of this value; the Approval of the Executive following Agreement by the 
Chief Officer, the Assistant Director Governance & Contracts, the Director of Corporate Services 
and the Director of Finance must be obtained. 

 
11.6 The actions identified in this report are provided for within the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, 

and the proposed actions can be completed in compliance with their content. 
 
 
 

12. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 

12.1 Financial considerations are detailed in the Part 2 report.  

 

13.  PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS 
 

13.1 N/A - Bromley Borough employed staff are not affected by this Tender. 
 

 

14. LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
14.   

14.1 This report requests Members approve the award of a “call-off” contract for the provision of ICES, 
under the London Consortium Framework Agreement, for an initial period of 5 years with 
contractual extension options of one plus one.   As the value of the award of this contract is above 
one million pounds then the approval of the Executive is required.   

 
14.2 As is referenced in this report, there is a raft of legislation that requires local authorities to provide 

access to community equipment services to its residents and the award of this “call-off” contract 
will meet  these statutory requirements.  The supplies and services are to be jointly commissioned 
by the London Borough of Bromley and the Integrated Commissioning Board under the proposed 
contractual framework. 

 
14.3 Under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (the “Regulations”), the procurement of these 

supplies and services is a public contract.  As the value exceeds the relevant threshold under the 
Regulations the Council would be required to carry out a fully compliant procurement exercise. 
The Regulations, however, accept compliance where the Council “call-off” from an legally 
compliant framework which is expressed as being available to the Council and is used within the 
rules set up by the framework. The Council intend to procure from the London Consortuium 
Framework Agreement which is a single supplier framework agreement recently awarded by the 
lead boroughs of Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster.  

 
14.4 After contract award, a standstill period should be observed as per the Regulations. Legal 

Services have recently been instructed in this procurement and will assist officers in concluding 
the contractual documentation once the standstill period has expired. 

 

 

Non-Applicable Sections:  

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 

Officer) 

 

 

Page 89



This page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
ACH23-001 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: ADULT CARE AND HEALTH POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Date:  24 January 2023 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 

 

Non-Executive 

 

Non-Key 

 

Title: BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD 2021/22 ANNUAL 
REPORT 

Contact Officer: Bulent Djouma, Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Manager  
Adult Services, London Borough Bromley  

Tel:  020 8313 4176   E-mail: bulent.djouma@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Kim Carey, Director of Adult Services  

Tel:  020 8313 4004 Email: Kim.Carey@bromley.gov.uk 

Ward: Borough-wide 

 

1. Reason for report 

1.1  The purpose of this report is to provide Members with an overview of Bromley Safeguarding 

Adults Board’s (BSAB) 2021/22 Annual Report. Under the S43 (1) of the Care Act 2014 the 
Local Authority is required to establish a Safeguarding Adults Board. The primary objective of 
the Board is to help and protect adults in Bromley by co-ordinating and ensuring the 

effectiveness of Board partners. The Board has an unrestricted remit in what it is able to do to 
achieve its objectives.  

1.2  The Board is required, under Schedule 2 (4) the Care Act 2014 to produce an annual report 
outlining its achievements and those of its members in relation to the Board’s strategic 
objectives. The Board must send a copy of the annual report to the Chief Executive of London 

Borough of Bromley, the Leader of the Council, the Bromley Metropolitan Police Service 
Borough Commander, CEO NHS South East London Integrated Care System (Bromley), Chair 

of the Health and Wellbeing Board and Healthwatch. 
 
1.3  Under section 44 of the Care Act the Board is required to publish any findings and 

recommendations from any Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) undertaken. The Board took 
the decision in February 2019 to commission a SAR relating to a care home in the borough, the 

initial findings in February 2021 was followed by further enquiry action overseen by BSAB’s 
Independent Chair, which concluded in July2021. The Board also commissioned another SAR 
and agreed the commissioning of another two SARs at the end of year, the findings of which will 

be referenced in next year’s report. 
 

1.4 The Board is also required to develop and publish a strategic plan setting out how they will meet 
their objectives and how their member and partner agencies will contribute to these. The Board 
held a Business Development Day in October 2021 to review its current position by reflecting on 

the BSAB 2020-23 Strategy, and to determine the forward 2022-24 Business Plan.  The annual 

Page 91

Agenda Item 10

mailto:bulent.djouma@bromley.gov.uk
mailto:Kim.Carey@bromley.gov.uk


  

2 

report outlines the work achieved in relation to the Board’s priority areas as outlined in its 
strategy.   

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1  The Adult Care and Health PDS Committee is requested to take note of the Bromley 

Safeguarding Adults Board’s 2021/22 Annual Report. 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 

 
1. Summary of Impact: The Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board works to ensure that safeguarding 

arrangements act to help vulnerable adults in Bromley and prevent abuse and neglect where 

possible.  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy: The Board is a statutory requirement under S43 of the Care Act 

2014. 
 

2. BBB Priority: Safe Bromley Supporting Independence  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Safeguarding Adults Board 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: Not Applicable 
 

5. Source of funding: Grant Funding 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): The team is staffed by a full-time Safeguarding Adults 
Board Manager and a part-time Board Administrator. The Board contracts an Independent Chair 
to lead the work of the Board; this post is committed to two working days a month (total 24days 

a year).  
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: Not Applicable   

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement : It is the Board’s statutory duty to produce an 

Annual Report under Schedule 2 (4) the Care Act 2014. 
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable:  No Executive decision 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: The Board completed the procurement of an 
independent website for the BSAB in 2020; there are annual running costs of £500 associated 

with this. The Board will also need to consider procurement implications for Safeguarding Adults 
Reviews (SARs) when these are required under section 44 of the Care Act.   

Page 92



  

3 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): All Bromley residents.  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  Not Applicable 

Page 93



  

4 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1  Teresa Bell is the Independent Chair of the Board having taken on this role in January 2021.  

The Board fulfils its statutory obligations in ensuring that representatives from NHS South East 
London Integrated Care System (Bromley) and the Metropolitan Police Service attend the 
Board. The Board is facilitated by a broad range of representatives from across the Borough, 

including from the private, voluntary, and independent (PVI) sectors, as well as a Lay Member. 
 

3.2 The Board’s 2021/22 Annual Report provides information regarding the work that has been 
undertaken during the year. Specific reference is made to the following key priority areas, 
domestic abuse, financial abuse, self-neglect, modern day slavery, transitional care of children 

into adulthood, and vulnerable adults in specialist care & residential homes. 
 

3.3 The Board’s partners have provided information on their work in respect of adult safeguarding 
and their agency contribution to this. Further information is provided outlining the safeguarding 
picture in Bromley, adult safeguarding statistics, the Board’s governance structure and the work 

of its subgroups. 
 

3.4 The report acknowledges the learning from its second Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) and 
the commissioning of a further three learning reviews. It also outlines how the work of the SAR 
subgroup contributes to wider learning for the partnership, in particular learning from regional 

and national SARs. A SAR library is of reviews carried out by other SABs is now available on 
the BSAB website. 

 

3.5 The Board is required to collect safeguarding data and submit this to the NHS Digital 
Safeguarding Adults Collection (SAC). The information provided helps NHS Digital gain an 

understanding of the safeguarding landscape for England. This data is outlined in the report 
appendices.  

 

3.6 As part of the BSAB’s inclusivity agenda, the Board has also produced the annual report, and 
developed a number of resources, in easy read format; this was done in consultation with 

members of the BSAB’s Communications and Service User Engagement Group (CSUEG).  
 

Page 94



www.bromleysafeguardingadults .org

2021 TO 2022

ANNUAL
REPORT

Page 95



By listening we
will empower all
communities to
work together to
prevent abuse and
neglect

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 20222

Please note:
Some percentages will add up to more than 100% due to rounding.
All photos are stock imagery.

Page 96



Contents

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 3

Executive
summary

4
Foreword

8
Who lives

in Bromley?

10

Who uses services
in Bromley?

12
Our key
priorities

14
Work of our
subgroups

29

Work of our
core members
and partners

40
Key priorities
for 2022-23

52
Appendix 1
Membership

54

Appendix 2
Data collection

56
Appendix 3

BSAB partner
contributions

66
Appendix 4
Glossary of
acronyms

76

Page 97



Although partner relationships are strengthened, with the ability and ease of regularly
connecting with one another via virtual means, we remained conscious of ensuring that
we assess the impact COVID-19 had on our community, partner agencies and system
pressures, whilst still seeking assurance of our statutory safeguarding obligations. 

We maintained business as usual through regular partnership working, strategic business
planning and coordination. To this end, we started the year by planning a business
development day to be held in October 2021. By using the pan-London Safeguarding
Adults Partnership Audit Tool (SAPAT), we were able to meet and collectively reflect on
our current position as a Board. The findings from this event enabled us to seek assurance
from partners of their safeguarding practices, conduct a temperature check on how we are
achieving our existing key priorities, as well as identify areas for further development,
which we have incorporated in our new business plan for 2022 to 2024.  

Executive
summary

We begin the year accustomed to a different way of
working, ensuring business continuity as we start to exit the
pandemic, with local support services resuming as best they
can. 

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 20224

We noted a drop in safeguarding referrals and
those that led to Section 42 enquiries this year,
this was due to an improved triaging process,
therefore it was expected that these numbers
would drop. 

A reduction in the length of time that an enquiry
remains open across reporting years is also a
contributing factor to this. Anecdotal evidence
also suggests referrals are lower due to better
service user rapport and preventative measures,
which is also in line with expectations. 

The Council's Adult Social Care
service is responsible for
considering all safeguarding
adult concerns and must make
enquiries, or cause others to do
so, if it believes an adult is
experiencing, or is at risk of,
abuse or neglect

Care Act 2014:
Section 42 enquiries

Page 98



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 5

One of our aims for the year was to explore methods of engaging with service users and
embed learning where possible, we therefore connected with the wider London network
and Bromley was one of a small number of boroughs who became a member of the
London Safeguarding Voices Group (LSVG), led by London ADASS (Association of
Directors of Adult Social Services) and Kingston Healthwatch. Findings from this piece of
work fed into local and national Safeguarding Adults Boards (SABs) discussions. This
enabled us to identify the benefits and need of further engaging with the community. 

To further strengthen our relationship with regional Safeguarding Adults Boards (SABs) so
that we can provide a rich offer of information and resources locally, we led on compiling
the annual Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week programme across south east London
(Bexley, Greenwich, Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark). This received regional and
national recognition by other SABs.   

Executive summary

Safeguarding awareness promotional material 

Our safeguarding awareness promotional material was further developed and are now
available in digital and printed format, with the message of our thematic priority areas
produced in easy-read format. 

We were also, for the first time, able to produce our previous year’s annual report in 
easy-read format as part of our objective to be more inclusive. 

Our annual report in easy-read

Page 99



The Board’s website remains as the
main source of information on adult
safeguarding for service users,
volunteers, and professionals. This is
regularly updated to include access to a
variety of resources (including training)
as well as information on emerging
safeguarding matters. 

The BSAB website received recognition
by the local partnership for being easy
to access and navigate.

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 20226

Our website bromleysafeguardingadults.org

Executive summary

We remained vigilant on how global calamities have an impact on us locally, such as the
Afghanistan refugee crisis, and therefore sought assurance from our statutory partners,
with the Director of Housing leading on response when needed for Bromley. A regional
response was the development of a safeguarding framework for south east London.

Safeguarding awareness promotional
material in Ukrainian and in English

We also responded to the war in
Ukraine crisis, producing a
general safeguarding awareness
poster translated in Ukrainian,
which was included in the
welcome pack as part of the local
Homes for Ukraine scheme. 

We also developed a news
webpage dedicated to this crisis,
signposting all visitors to relevant
information and resources. 

We ended the year by finalising the completion of an organisational Safeguarding Adult
Review (SAR), a complex yet beneficial process. We ensured that any learning that arose
during the process was shared, and proposed changes endorsed by the Board were
implemented. 

Page 100



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 7

Executive summary

Page 101



Foreword 

Our annual report shows what the Board aimed to achieve during 2021 to 2022 and what
we have been able to achieve. It provides a summary of who is safeguarded in Bromley, in
what circumstances and why. This helps us to know what we should be focussing on for
the future in terms of who might be most at risk of abuse and neglect and how we might
work together to support people who are most vulnerable to those risks.  

The past twelve months have offered little respite from the significant and sustained
pressures placed upon local services.  The COVID-19 pandemic continued to compound
existing challenges throughout the year, particularly over the winter months. In line with
its statutory mandate, the BSAB has sought and obtained assurance regarding how
services have worked effectively together to safeguard people from abuse and neglect. 
 Alongside this, we are seeing the new challenges presented by the impacts of global
issues. These have ranged from evacuees from Afghanistan and Ukraine, through to
soaring living costs resulting from the national and global economic situation. Despite
these external challenges and operational pressures, adult safeguarding remains a priority
for all partners, who continue to contribute creatively and positively to the collective work
of BSAB. 

I am pleased to welcome you to the Bromley Safeguarding
Adults Board (BSAB) annual report. 

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 20228

By Teresa Bell,
Independent Chair

Page 102



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 9

One of the statutory responsibilities of a SAB required by the Care Act 2014 is to
commission Safeguarding Adult Reviews, where the criteria are met. During 2020 to 2021,
the Board finalised a lengthy and complex organisational review of a residential care
home, which has since closed. Partners acknowledged that there would be lessons to be
learned for the future from the experience of residents and commissioned the
independent review to understand where actions might be taken to ensure better
outcomes in the future.  Learning from reviews and audits is a priority for the Board and
we monitor the resulting recommended actions for improvements to services, systems and
partnership working to ensure that these are embedded and maintained. 

I am privileged to work with such a dynamic and committed group of partners and would
like to thank everyone who has engaged in the work of the Board, for their considerable
time and effort. 

My particular thanks go to the small but excellent BSAB Team, as well as to the Chairs of
the BSAB Sub-Groups who do so much to ensure that our ambitions for safeguarding in
Bromley can be achieved.

Foreword

Page 103



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202210

Who lives
in Bromley?

Bromley is an outer London borough, located in south east
London. Bromley is the 6th largest London borough.

At approximately 58 square miles it is 30% larger than the next largest borough. Although
Bromley is a relatively prosperous area, the communities within Bromley differ
substantially. 

330,000
people live here

[Source 1]

making Bromley the joint

largest London borough
6thKENT

CROYDON

SURREY

LAMBETH

BEXLEY

BROMLEY

TO CENTRAL
LONDON

TO KENT
COUNTRYSIDE

SOUTHWARK

LEWISHAM

GREENWICH

The north east and north west of the borough contend with similar issues (such as higher
levels of deprivation and disease prevalence) to those found in the bordering inner London
boroughs (Greenwich, Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark), while in the south, Bromley
compares more with rural Kent and its issues [Source 2].

Sources:
[1] Census 2021 first results www.bromley.gov.uk/census
[2] Demography JSNA Chapter Update 2021 www.bromley.gov.uk/downloads/file/1387/demography-jsna-update-chapter-2021

Page 104



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 11

24% 18%

are aged
65 or over

are aged
19 or under 

52%
are female

13,500
more female than
male residents

which means
that there are

[Source 1]

aged 90
and over 

3,400+

Proportion of older people aged 65 and over:

in 2021
17.8%

in 2031
20.2%

in 2025
18.7%

Proportion of working aged (16 to 64 years):

in 2021
62.9%

in 2031
61.1%

in 2025
62.4%

[Source 1]

[Source 2]

are from
White heritage

79%
designated as

green belt land

51%
households
135,036

least deprived
London borough

4th

[Source 3]

Sources:
[3] Early Help Strategy for children (aged from birth to 18) and their families: Our vision for 2030

Who lives in Bromley?

Page 105



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202212

Who uses services
in Bromley?

15,995
people accessed services
from Bromley Well

7,421
of these were
new clients

10,073 
came via Bromley Well
call centre 

[Source 4]

Sources:
[4] Bromley Third Sector Enterprise (BTSE)
[5] Bromley Council Adult Social Care reporting dashbaord

1,521 
referrals from elderly
and frail people 

961
referrals to handyperson
service 

391
referrals for adult carers
support 

3,357
referrals were made
to the Council’s
adult social services

this is significantly lower than last year due to the change of internal IT systems, 
where now multiples for same issue are no longer recorded

2,848
people aged 18+ accessing
long-term support on average
per month 

189
new admissions into
Nursing or Residential
care for adults aged 65+

[Source 5]

Page 106

https://btse.org.uk/


50% reduction from 2020/21

[Source 5]

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 13

554
safeguarding
concerns received

234
of these went on to be
Section 42 Enquiries

This reduction is likely due
to improved triaging
procedures preventing
unnecessary enquiries being
raised, as well as a reduction
in the length an Enquiry
remains open running on
across financial reporting
periods.

126
safeguarding
enquiries concluded

[Source 5]

Who uses services in Bromley?

Page 107



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202214

Our key
priorities

By listening
we will empower
all communities

to work
together to

prevent abuse
and neglect

Domestic
abuse

Financial
abuse

Self-
neglect

specialist
care

Becoming
an Adult

Modern day
slavery

Page 108



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 15

This year, in addition to focusing our work on our thematic priorities below, we wanted to
ensure we continued to build on the positive partnership working across the Board. We
included all partners in an annual business development day, where we used the 
pan-London Safeguarding Adults Partnership Audit Tool (SAPAT) to obtain the voice of all
BSAB members so we could conduct a temperature check on our current safeguarding
practises as a Board. The findings from this informs our 2022 to 2024 Business Plan,
which also embeds prevention. 

Our regular subgroup meetings looked at local safeguarding matters as well as
incorporating wider discussions held at Board and national level, helping to shape
individual workplans. One example was to ask members of our Performance, Audit and
Quality (PAQ) subgroup to complete Mental Capacity Audits, the findings of which were
to be discussed to identify any learning.

To further strengthen existing relationships, we held frequent meetings with core partners
to discuss any current and emerging issues, in particular where pressures are identified, as
well as highlight things that are working well. One example was discussing how the
Government Winter Plan funds are being used well with providers, as well as having a
multi-agency system in place to monitor providers and offer help if needed.  Other areas
identified was how health staff continue to work on different pathways to avert hospital
admissions.

Working across all local partnerships was important to us, we therefore resumed working
closely with the Bromley Safeguarding Children’s Partnership, Bromley Health and
Wellbeing Board and the Bromley Safer Partnership, by holding joint meetings throughout
the year. In doing so, we were able to map the work and priorities of each Board to
identify potential opportunities to work together and support one another with, which
further strengthened the synergy across Boards.

Our partnership working continued by partnering with other London Safeguarding Adults
Boards (SABs); we led with the development of a joint south east London schedule for the
2021 Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week together with Bexley, Greenwich, Lambeth,
Lewisham and Southwark. 

Towards the end of the year, we were proud to announce that Bromley was the winner of
the ‘Care and Health Integration Award’ at the finals of the prestigious MJ Achievement
Awards in September 2021. Two care and health initiatives developed in Bromley
received national recognition in the awards: the improved way residents leave hospital
and receive the help they need to recover; and the wide-ranging support given to the
borough’s care homes during the COVID-19 pandemic. This initiative was also shortlisted
as a nominee at National Safeguarding Adults Board, ‘We See You – We Hear You’
excellence awards ceremony. 

Our key priorities

Page 109



Our key priorities

6%

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202216

Domestic
abuse

Priority 1

Domestic abuse affects people of every age, race, disability, gender, or sexuality, and can
either be physical, emotional, sexual, or financial, or it can be a combination of all of these. It
can include an incident or a pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive, degrading,
threatening and violent behaviour.

Domestic abuse is not only towards a partner, but it can also take place between family
members or by carers. Although most domestic abuse is committed by men towards women,
there are an increasing number of victims who are men. 

Domestic abuse accounted
for 6% of all concluded
safeguarding enquiries
during 2021/22, this is up
from 3% in the previous
year.

of safeguarding
enquiries were for
domestic abuse 

In response we have:

Continued to develop and update the dedicated
Domestic Abuse webpage on our website.

Raised awareness of local and national support
services for victims of domestic abuse, including
support offered to male victims.

Developed resources in easy-read format that raise
awareness of spotting the signs of domestic abuse
and what to do.

Included local support contact information in our new
‘Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults’ pocket guide.

Worked together with Domestic Abuse leads to
develop our multi-agency Domestic Abuse policy.

Developed a new Safeguarding Adults Managers
Masterclass (level 4) where learning from Domestic
Homicide Reviews (DHRs) is embedded in the course.

Page 110



Developed a new Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) Awareness course which
considers the interface between SARs and DHRs (Domestic Homicide Reviews).

Provided a range of other domestic abuse training for professionals; Domestic
Abuse and Coercive Control, Domestic Abuse and the Effects on Children,
Domestic Abuse: Intermediate Level, Ending Harmful Practices, and Stalking
Awareness.

We ensured that completing the online MeLearning Domestic Abuse course was a
prerequisite in order to register for the wider BSAB training programme.

Promoted Domestic Abuse related learning sessions delivered by Bromley and
Bexley during our annual Safeguarding Adults Awareness week.

Promoted online domestic abuse related webinars, Working with Male Victims of
Domestic Abuse.

Raised awareness of Domestic Abuse Pathways in Bromley, and the enactment of
The Domestic Abuse Act 2021, via the Practitioners Library on our website.

Our partners ensured that health representation is effective and visible through the
Domestic Abuse (DA) victim/survivor journey.

Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults: 
Quick Reference Guide

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 17

Our key priorities

Domestic abuse awareness
promotional material in
easy read format

Page 111



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202218

Our key priorities

Financial
abuse

Priority 2

Financial abuse is often hard to detect as it is a type of abuse that can start subtly and can
take many forms. This can be someone taking or misusing someone else’s money or
belongings for their own gain and the perpetrator is often known to the victim. Online fraud
is another type of financial abuse and is often disguised in fake emails and texts. 

16%

Financial abuse accounted
for 16% of safeguarding
enquiries during 2021/22,
which is up from 13%
compared with the previous
year.

of safeguarding
enquiries were for
financial abuse

In response we have:

Updated our subgroup workplans to include ‘financial
abuse’ as a priority.

Included local support contact information in our new
‘Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults’ pocket guide.

Continued to develop and update the dedicated a
webpage to Trading Standards on our website.

Promoted the regular ‘Trading Standards Alert’
newsletters via our website and Twitter account,
giving the community the option to sign-up to these
directly.

Raised awareness of other financial scamming related
matters on our Twitter account.

Raised awareness of the different types of financial
scams prevalent in Bromley, these include phone
scams, postal scams, cold callers, doorstep crime,
cleaning services, courier fraud, and COVID-19
related fraud.

Page 112



Promoted a learning session for
professionals on ‘Tackling
Financial’ delivered by Lewisham
during the national Safeguarding
Adults Awareness week.

Promoted two webinar learning
sessions on ‘Could you spot a loan
shark?’ and ‘A loan shark victim’s
journey’ via our website.

Continued working with partners
to identify emerging types of
financial scams to raise awareness
of these with the community.

Promoted the availability of our online ‘Hoarding and Scamming’ course offered via
the MeLearning web portal.

Developed a bespoke course to raise awareness of financial scamming for those
who have a learning disability.

Ran a learning session for professionals on ‘Scams and Financial Abuse’ during our
annual Safeguarding Adults Awareness week.

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 19

Our key priorities

Our trading standards webpage
bromleysafeguardingadults.org/p/
how-we-can-help/trading-standards

Page 113



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202220

Our key priorities

Self-neglect

Priority 3

Self-neglect is a behavioural condition in which an individual neglects to attend to their
basic needs, such as personal hygiene, appropriate clothing, feeding, or tending
appropriately to any medical conditions they have. This can result in poor health and
wellbeing, as well as impacting on those surrounding the individual including the public. 
In extreme cases self-neglect can be the leading cause of an individual’s death.

10%

Self-neglect accounted for
10% of safeguarding
enquiries during 2021/22,
this is down by 10%
compared with the previous
year.

of safeguarding
enquiries were for
self-neglect

In response we have:

Continued holding regular Self-Neglect and Hoarding
Panel (SNaHP) meetings to discuss individual cases of
concern, providing professional multi-agency advice
to all agencies to help those who need support

Promoted the Complex Case pathway across south
east London Safeguarding Adults Boards during the
annual Safeguarding Adults awareness week, which
was developed together with colleagues in Lambeth
and Southwark. This was influenced by the learning
from our first Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SAR)
where self-neglect was the key theme of its
evaluation.

Conducted a learning session for professionals on
‘Impact of Self-Neglect and Hoarding on Vulnerable
Adults’ during the Safeguarding Adults awareness
week.

Page 114

https://www.scie.org.uk/safeguarding/adults/reviews/care-act


Shared learning from national Safeguarding Adult Reviews where self-neglect was
an occurring theme.

Developed resources in easy-read format that raise awareness of spotting the signs
of self-neglect and what to do.

Included local support contact information in our new ‘Safeguarding Vulnerable
Adults’ pocket guide.

Continued raising the awareness of self-neglect through various professional
safeguarding training.

Shared self-neglect awareness messages via our Twitter account.

Self-neglect leaflet

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 21

Our key priorities

Self-neglect awareness
promotional material in
easy read format

Page 115



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202222

Modern day
slavery

Priority 4

Our key priorities

Modern slavery is typically where one person has their freedoms removed from them by
another person and are severely exploited. People can be entrapped working in
unacceptable conditions in factories, serving our food, working in houses as cleaners,
nannies, or cooks. Modern slavery is all around us but often difficult to see. People can be
trafficked from other countries, as well as within the UK, to be kept as slaves. 

53

There was a total of 53
reported Modern Slavery
offences for Bromley during
2021, which was 10 more
than the previous year;
County Lines accounted for
20% of these offences, the
highest offence category for
the borough along with
drug-related crime.

reported Modern
Slavery offences

In response we have:

Published our first Modern Day Slavery and Human
Trafficking procedure, which is to safeguard adults
and children who are at risk of modern slavery and
human trafficking.

Included local support contact information in our new
‘Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults’ pocket guide.

Continued to develop and update the webpage
dedicated to Modern Day Slavery on our website.

Promoted Human Trafficking and Modern Day
Slavery online training for professionals,

Raised awareness of the tackling modern slavery in
public sector supply chains.

Promoted The Home Office Training Module for
National Referral Mechanism (NRM) First
Responders.

Page 116



Raised awareness of the issues surrounding
housing victims of Modern Day Slavery.

Promoted multi-disciplinary Modern Day
Slavery awareness training to meet the needs
of frontline and ancillary professionals
working in key agencies, such as health, social
care and the police.

Shared ‘Lived Experience-Led Modern
Slavery Training’ learning session delivered
by The Human Trafficking Foundation for
professionals to access.

Continued attending London Modern Slavery
Leads group meetings virtually and
disseminating information relevant to
Bromley.

Modern day slavery awareness
promotional material in easy
read format

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 23

Our key priorities

Page 117



Transitional
care of
children into
adulthood

Priority 5

Transitional safeguarding is an approach taken to safeguard adolescents and young people
as they prepare for their adult lives. This process can start as early as when the individual is
13-14 years of age. The aim is for there to be a continuation of care and support to meet
the needs of the individual, with minimal disruption to their way of life as they progress
from children’s support services to adults. It recognises that this period of transition will be
experienced differently by young people at different times.   

To support with this priority area, we have

Partnered with the Bromley Safeguarding Children’s Partnership (BSCP), Health and
Wellbeing Board (HWBB) and the Safer Bromley Partnership (SBP), by holding 
Inter-Board Chairs meeting throughout the year. From this, we mapped out our
individual Board’s work, identifying areas of possible joint working with a key focus on
young adults.

We reviewed case examples of young adults referred to our Safeguarding Adults
Review (SAR) committee, the findings of which led to a multi-agency table-top learning
review facilitated by the Bromley Safeguarding Children’s Partnership (BSCP). 

Promoted the availability of the revised MARAC (Multi Agency Risk Assessment
Conference) South Area Referral Form. This is a meeting where information is shared
on the highest risk domestic abuse cases between representatives of local police,
health, child protection, housing practitioners, Independent Domestic and Sexual
Violence Advocates (IDSVA’s) and other specialists.

Included information of vulnerable children and young adults in our new Modern Day
Slavery policy, which include child referral pathways.

Developed resources in easy-read format that raise awareness of support available
when moving from children services to adult services.

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202224
Page 118



Included local support contact information in our new ‘Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults’
pocket guide.

Ran a number of Domestic Abuse related training for professionals of the both the
Adults and Children’s partnerships.

Promoted the availability of PREVENT training for professionals across the wider
workforce.

Linked our BSAB training page to the online ‘Me learning’ suite of courses, giving
access to a learning session on ‘Care Act –Transition to Adulthood’. 

Promoted several Bromley Multi- Agency Partnership Events (MAPE) hosted by Early
Intervention Family Services (who support the whole family and not just children) and
supported by the Bromley Safeguarding Children Partnership, which encourages 
multi-agency partners to work together.

Promoted a learning session on ‘Working with Parental Substance Misuse Greenwich
Safeguarding Children’s Partnership’ during the Safeguarding Adults awareness week.

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 25

Our key priorities

Page 119



12%
Supported with the implementation of care and
health initiatives which improved the way residents
leave hospital and receive the help they need to
recover, with wide-ranging support given to the
borough’s care homes during the COVID-19
pandemic. This was later acknowledged as a winner
of the ‘Care and Health Integration Award’ at the MJ
Achievement Awards in September 2021.

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202226

Priority 5

Keeping all adults in specialist care and residential homes safe from abuse and neglect is
important to us. To do this, we must understand what the potential indicators of abuse and
neglect by individuals, or organisations, is within these settings. Care home providers,
managers, staff, volunteers, health, and social care practitioners working with adults in
care and residential homes always have a professional duty of care. They must also all
ensure they have a good understanding of the safeguarding process from when a concern
is first identified through to section 42 safeguarding enquiries. 

Vulnerable
adults in
specialist
care and
residential
homes

Priority 6

of safeguarding
enquiries were for
abuse that had taken
place in a care or
residential home
setting

This was 3% less than the
previous year

In response we have:

Continued to hold regular multi-agency meetings
with providers during the COVID-19 pandemic to
provide support with any needs identified.

Included local support contact information in our new
‘Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults’ pocket guide for
those in a care home setting.

Page 120



Remained informed of all changing local and national developments throughout the
year that have an impact on specialist care and residential homes, ensuring that this
information is shared with agencies swiftly and appropriately, these include publishing:

Delivered another learning session during 2021 Safeguarding Awareness Week on
Professional Curiosity, which shared learning from case studies on residents in care
home settings.

Promoted a learning session on ‘Carers and Safeguarding Briefing Note: A Resource for
People Working with Carers’, which highlights good practice, and was chaired by our
Independent Chair, Teresa Bell

Continued to promote a range of helpful services for those in care home settings via
our website, including the Keeping Well service which provides free wellbeing and
psychological support to all NHS, care/residential home staff in south east London.

Shared awareness messages relating to care home settings via our Twitter social media
feed.

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 27

Our key priorities

‘Good practice in safeguarding training’ – a quick guide for registered managers of
care homes by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence’.
‘Safe care at home review: terms of reference’ – a joint review led by the Home
Office and DHSC into the protections and support for adults abused in their own
home by people providing their care. February 2022.
‘Safeguarding adults in care homes’ – published by NICE, February 2021.
‘SCIE: Creating a safeguarding culture’ – a quick guide for registered managers of
care homes, which provides concise practical guidance on how to develop a
positive culture that encourages open conversations about safeguarding.
'SCIE: Safety and safeguarding in the care home’ – which summarises information,
advice and guidance which will support care homeowners and managers as they
develop a person-centred (or personalised) approach to care in their homes.
‘SCIE: Resident-to-resident harm in care homes and other residential settings: a
scoping review’

Page 121



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202228

Our key priorities

Page 122



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 29

Work of our subgroups

Our broader strategic plan informs the work of our
individual subgroups, although the workstream is varied,
they do not work in silo.

Often learning from one another’s subgroup, our overall achievement is identified through
the following governance structure of the Board, with our Executive Committee approving
key strategic decisions:

Work of our
subgroups

Board

Ex

ec
uti

ve committee

Communications
and Service User

Engagement Group

Performance,
Audit and
Quality

Policies and
Procedures

Safeguarding
Adults Review

Committee

Self-Neglect
and Hoarding

Panel

Training and
Awareness

Executive commit
te

e

Page 123



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202230

Work of our subgroups

Communications and Service
User Engagement Group
(CSUEG)

Rob Vale
Head of Service: Trading Standards and Commercial Regulation
Bromley Council

Chair

Key achievements

As meetings continued via a virtual platform, this made these easily accessible and
therefore resulted in an increased representation and contribution from private,
voluntary, and independent partners.  
The BSAB website remains a central point of BSAB information, which also hosts the
work produced other subgroups, such as our Policies and Procedures work. The
website is managed by the Board Manager and overseen by the members of this
subgroup. The BSAB website has direct links to the new Bromley Council website as
well as BSAB member sites. It is also a platform to raise awareness of key partner
events, such as the Bromley Learning Disabilities and Difficulties Adult Day Services in
June 2021
We recognised, via our Safeguarding Awareness Review (SAR) committee, the need to
raise further awareness of the role of a SAR and therefore produced a SAR Awareness
poster.  
The Trading Standards webpage is further developed to include all their TS Alert
newsletters, which raises awareness of current financial scams and fraud prevalent in
the borough.  
We continued with progressing with our inclusion agenda and produced awareness
posters in easy-read format, these were distributed to all our partners and made
available on our website in high resolution digital format for downloading and printing. 
We remained vigilant on how global calamities have an impact on us locally, such as
the war in Ukraine crisis, and therefore acted swiftly and appropriately. To this end,
we produced a general safeguarding awareness poster translated in Ukrainian, which
was included in the welcome pack as part of the local Homes for Ukraine scheme. We
also developed a news webpage dedicated to this crisis, signposting all visitors to
relevant information and resources. 

Page 124



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 31

Our Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults Quick pocket guide was promoted at all
appropriate opportunities, along with all other existing BSAB developed resources.
To continue with our inclusion agenda, we designed and promoted a Scams
Awareness learning session poster, courtesy of our Trading Standards colleagues, to
raise awareness of financial scamming to those with a learning disability.  
We continued to engage with other communications teams within the partnership,
such as Bromley Well and One Bromley, to raise awareness of emerging matters. 
Nationally, we are seeking opportunities to share resources to unite our safeguarding
message, we therefore promoted on our website "Tricky Friends". This is a short
animation developed by Norfolk Safeguarding Adults Board (NSAB) to help people to
understand what good friendships are, when they might be harmful, and what they
can do. 
Our Twitter social media strategy drove a number of tweets and re-tweets throughout
the year, resulting in over 700 Twitter impressions, which is a total tally of all the
times our messages are seen during this period. 
Future plans include the development of service user and community engagement
methods.

Work of our subgroups

Page 125



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202232

Performance, Audit and
Quality (PAQ) subgroup

Heather Payne
Associate Director of Safeguarding 
Bromley Healthcare

Chair

Key achievements

The subgroup workplan is regularly monitored and updated and shaped around the
thematic priorities of the Board’s strategy.
The London Safeguarding Adult Partnership Audit Tool (SAPAT) challenge/support
event was held in October 2021, which resulted in a temperature check on the BSAB’s
current position. This subgroup is overseeing the outcome of this, reporting into the
Board’s Executive. 
To seek assurance from key partners, this subgroup regularly reviews safeguarding
activities from the following agencies: Adult Services in the Council; Bromley
Healthcare; King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust; Metropolitan Police
Services; and Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust 
Areas discussed include category of abuse, outcomes, challenges, priorities, training
compliance and service updates, identifying any learning that is later disseminated to
the wider partnership. One example was identifying the need to raise more awareness
of reporting Domestic Abuse, which resulted in the promotion of Domestic Abuse
related resources. 
The group continues to monitor the progress of commissioned Safeguarding Adult
Reviews (SARs) and seeks assurance from individual stakeholders; this includes the
monitoring of recommended actions from former reviews, as well as the development
of existing SARs.
Subgroup members are carrying out Mental Capacity Act (MCA) audits within their
organisation, the finding of this will better inform local MCA practice.
Case studies are also reviewed and discussed to determine any learning, identifying
both good practise and areas of possible development. One case example resulted in
the recommendation of utilising the Complex Case pathway, where a section 42
enquiry threshold was not met, in a case of an individual making unwise decisions. 
The subgroup seeks to develop a Quality Assurance Framework and Standards as part
of its future plans and will shape meetings around the Board’s thematic priorities. 

Work of our subgroups

Page 126



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 33

Policies and Procedures
subgroup

Paul Sibun
Adult Safeguarding Manager/Mental Capacity Act Lead
South East London Integrated Care System

Chair

Key achievements

The subgroup workplan was updated to reflect the Board’s strategic objectives:
Domestic abuse, financial abuse, self-neglect, modern day slavery, transitional care of
children into adulthood, and vulnerable adults in specialist care and residential homes.
We developed and published the Board’s first Modern Day Slavery (MDS) policy, in
consultation with the Human Trafficking Foundation. It provides guidance on modern
slavery and human trafficking, summarises the National Referral Mechanism process
by which potential victims of modern slavery are formally identified and provided with
support, and provides information on available resources. 
The BSAB’s Domestic Abuse policy was reviewed and updated in light of the new
Domestic Abuse Act 2021. However, later consideration was given to only keeping
the borough-wide ‘Intergenerational Domestic Abuse Strategy for 2021 to 2024’. 
New guidance on ‘Cuckooing and Exploitation’ was developed. Cuckooing is a process
whereby criminal/s take over the homes of vulnerable adults, or young people to
facilitate exploitation. It takes its name from cuckoos who take over the nest of other
birds; he most common form of cuckooing is where drug dealers or gangs’ members
take over a person’s home and use it to store or distribute drugs.  
An equality and diversity statement was developed for all or policies, demonstrating
the Board’s commitment to create a positive culture of respect for all individuals,
including staff, patients, their families, and carers as well as community partners.
Additional national guidance and documents, such as those produced by SCIE (Social
Care Institute for Excellence) and NICE (National Institute for Health and Care
Excellence) were published in the BSAB’s practitioners library following national key
developments.  
We identified a key workstream to streamline our policies where possible, ensuring
our policies are those aimed at multiple agencies. We will also develop quick guides to
specific policies, making them easier to use as quick reference guides. 

Work of our subgroups

Page 127



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202234

Safeguarding Adults Review
(SAR) Committee 

Vicky Bailey
Detective Chief Inspector: South Basic Command Unit for Bromley, Croydon, and Sutton 
Metropolitan Police Service

Chair

Key achievements

We recognised through this subgroup the need to raise further awareness of the remit of
a Safeguarding Awareness Review (SAR) and its statutory purpose. For this reason, we
worked together with our Communications and Servicer User Engagement Group to
develop and distribute a SAR awareness poster for professionals. This is made available
for downloading and distributing via the BSAB’s website. Subsequently, the number of
SAR referrals received have increased. 

SAR referrals received are logged on an internal SAR tracker database, and each referral is
carefully reviewed by core partners, assessing whether the threshold for a Care Act
Section 44 enquiry is met, if so, these are progressed to a full learning review whilst
providing the opportunity for the referrer to be involved in the process where
appropriate.

Where SAR referrals do not meet the threshold for a SAR, the subgroup explores
opportunities for alternative learning practices, whether it is the sharing of information, or
raising awareness of certain matters.

Rosecroft Safeguarding Adults Organisational Review

This year we finalised the completion of an Organisational Safeguarding Adults Review
into Rosecroft Residential Care Home. We have published an Executive Report which
outlines the circumstances leading to review, recommendations made by the Independent
Reviewer and a summary of actions taken by BSAB partners. The initial independent
review process commenced in June 2019 and concluded in February 2021, followed by
further enquiry action overseen by BSAB’s Independent Chair, which concluded in July
2021. 

Work of our subgroups

Page 128



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 35

The review was complex and lengthy as it was subsequent to or overlapped with Section
42 Safeguarding Adults Enquiries, a Safeguarding Adults Organisational Enquiry, a
Metropolitan Police Service Investigation, and a Coroners’ Inquest. 

The aims of the Organisational Safeguarding Adults Review are to contribute to the
improved safety and wellbeing of adults at risk (in this case residents in care and nursing
homes in the borough and beyond) and, if possible, to provide a legacy and comfort to
former residents at Rosecroft and their families. 

Through a shared commitment to openness and reflective learning, involved agencies
have sought to reach an understanding of the circumstances leading to the review,
recommendations to improve services and to reduce the risk of repeat circumstances and
a shared action plan, monitored by the BSAB to implement these recommendations. 

SARs currently in progress

Towards the end of the year, we commissioned a SAR, where the main theme of the
review was possible neglect – details of which will be published once the review is
completed. However, we took the opportunity to identify learning at an early stage so
that any necessary changes in service delivery are identified/implemented without delay. 

We ended the year by agreeing to commission another two learning reviews, to take place
throughout 2022, where themes include possible self-neglect, neglect, domestic abuse,
and potential carer stress. 

Learning from SARs and related reviews

A National SAR Library was developed by the national Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB)
network, where individual SAB learning reviews are stored. A link to this is published on
the BSAB website so that professionals can have access to a range of learning reviews for
additional learning.

Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) are also monitored in the committee, and any
learning from these are shared accordingly.

Moving forward, we aim to continue identifying any learning from SAR referrals and
commissioned SARs as swiftly as possible so that necessary changes can take place
promptly. To enable this, the SAR tracker database will be further developed to capture
key information that will be shared appropriately. 

Work of our subgroups

Page 129



Training and Awareness
subgroup

Antoinette Thorne
Assistant Director of Human Resources
Bromley Council

Chair

Key achievements

Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SAR) Awareness
Safeguarding Adults Managers Masterclass (Level 4)

Financial Abuse Awareness (Hoarding and Scamming)
Multi-Agency Working 

The new 2021 to 2023 training strategy was produced. This aims to support the
development of best practice in adult safeguarding work to ensure that people, working
with adults at risk across all sectors, are able to meet the standards outlined in the London
Multi Agency Safeguarding Adults Policy and Guidance as well as the statutory
safeguarding duties introduced under the Care Act 2014. To supplement this, a training
brochure was produced for our partner agencies and their workforce and was updated
regularly. We further promoted this via the work of our Communications and Service User
Engagement Group (CSUEG). 

We introduced new courses this year as a result of needs identified via our other
subgroups, these include a session on:

We also ran and promoted the following online courses as part of our corporate Me
Learning offer:

Training attendance is evaluated throughout the year, and where low registered
attendance is identified, these courses are further promoted via the work of our CSUEG
and the BSAB website. 

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202236

Work of our subgroups

Page 130



We were proud this year to have taken the lead on compiling the annual Safeguarding
Adults Awareness Week programme across south east London (Bexley, Greenwich,
Lambeth, Lewisham and Southwark), which was promoted by each respective borough. It
was encouraging to see professional members from our neighbouring boroughs attend
sessions that were run and facilitated by Bromley. 

In addition to our varied training offer, we continued to promote awareness of national
learning sessions and webinars delivered by a variety of industry professionals. Evidence
suggests there is an ongoing appetite for this, and for wider sharing of resources
nationally.  

Moving forward, we will be completing a tendering exercise for training procurement for
2022 to 2025, which will include the evaluation of our existing training offer and their
specifications. 

Suicide prevention training will also be offered as part of the Me Learning package and
will be funded by our Public Health department, as this is an area of increased concern
identified locally and nationally. Various workshops will also be available for professionals,
which include suicide bereavement training for those supporting the bereaved. 

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 37

Work of our subgroups

Page 131



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202238

Self-Neglect and Hoarding Panel
(SNaHP)

Dr Tessa Leake (on rotation with other key members of this subgroup)
Named GP for Adult Safeguarding
South East London Integrated Care Board: Bromley Place

Chair

Key achievements

The Panel had 41 referrals between April 2021 and March 2022, which came from the
following agencies:

Use of technology such as Microsoft Teams to facilitate meetings and presenter
involvement.
Regular referrals received from a multi-agency perspective.
Providing advice and support to referrers who present the cases and giving guidance
on management of cases.
Establishing a need for a SNaHP co-ordinator to improve outcomes for this client
cohort.

To invite regular speakers and provide further education to the panel about local
hoarding resources.
The BSAB to promote the work of the panel and ensure it remains relevant.

Themes of success that we identified are:

Areas for consideration in the future:

A2 Dominion
Bromley Council
Bromley Healthcare
Broomwood Health Centre
Clarion Housing

Hestia
Hyde Housing
Kings College Hospital
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust

Work of our subgroups

Page 132



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 39

Work of our subgroups

Page 133



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202240

Work of our core
members and partners

Our vision is for the London Borough of Bromley to be a fantastic place to live and
work, where everyone can lead healthy, safe, and independent lives in supportive
communities. We strive to be flexible and responsive to the needs of our residents,
embracing new ways of working with partners, staff, and our communities to
improve services to those in need within our available resources. 

We continue to focus our efforts on ensuring adults living in Bromley are safe and
safeguarded, protected from abuse, remain connected to their communities, live in
homes suitable to their needs and aspirations while maintaining and improving their
health.

Adult Social Care has different roles and responsibilities when it comes to
safeguarding vulnerable adults. As the lead agency, Adult Social Care is responsible
for considering all safeguarding adult concerns and must make enquiries, or cause
others to do so, if it believes an adult is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or
neglect. We must fulfil this statutory duty to protect an adult's right to live in safety,
free from abuse and neglect. The aims of adult safeguarding are to prevent harm
and reduce the risk of abuse or neglect to adults with care and support needs and
stop abuse or neglect wherever possible. 

We safeguard adults in a way that supports them in making choices and having
control about how they want to live. We promote an approach that concentrates on
improving the life of the adults concerned.

Dirk Holtzhausen
Assistant Director
Safeguarding, Practice and Provider Relations

Bromley Council

Adult Social Care

Page 134



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 41

Safeguarding adult case file audits have been routinely undertaken to measure frontline
practitioners’ compliance with the legislative requirements in carrying out safeguarding
enquiries and identify gaps in their knowledge and skills in Making Safeguarding Personal
(MSP).

The use of Information Communication Technology has greatly improved the work where
we need to meet with colleagues from other organisations as it has saved vast amounts of
time. There have been cases of very successful multi-agency working brought on by using
virtual meetings. 

We continue to focus on a ‘strength-based approach to assessment and care
management’, aiming to involve the adult, build on their strengths and those who they
have contact with, to ensure that support is appropriate to their individual needs. This also
recognises the support that is provided by families, friends, and the wider community as
well as other agencies.

In 2022 Bromley Adult Social Care signed up to the London Care Record. The London
Care Record enables the sharing of care information for direct care, quickly and securely,
at point of care anywhere in London. The London Care Record is a secure view of a
person’s health and care information, accessed by the professionals involved in the
person’s care. The benefit to the public is that professionals have a holistic view that help
them to make better informed decisions, leading to improved and high-quality services.
There has already been positive feedback from staff in Adult Social Care that have started
to utilise the London Care Record in Bromley.

To further implement a governance system that is holistic and realistic to ensure Adult
Services meet and exceed our residents’ expectations, we have reviewed and are in the
process of updating our Quality Assurance Framework (QAF). This QAF represents our
comprehensive arrangements for evaluating and delivering ‘high- quality’ services and it
will provide evidence that the required legislative standards are achieved and
organisational policies, procedures and guidance on practice are complied with. This
framework also includes processes for verification and feedback. 

Our Adult Services Practice Advisory Group (ASPAG) continue to meet monthly. ASPAG
creates an opportunity for qualified and unqualified staff in Adult Services to advise the
Principal Social Worker and Director of Adult Services on practice issues. The group's aim
is to provide a forum to staff so as they can have a voice in the process of developing how
we support residents in Bromley who require social care support and how we can work
better to do this. 

Summary of our achievements in 2021/2022

Work of our core members and partners

Page 135



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202242

We have established a Learning and Development Board chaired by our Assistant Director
for Operational Services. Membership include Heads of Services, Human Resources
Learning and Development colleagues and other key workers. The Learning and
Development Board analyse learning needs and review the implementation of our
Learning and Development Strategy, develop and promote a culture of learning and
further promote strengths-based practice. 

In 2021 Bromley Council signed up to Tri.x Adult Social Care procedures manual, which
includes over 60 core procedures and practice guidance documents for staff. The
procedures manual is hosted on an external web-based platform and regular updates to
procedures are made by the Tri.x team in accordance with any changes to legislation. This
supports Adult Services practitioners to make effective and consistent decisions in line
with the Care Act and other key legislation. 

We have established a Direct Payment Advisory Service to provide learning and
development support and opportunities to the Bromley health and social care workforce
concerning personalisation and Direct Payments. Direct Payments provide people with
the opportunity to receive a personal budget for care as cash payments to buy and
manage their own care support so they can have their care, their way.

The Direct Payment Advisory Service is a dedicated resource to empower staff on a one
to one or group basis to confidently deliver direct payments and advocate the benefits to
individuals.  

We continue to develop and implement an Adult Services Strategy based on a strengths-
based approach, with a greater emphasis on prevention and early help, whilst strongly
engaging with the family and community in supporting individuals by; continuing to
increase the use of direct payments as a model of service delivery, further embedding the
‘Making Practice Personal’ approach, and developing and implementing our service user
and carer engagement strategy to listen to residents and involve them in developing
services. 

The Liquidlogic Adults' Social Care System (LAS) has been implemented for Adult Social
Care.  LAS is designed to be used by Adult Services workers, professionals in partner
agencies such as health, care providers, the third sector, service users, and carers. LAS
provides flexible and comprehensive functionality to enable the management of contacts,
referrals, assessments, reablement, support plans, care commissioning, personal budgets,
self-funders, safeguarding, Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS), provider
management, financial management, and financial assessments; all within a logical and
easy to navigate workflow, which can be tailored to reflect our working practices.

Work of our core members and partners

Page 136



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 43

It was announced in 2021 that the Care Quality Commission (CQC) will have a new duty
to independently review and assess local authority performance in delivery of adult social
care duties from April 2023 onwards. In preparation for the CQC assurance, Bromley
Adult Services undertook a self-assessment in December 2021 based on a tool developed
by the Association of Directors of Adult Social Care (ADASS). This identified both areas of
outstanding performance and areas that require strengthening.

We will also complete a Strengths Weaknesses Opportunities and Threats (SWOT)
analysis in April 2022, to build on the ASC Risk Self-Assessment outcomes, and add more
areas for improvement as well as more strengths.

The existing Adult Services Transformation programme will also be reviewed to ensure
that Bromley Adult Services are fit to meet the requirements of the white paper and CQC
assurance. As a result, our updated workplan, risk assessment and SWOT analysis
outcomes will be integrated into our ASC Transformation and Assurance Board Workplan.
This workplan will have several workstreams with Project Leads, and will be closely
monitored by our Transformation and Quality Board.

Work of our core members and partners

Page 137



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202244

During the past year, Trading Standards has focussed on the continued success of the ‘TS
Alert!’ newsletter, an early warning system which alerts residents and partners of scams
and doorstep crime in the Bromley borough as it happens. The number of recipients of the
alerts has increased since its launch during the national lockdown and boasts a circulation
list now of more than 650, with an estimated forward circulation to 47,000 further
recipients. 

The team continues to disrupt rogue traders and there were 26 rapid response
interventions where officers attended the homes of residents immediately following a call
for assistance. One response resulted in the saving of £12,000 for an elderly couple who
had been cold called by traders seeking to extract payment for unnecessary roof repairs.
Another has identified a saving of £36,833 and a further intervention saved a resident
£18,000. Several individuals related to these incidents are under investigation. 

The work we are doing through early intervention and disruption, for example in providing
call-blockers, and advising victims and families in order to prevent or stop victims from
responding to scams, can be seen as an alternative to care in some cases, enabling the
individual to continue to stay in their home. This can result in financial savings to the
victim, family, and the Council.

Locally we have data evidencing £2.5million of savings to residents as result of trading
standards interventions since 2006.

Using a new impacts and outcomes calculator, we can estimate that between 1st April
2021 and 31st March 2022 trading standards interventions created total financial savings
of £507,157, which includes an estimated £158,078 healthcare and health related quality
of life savings.

This figure includes an estimated £44,659 healthcare savings and health related quality of
life savings, as a result of the 5 call blocker units we installed, protecting particularly
vulnerable residents from scam telesales.

Rob Vale
Head of Service:
Trading Standards and Commercial Regulation

Bromley Council

Trading Standards

Work of our core members and partners

Page 138



Islamist extremism continues to be the predominant source of threat and risk and remains
the most likely ideological inspiration for a self-initiated individual being drawn into
committing terrorism.

The threat and risk from Extreme Right-Wing Terrorism has not significantly increased in
the last 12 months – but there is continued growth in extremism far-right content and
narratives online and in social media, and concerns about how extremism may manifest in
local areas through hate-crime and community tensions.

There is also a growth in the number of highly vulnerable individuals who come to
attention under the Mixed, Unclear and Unstable (M/U/U) classification; an individual
who may represent a risk of harm to others but lack a coherent ideology as a driving
factor.

Individuals with mental ill-health, learning difficulties, and/or spectrum disorder remain a
common factor in referrals across all different types of extremism. Such cases present a
challenge for local panels to assess in separating comments or behaviours that may be the
symptoms of illness, from those which suggest possible engagement with extremist ideas
or causes.

Self-radicalisation is a continuing threat, particularly in the online space and social media
due to the accessible nature of harmful and extremist material and messaging. 

Seven late-stage terror attacks have been foiled in the UK since the start of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. In total, the UK has seen 32 foiled terrorism plots since March 2017
– with 18 related to Islamist extremism, 12 to Extreme Right-Wing Terrorism (XRWT) and
two to Left, Anarchist or Single-Issue Terrorism (LASIT). 

The National Picture

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 45

PREVENT

Work of our core members and partners

Page 139



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202246

In November 2021 the Home Office release figures setting out the number of individuals
referred into the prevent programme in England and Wales. In the year ending 31 March
2021, there were 4,915 referrals to Prevent. This is a decrease of 22% compared to the
previous year (6,287) and the lowest number of referrals received since comparable data
are available (year ending March 2016). This decrease is likely to have been driven by the
effects of public health restrictions that were in place throughout the year to control the
spread of the COVID-19 virus. 

The Council provides training via online face to face “WRAP” (Workshop to Raise
Awareness of Prevent) workshops as part of its programme of mandatory training for all
Council relevant staff. Additional workshops have been attended by school governor
groups, specialist support teams and some schools. eLearning is available at Prevent
Awareness Online Training.

The Council has submitted the annual Channel Panel Annual Assurance Statement for
2022, which forms part of a strengthened quality assurance framework for all Channel
panels across England and Wales and requires strategic sign off by the Chief Executive.

Prevent referrals

Work of our core members and partners

Page 140



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 47

Vicky Bailey
Detective Chief Inspector: Public Protection Hub 
South Area (Bromley, Croydon, and Sutton) 

Metropolitan Police
Services (MPS) Bromley

Created a local violence against women and girls plan to drive activity locally in line
with the MPS Strategy. This has included the creation of the Predatory Offender Unit
who focus on arresting high harm domestic abuse suspects. 
Continued to focus on the MPS priorities of domestic abuse and rape in establishing a
risk management team, which has led to an increase in the use of Domestic Violence
Protection Notices (DVPNs) and MARAC (Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference)
referrals.  
A central transformation team, with a multi-agency group from health and the police,
established the new NHS 0300 process to enable officers to have up-to-date
information and advice when dealing with mental health incidents. This gives greater
confidence to officers dealing with mental health related incidents, greater knowledge
and clearer decision-making processes based on evidence from medical practitioners. 
A central transformation project has also been working to improve the police response
to mental health incidents. The creation of a new digital process is due to go live in the
near future so that officers can share information to the mental health team for those
in mental health crisis, which reduces handover times and allows the medical team to
have the information in advance of the individual arriving. 
Continued to deliver internal training and events to our staff focused on mental
health, wellbeing, and neurodiversity to increase knowledge and share best practice. 
Continued to focus on providing support and advice to investigating officers to
improve their knowledge around mental health and access to partner leads
The continuation of the Crisis Assessment Team (CAT) car programme where health
professionals and the police jointly respond to urgent crisis calls with the aim of
reducing the need for Section 136 (empowers the police to detain those suspected of
being mentally ill in public places and convey them to a place of safety) and ensuring
early diversions and support are put in place.
A dedicated police mental health team continues to work with a cohort of high-
volume service users, working with partners to reduce calls to service and ensure an
effective tailored response. 

What we achieved in 2021/22

Work of our core members and partners

Page 141



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202248

Established a one front door approach for strategy meetings to increase the number
of strategy meetings the police are able to attend. This has included establishing a
weekly escalation meeting between partners to ensure learning and best practice are
shared.
Continued to review all incidents involving vulnerable adults and care homes and
consider a SAR referral when an adult dies or is seriously harmed as a result of
suspected abuse or neglect and there is concern that partner agencies could have
worked together more effectively to protect the adult. 
Learning from Safeguarding Adult Reports cascaded throughout the organisation.
Lessons learnt are shared to maximise the opportunity to better safeguard adults with
care and support needs, who are or may be at risk of abuse or neglect.
Continued focus on serious youth violence which causes fear, ill-health, and loss,
affecting individuals and communities. 
Established a new Risk and Demand team which provides a 24/7 investigation
response for missing people within the early hours of the investigation. Officers are
specially trained to identify and manage risk and work alongside our response teams
to provide the most appropriate response. Enhanced supervision within the team
ensures police use all resources and opportunities to protect and safeguard the
community.

Continue to work towards a fully embedded “one front door” approach for vulnerable
adult enquiries. This builds on the successful one front door for children which has
reduced delays and improved information sharing with our partners. This approach
will encourage strategy discussions between police and partners and provide a central
point of contact for partners. 
The dedicated mental health team will continue to work with high volume service
users
Continued training on mental health, wellbeing, neurodiversity, and the anticipated
changes as a result of the Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS).
Continued focus on Violence Against Women and Children (VAWG).
Continued focus on Serious Youth Violence.

What we plan to do in 2022/23

Work of our core members and partners

Page 142



Ensured that Health representation is effective and visible through the Domestic
Abuse (DA) victim/survivor journey by: 

Ensuring Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) information sharing
protocols were in place for Health providers.
Developing a Health attendees MARAC induction guide.
Recommissioning the Identification and Referral to Improve safety (IRIS)
programme across Bromley (IRIS is a DA training, support and referral programme
for GPs and primary care staff).

Strengthened safeguarding practice in Primary Care through:
The Named GPs for Safeguarding Adults and Safeguarding Children delivered a
series of joint safeguarding training webinars to Bromley GPs, including an
academic half day which was attended by 294 GP’s. 
A Local Enhanced Service (LES) has been rolled-out within Bromley and used as a
template across the wider SEL boroughs to promote specific quality assurance
work in Primary Care Safeguarding for both Adults and Children.

Developed a benchmarking exercise for all CQC regulated Care Homes in Bromley
against the recommendations for Health in the National Institute for Health and Care
Excellence (NICE) 2021 guidance for ‘Safeguarding adults in care homes.’
Developed contract specific safeguarding assurance specifications for upcoming
health provider contracts and procurements, ensuring clarity, equality, and
transparency regarding expectations of tendering organisations, in relation to
safeguarding.

What we achieved in 2021/22

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 49

Claire Lewin
Head of Safeguarding and 
Designated Nurse Safeguarding Adults (Bromley)

South East London
Integrated Care Board 

Work of our core members and partners

Page 143



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202250

Refreshing our safeguarding procurements standards document that sets out the
Essential and Additional Safeguarding Quality standards that are expected of provider
organisations, to reflect updates to the Standard NHS contract, legislation, and place-
based partnership priorities.
Prepare for the implementation of the new Mental Capacity (Amendment) Act 2019,
by continuing with our delivery plan. The Act will replace the current Deprivation of
Liberty Standards (DoLS) with the new Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS). 
Continue to prioritise Domestic Violence and Abuse (DVA) by mapping good practice
and areas for improvement for the health response across the South East London
Integrated Care System (ICS), striving to ensure that health representation is effective
and visible through the Domestic Abuse victim/survivor journey i.e., that they are in
an environment confident to disclose to staff, who take them seriously and show
understanding, and that the local health system supports them to do so.
Analysing the results of the benchmarking exercise for all Care Homes in Bromley,
against the recommendations for Health in the National Institute for Health and Care
Excellence (NICE) 2021 guidance for ‘Safeguarding adults in care homes’ and actioning
the identified areas of improvement and support.
Relaunching NHSE England and NHS Improvement’s framework for Enhanced Health
in Care Homes (EHCH), with an initial focus on key areas including:

Enhanced Primary Care and MDT Support;
Workforce, recruitment, and retention;
End of Life and palliative care;
Falls prevention; and
Managing Deterioration using RESTORE2 which is a physical deterioration and
escalation tool designed to support care homes managing deterioration in
residents.

Bromley Place Based Safeguarding
Adults Priorities for 2022/23

Work of our core members and partners

Page 144



Free BSAB training and access to regional and national learning sessions 
Access to local and national information, guidance and resources via our Practitioners
Library

As we continue to seek assurance from all BSAB members of their statutory safeguarding
responsibilities, we are supported with wide partner representation and contribution at
Board and subgroup meetings. In doing so, we are able to identify areas of good practise,
potential gaps in service delivery and areas of further development required as a
partnership. 

Ongoing support to individual agencies is achieved through providing access to a range of
resources for their wider workforce, these include:

 
By giving our partners the opportunity to provide 360 degrees feedback on the BSAB via
our Safeguarding Adults Partnership Audit Tool (SAPAT), we are encouraging and valuing
the voice of all members. It is also important for us to seek assurance across the wider
partnership of their safeguarding activities, examples of which can be found in this report
appendices.

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 51

BSAB partners

Work of our core members and partners

Page 145



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202252

Key priorities
for 2022-23

We will review the findings from the Safeguarding Adult Partnership Audit Tool
(SAPAT) challenge event, held in October 2021, to determine our future 2022
to 2024 Business Plan; these will be aligned with our broader BSAB 2020 to
2023 Strategy, and prevention will be the golden thread of actions identified.
The work of our subgroups will also align with the new business plan.

With the imminent launch of People at the Heart of Care: adult social care
reform white paper, this will likely present financial challenges, in particular the
expected capping of care charges, and quality assurance of adult social care
from 2023. We will seek assurance from our Adult Social Care colleagues, as
well as other partner agencies affected by this, and offer appropriate support
where possible. 

Capturing the voice of service users and carers will be important for us, as we
seek assurance that people are in charge of their own care i.e., through Direct
Payments, Assistive Technology, etc. 

Community engagement – we will seek to develop efficient and innovative
ways of capturing the views of the wider community, these will include running
various outreach events following the lifting of previous COVID-19 restrictions.   

We will continue with our inclusion agenda by working to engage with hard-to-
reach community groups, as well as develop resources to raise awareness of
support services that are available to all. Key priorities are to address loneliness,
isolation, and digital exclusion.

We will develop and procure a new training offer for all BSAB member agencies
and ensure this is promoted effectively. We will also bring together and
promote the Bromley Safeguarding Children’s Partnership (BSCP) training
resources.

Page 146



We will approach our Business Plans with a ‘Think Family’ ethos. The Think
Family agenda recognises and promotes the importance of a whole-family
approach e.g. more coordination between adults and children's services, and
services working with both adults and children should take into account family
circumstances and responsibilities.

We will work closer with our BSCP colleagues by arranging table-top case
review learning events and disseminate findings with the wider BSAB
membership.

We will continue seeking opportunities to share resources both regionally and
nationally and will get involved in key national projects where possible.

We will streamline our existing multi-agency resources and develop short quick
guides of key documents for ease of access for professionals.

We will continue to seek assurance from the wider membership of their
safeguarding function and practices.

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 53

Key priorities for 2022-23

Page 147



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202254

membership

Independent Chair
Teresa Bell 

Core partners
London Borough of Bromley

Adult Social Care – Director: Adult Services, Kim Carey 
Housing Services – Director: Housing, Regeneration and Planning, Sara Bowrey 
Public Health – Director of Public Health, Dr Nada Lemic 
Public Protection – Head of Trading Standards and Commercial Regulation, Rob Vale

South East London Integrated Care Board 
Place Based Director, Bromley, Angela Bhan

Metropolitan Police Service
Detective Chief Inspector, Victoria Bailey

Appendix 1

Other partners 

Health services 
Bromley Healthcare – Director of Nursing, Fiona Christie 
GP/Primary Care – Named GP for Adult Safeguarding, Dr Tessa Leake 
King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust – Deputy Chief Nurse, Joseph Hague 
Oxleas NHS Foundation Trust – Trust Lead Safeguarding Adults and Prevent, Stacy
Washington 
South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust – Trust Wide Safeguarding Lead
for Adults, David Lynch

Board team
Board Manager, Bulent Djouma
Board Administrator, Denise Shields

Page 148



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 55

Emergency Services 
London Fire Brigade – Borough Commander, Kevin McKenzie 

Voluntary sector 
Advocacy for All – Chief Executive, Jon Wheeler 
Age UK Bromley and Greenwich – Chief Executive, Mark Ellison 
Bromley and Croydon Women’s Aid – Chief Executive, Constanze Sen 
Bromley Healthwatch – Coordinator, Marzena Zoladz 
Bromley, Lewisham, and Greenwich Mind – Director of Services, Dominic Parkinson 
Bromley Mencap – Chief Executive, Eddie Lynch 
Bromley Third Sector Enterprise (Bromley Well) – Chief Executive Officer, David
Walker 
CASPA (Children on the Autistic Spectrum Parents Association) – Chief Executive,
Helen Dyer
CGL Bromley Drug and Alcohol Service – Service Manager, Emily Duignan 
Choice Support – Regional Operations Manager, Kevin Hulls 
Community Links Bromley – Chief Executive, Christopher Evans 
Hestia – Director of Performance and Development, Paula Murphy 
Kent Association for the Blind – Chief Executive, Eithne Rhynne
Optivo – Safeguarding Co-ordinator, Keira Chapman 

Private health, care, and housing sector 
BMI Healthcare – Director of Clinical Services, Stuart Beddard
Priory Group Hospital – Director, Denise Telford 
Registered Social Landlords – Sara Bean (Clarion Housing) 
St Christopher’s Hospice – Head of Patient and Family Support, Vincent Docherty

Education sector
Bromley Adult Education College – Head of Centre, Elena Diaconescu 

Independent Lay Member 
Fasil Bhatti 

Elected members 
Portfolio Holder Adult Care and Health, Cllr Diane Smith 
Portfolio Holder Public Protection and Enforcement, Cllr Angela Page

Representatives from other partnerships
Bromley Safeguarding Children Board – Independent Chair, Jim Gamble 
Community Safety Partnership – Chair, Cllr Angela Page 
Health and Wellbeing Board – Chair, Cllr David Jefferys

Appendix 1

Page 149



2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

1,250 

1,000 

750 

500 

250 

0 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

750 

500 

250 

0 

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202256

Data collection
Appendix 2

Concerns received

Individuals Who Had Safeguarding in 2021-22

1,043 1,110 554

We noted a drop in safeguarding
referrals and those that led to Section
42 enquiries this year, this was due to
an improved triaging process,
therefore it was expected that these
numbers would drop. A reduction in
the length of time that an enquiry
remains open across reporting years is
also a contributing factor to this.
Anecdotal evidence also suggests
referrals are lower due to better
service user rapport and preventative
measures, which is also in line with
expectations.

Enquiries commenced

Individuals Who Had Safeguarding Enquiries
Started in 2021-22

661 530 234

The total number of concerns that
went on to be Enquiries in 2021/22
was 234. This is a decrease of -56%
from 530 in 2020/21.

Of the 234 Enquiries, 96% (224) were
Section 42.

Page 150



2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

800 

600 

400 

200 

0 

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 57

Enquiries Concluded

Enquiries Concluded in 2021-22

742 794 126

The total number of enquiries that
concluded in the year has dropped
from 794 down to 126. 

This is due to improved triaging
procedures preventing unnecessary
enquiries being raised as well as a
reduction in the length an Enquiry
remains open running on across
financial reporting periods.

Appendix 2

Page 151



The highest type of Risk for
2021/22 was Neglect and Acts
of Omission at 29%. This was
also the highest for the
previous two years each being
over 30%.

The next highest abuse type for
2021/22 were Physical at 18%,
Financial at 16% and
Psychological at 14%.

The top 4 abuses accounted for
76% of all cases.

21% 20% 10%

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202258

The following information relates to Concluded
Section 42 cases during 2021/22

Section 42 Enquiries: Abuse types

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Self-neglect

0% 0% 0%Modern slavery

0% 1% 0%
Sexual

exploitation

1% 3% 6%Domestic abuse

32% 36% 29%
Neglect or acts

of omission

1% 1% 4%
Organisational

abuse

0% 1% 1%
Discriminatory

abuse

17% 13% 16%
Financial or

material abuse

9% 9% 14%
Psychological

abuse

2% 3% 3%Sexual abuse

17% 13% 18%Physical abuse

Appendix 2

Page 152



49% 23% 6%

6% 3% 2%

10%

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 59

In 2021-22, the most common
location where risk occurred was
in the individual’s ‘Own Home’
which accounted for 49% of all
Section 42 Enquiries.

The next highest location was in a
Mental Health (MH) hospital,
which includes Oxleas, South
London and Maudsley (SLaM) and
other MH settings, with 23% of all
Section 42 Enquiries.

Section 42 Enquiries: Location of Abuse

Own home
Hospital

mental health
Care home
residential

Care home
nursing

Hospital
community

Hospital
acute

Other

0%
--
In the community
service
--
In the community
excluding community services

Section 42 Enquiries: Source Of Risk 

The main area of identified risk
comes from people known to the
individual, with 48% of Section
42 Enquiries falling under this
category, this is followed by
Unknown individuals at 41% and
then the remaining 14% being
from Service Providers.

46%

Known to
the individual

41%

Unknown to
the individual

14%

Service
provider

Appendix 2

Page 153



34% 62% 3%

33% 56% 11%

30% 57% 13%

66% 62% 6%

68% 26% 6%

66% 21% 12%

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202260

Section 42 Enquiries: Risk Assessment Outcomes 

Of the 148 Section 42
Enquiries where a risk was
‘identified’, in evaluation of the
enquiry outcomes: 34% saw
the risk removed, 64% saw the
risk reduced and 3% saw the
risk remain.

This compares with 2020/21
where 33% had the risk
removed 56% risk reduced and
11% saw the risk remain.

Risk removed Risk reduced Risk remained

20
21

/2
2

20
20

/2
1

20
19

/2
0

Section 42 Enquiries: Making Safeguarding
Personal (MSP) Outcomes

Of the 179 Section 42 cases
where individuals were asked
for outcomes which were
expressed there were 119
(66%) that were Fully
achieved, 50 (28%) that were
Partially Achieved and the
remaining 10 (6%) where the
outcomes were Not Achieved.

This compares with 2020/21
where 68% were Fully
Achieved, 26% Partially
Achieved and 6% that were
Not Achieved.

Fully achieved Partially achieved Not achieved

20
21

/2
2

20
20

/2
1

20
19

/2
0

Appendix 2

Page 154



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 61

Section 42 Enquiries: Demographic Profile 

Individuals for whom
Section 42 Enquiries are
submitted are
predominantly female. 

Females represented 62%
of individuals in 2021/22,
an increase from 54% in
2020-21

20
21

/2
2

Female Male

62% (138) 38% (84)

20
20

/2
1

54% (232) 44% (191)

20
19

/2
0

58% (332) 39% (224)

Unknown:
1%

Unknown:
2%

Unknown:
3%

20
21

/2
2

(86)

18 to 64

39%

(25)

65 to 74

11%

(41)

75 to 84

18%

(48)

85 to 94

22%

(22)

95+

10%

20
20

/2
1

(154)

24%

(95)

15%

(164)

26%

(176)

28%

(40)

6%

20
19

/2
0

(173)

27%

(101)

16%

(148)

23%

(189)

29%

(33)

5%

However, it should be noted that there has been a significant drop in concluded Section
42 enquiries compared with last year (222 vs 629 last year) and as such even though 18-
64’s represents a larger proportion of those who have had an enquiry concluded, the
numbers have actually dropped year on year from 154 the year before to 86. 

We also saw an
increase in Section
42 enquiries for
individuals 18-64
which amounted to
39% in 2021/22
against 24% in
2020/21.

Gender

Age

Appendix 2

Page 155



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202262

There was a total of 53 reported Modern Slavery offences for Bromley during 2021, which was 10 more
than the previous year; County Lines [1] accounted for 20% of these offences, the highest offence category
for the borough along with drug-related crime.

Modern Day Slavery data

Borough

2021/22 2020/21
Key:

Lambeth

102 104

Croydon

165 181

Merton

42 33

Wandsworth

39 46

Sutton

45 22

Barking and
Dagenham

97 116

Greenwich

92 95

Southwark

110 93

Newham

141 125

Redbridge

86 103

Tower Hamlets

79 66

Hackney

60 67

Lewisham

76 64

Havering

50 48

Bexley

36 50

Haringey

101 115

Waltham Forest

95 113

Enfield

111 102

Barnet

81 66

Islington

48 38

Ealing

75 98

Hillingdon

89 74

Hounslow

83 73

Brent

86 64

Westminster

99 69

Harrow

73 52

Camden

60 45

Kensington and
Chelsea

31 42

Kingston

38 27

Richmond Upon
Thames

21 27

Bromley

53 43

[1] County Lines is where illegal drugs are transported from one area to another, often across police
and local authority boundaries (although not exclusively), usually by children or vulnerable people
who are coerced into it by gangs. The ‘County Line’ is the mobile phone line used to take the orders
of drugs. Importing areas (areas where the drugs are taken to) are reporting increased levels of
violence and weapons-related crimes as a result of this trend. (National Crime Agency).

Appendix 2

Page 156



95% 95%

90% 80%

75% 73%

73% 67%

60% 60%

55% 55%

50% 50%

50%

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 63

The following table illustrates the (%) attendance of core courses run vs course capacity:

BSAB training evaluation 2021/22

Domestic Abuse and Coercive Control Deprivation of Liberty

MCA Application to Practice Enquiry Skills

Stalking Awareness PREVENT

Domestic Abuse and effects on children PREVENT

Self Neglect and Hoarding
Safeguarding Responsibilities under the
Care Act 2014

MCA Core Awareness Domestic Abuse Intermediate Level 2

MCA Application to Practice
Managing the Adults at risk process
Level 4

Managing SG Adults at Risk Process
Level 4 - Master Class

Course attendance 

Appendix 2

Page 157



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202264

The following table illustrates the number of online Me Learning courses accessed by agencies. 

Online courses

Bromley Council 925 Education services (schools) 848

Preschool/Nursery 610 Care Group 418

Charity 354 Foster Carers 142

SJD Homes 91 NHS 64

Bromley Adult Education 40 Social Care London 18

Metropolitan Police Service 0 South London and Maudsley NHS
Foundation Trust

0

TOTAL 3,510

Appendix 2

Page 158



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 65

Appendix 2

Page 159



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202266

BSAB partner
contributions

Appendix 3

As the effects of the pandemic lessen, our services have returned to in person delivery. We
are seeing that many older people are in a more vulnerable position post lockdown, with
increases in frailty and social isolations. We have seen a loss of confidence in some of our
clients as well as a decrease in conditioning both physically and mentally and have therefore
adjusted our services accordingly.
All staff continue to be trained annually in safeguarding, and safeguarding is placed at the
centre of new service design.
Safeguarding has Senior Management Team and Board level scrutiny, with all incidents
reported, and outcomes continue to be checked.

What we achieved in 2021/22

Mark Ellison
Chief Executive

Age UK Bromley
and Greenwich

Age UK Bromley and Greenwich promotes the wellbeing of all older people in the community and
is the leading voluntary sector provider of services for older people. Age UK Bromley and
Greenwich works with Board partners in the voluntary sector, Bromley Council, and the police to
promote safeguarding among older people living in Bromley. 

Staff will continue to attend BSAB training, updating, and expanding their knowledge, ensuring
that staff are aware of all types of abuse and how to spot the common signs associated with
them.
A new trustee will be appointed who will have overall Board responsibility for safeguarding.
Organisational safeguarding policies and procedures will be reviewed in light of the pandemic.

What we plan to do in 2022/23

Page 160



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 67

Bromley Healthcare (BHC) has maintained a high quality of safeguarding adult referrals in the
reporting period. BHC has continued to work closely in partnership with the Council and have
received outcomes of most of the referrals raised with the Council. Of the 293 referrals raised
in the organisation, 142 of those have been referred to the local authority and 74 of those
referrals progressed to a section 42 enquiry. 
In preparation of Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS), BHC Executive agreed to make Mental
Capacity Act (MCA) 2005 training mandatory for all BHC staff in October 2021. MCA 2005
training is being delivered in accordance with the MCA Competency Framework. We are
working towards a trajectory to meet 85% compliancy in all levels by January 2023. The Adult
Safeguarding team continue to provide MCA support to frontline staff through training
(mandatory and bespoke), consultations, intranet resources, simple guides, and practical
support for complex cases.
The safeguarding Pressure Ulcer Protocol is now well embedded in BHC, helping to ensure
that all multiple Category 2, Category 3, Category 4, and unstageable pressure ulcers that
meet the threshold of safeguarding are being referred to the Local Authority for adult
safeguarding consideration.
BHC has recruited to a new post ‘Associate Director for Safeguarding’. This senior strategic
leadership role will provide leadership and support to the Adults and Children’s specialist
safeguarding services within BHC, which span three boroughs and its relationships externally.
The Adult Safeguarding service will be more closely aligned to the Children’s Safeguarding
services to drive the “Think Family” Approach.

What we achieved in 2021/22

Mati Pasipanodya
Named Adult Safeguarding Lead

Bromley Healthcare

To ensure of 85% compliancy in all levels MCA 2005 training by January 2023.
To ensure greater understanding, knowledge, competence of safeguarding practice of staff
and enhance their ability to practice safely, by offering quarterly group safeguarding
supervision in line with the Intercollegiate Document.
To ensure compliance with the new legislations in the Mental Capacity Amendment Act
Liberty Protection Safeguards.
To focus on embedding “Making Safeguarding Personal” (MSP).

What we plan to do in 2022/23

Appendix 3

Page 161



We continue to share our various reports with BSAB as part of our partnership working. Staff or
committee members attend BSAB meetings, as well as the Communication and Service User
Engagement Group (CSUEG) subgroup, and exchange intelligence and comment upon key issues
affecting local population in relation to safeguarding. 

Staff and volunteers are trained in safeguarding, which is compulsory, this supports our work
overall including Enter and View visits, interviews for our Patient Experience (PE) reports and our
signposting role; our two safeguarding alerts were as a result of us providing this service. 

We are increasing our presence in the community as part of our PE experience programme,
getting feedback from a minimum of 200 people each month, acting as eyes and ears on the
ground and picking up key issues that people face. We write reports summarising the themes,
highlighting good practice and also areas that need improvement.

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202268

Katie Barratt
Healthwatch Bromley Committee Member

Bromley Healthwatch

Appendix 3

Page 162



Continued to review our Safeguarding Policies on an annual basis to ensure compliance and
good practice.
Continuous monitoring of all incidents across the organisation, with scrutiny at Committee and
Board level.
Achieved good staff engagement and attendance at Safeguarding Training and Awareness
raising across Bromley, Lewisham and Greenwich Mind.
Closely monitored staff training of new staff and refresher training for established staff
members, which is scrutinised at Committee and Board level.

What we achieved in 2021/22

Dominic Parkinson
Director of Services

Bromley, Lewisham
and Greenwich Mind

Ensuring that staff are alert to, and aware of, the different and varying types of abuse, the
common behaviours/effects associated with them, and their responsibilities and duties as
outlined in the local guidance and legislation. We will achieve this through continued
development of staff through inductions, training, conferences, meetings, and staff
supervision. 
A commitment to identifying all types of safeguarding concerns and ensure quality training and
awareness raising across the organisation is in place. 
Continue to review our safeguarding policy and guidance for staff.
Will continue to ensure that safeguarding is discussed/raised at every Board of Trustee’s
meeting, staff meetings and all Manager and Senior Management Team meetings.

What we plan to do in 2022/23

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 69

Appendix 3

Page 163



Continued a blended approach of virtual support such as telephone/Zoom counselling, groups
and 1-1s, and face-to-face support for those with clinical or safeguarding concerns. 
Reinstated our offer of community satellites to encourage people into treatment where travel
is a barrier and improve access to services.
Ensured all staff and volunteers completed safeguarding e-Learning (100% compliance) and
delivered in-house workshops on topical issues and concerns.
Supported community pharmacies to continue dispensing opiate substitution therapy and
providing a needle exchange programme; provided a postal needle exchange for those who
were not able to go to a pharmacy to reduce risk of injecting related harm. 
Appointed a complex needs worker to work closely with service users who have multiple
complexities. This can be through advocating on their behalf. 
Attended both the DAPP (Domestic Abuse Perpetrator Panel) and MARAC (Multi-Agency Risk
Assessment) steering groups to enhance the discussion and support any improvements being
made to build on the support measures for victim/survivors.
The service has received PREVENT training through the Council. This aims to safeguard adults,
children, and the community from the threat of terrorism.

What we achieved in 2021/22

Emily Duignan
Services Manager

Change Grow Live
(CGL)

Bromley Drug and Alcohol Service will sign up to be a member of the Safer Bromley
Partnership (SBP) board. This will allow us to work in partnership with all members by
discussing key issues, co-working between services, raising the profile of Bromley Drug and
Alcohol service, and sharing of good practice.
The service will be relocating buildings over this year. We will be informing all partners and
service users of the new address by sending out information via email, updating leaflets and
celebrating with a launch day.
Recruiting Quality and Safeguarding lead will be beneficial for the service and our safeguarding
oversight and will also allow there to be a single point of contact for our safeguarding
stakeholders to gain updates, ask questions, or discuss referrals.

What we plan to do in 2022/23

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202270

Appendix 3

Page 164



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 71

Every Christmas, through the kind donations of individuals and businesses, BTSS (Bromley
Tenancy Support Service) in conjunction with Hestia’s volunteer team have been able to
provide Christmas hampers and presents for the most vulnerable families within Bromley. In
December 2021, BTSS distributed 37 hampers for families most in need and provided clothes,
toys, and toiletries to an additional 27 families most in need. Through a combination of the
efforts of Hestia volunteers and BTSS staff, all were delivered on Christmas Eve.
BTSS have developed extensive liaisons with Bromley GP Alliances Social Prescribing Teams in
order to identify potential service users who may otherwise have “slipped” through the
support nets currently in place.
BTSS has engaged with the charity arms of regional water and utility companies to secure one
off grant enabling service users to get reductions on utility bills that otherwise would have
increased arrears.

Jack Metcalfe
Business Development Manager

Hestia

Appendix 3

Page 165



The past year has been challenging due to COVID-19 related restrictions, which led to some
community engagement activities being scaled back. LFB are now back to normal business and
catching up on key partnership and community engagement work. The following is a snapshot of
some of the contributions and achievements made by LFB Bromley. Kevin has now moved into a
new role in LFB Policy at headquarters and would like to thank the Bromley partnership for their
support during his tenure.

What we achieved in 2021/22

Kevin Mckenzie
Outgoing Borough Commander 

London Fire Brigade
(LFB) – Bromley

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202272

We have delivered Safeguarding training to all LFB staff across the borough through online
training packages and face-to-face engagement. We also continue to educate our staff about
issues such as modern-day slavery, dementia awareness, and exploitation.

Following positive interactions with Bromley special educational needs reform officers and the
charity CASPA, work is underway to empower those from the neurodiverse community. In May
2021 a scoping meeting was held with Borough Commander Kevin Mckenzie, Helen Dyer- CEO of
CASPA Charity, Stephanie Withers- Group leader of SEN Advisory teams and Matthew Catchpole-
SEND Reforms and Autism Project officer. The outcome of the meeting was a partnership set up
to work with Bromley All-Age Autism. In December 2021 LFB held a training day at Orpington fire
station for all on duty firefighters across Bromley borough. The training day was well attended and
thought provoking with many discussions held taking a closer look at neurodiversity and LFB staff
understanding of Autism within the community. This work aligns with LFB priorities and continues
to raise awareness while exploring how we can support the partnership to Increase employment
opportunities for people with Autism and other disabilities. 

STAFF TRAINING – SAFEGUARDING

Work to review information held on hoarders, and a review of our process for identifying and
recording hoarders both internally and externally, is ongoing. This includes a continuous review of
our operational risk information database to ensure up to date information is shared with partners
and maintained by our crews where appropriate.

HOARDERS

Appendix 3

Page 166



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 73

We continue to positively support the Council’s multi-agency initiative intended to target
environmental, ASB (Anti-Social Behaviour), youth engagement, and community Issues. Our
attendance at community impact days across the borough is both proactive and consistent.
Positive engagement results have been achieved in areas such as Mottingham and Penge. Borough
Commander Kevin Mckenzie would like to place on record thanks to Sandra Campbell and Cheryl
Baker for their consistency, drive for excellence, and support.

CONTRIBUTION TO COMMUNITY IMPACT DAYS

We continue to engage with the voluntary sector in Bromley and have recently formed a
partnership with Bromley Brighter Beginnings to support the local community and keep them safe
from fires in the home by providing advice and guidance. A referral process has been set up with
LFB south east area community safety team, and this is aligned with our local and organisational
priorities of prevention and protection. Throughout lockdown we maintained our service to the
community installing specialist smoke alarms for those with impaired hearing. We also continued
to issue fire retardant bedding to safeguard adults and children.

COMMUNITY SAFETY

For the first time since the official opening of Orpington fire station, the community room was
used as a polling station for the local elections. The feedback received thus far has been positive
and LFB await further feedback from the electoral office on this event.

LOCAL ELECTIONS

We will continue to explore how we can offer more training to domiciliary care workers in
support of preventing fire related deaths. It was previously suggested that more training was
required to help staff recognise and respond accordingly to fire safety risks. 
We will attend more safer neighbourhood boards to help us establish wider connections with
the community. We are particularly keen to explore better links with the faith community and
other community-based organisations, such as Neighbourhood Watch. 
We will explore a more structured approach to communicating our fire safety messages to
those in the community who typically do not use computers.

Borough Commander Chris Line takes over LFB Bromley in May 2022, with the following
highlighted for future planning:

What we plan to do in 2022/23

Appendix 3

Page 167



Following on from our previous work around domestic abuse, including a policy and handbook
refresh since the Domestic Abuse Bill, we have successfully developed and recruited to a new
full- time post of Domestic Abuse Lead for the trust. The post will sit in the Safeguarding team
and lead on training, awareness raising and embedding routine safeguarding enquiries across
the organisation.
As an organisation we have moved away from borough-based directorates to a model of
directorates linked to services, which has increased our ability to share the learning from
SAR’s, DHR’s and SCR’s across the wider organisation. We are able to target teams across the
3 boroughs we work in who may benefit from the learning, and not just the borough the report
links to. 
Our Safeguarding Adult hubs have enabled many staff to bring complex safeguarding cases to
be reviewed with senior staff in the Trust for advice and supervision in managing them, which
has led to high quality safeguarding adult enquiries. We have now included training slots in the
hubs so that short training updates on key areas can be given to staff attending, which has had
good feedback.

What we achieved in 2021/22

Stacy Washington 
Trust Lead Safeguarding Adults and Prevent 

Oxleas NHS
Foundation Trust

We are doing a lot of work around the Think family approach, we have a section now in our
quarterly committee designated to practice improvement in this area and sharing case studies.
We are working towards more joint work with a newly developed joint children and adults
safeguarding post in the team and are planning a joint children and adults safeguarding policy
in 2023 to progress our Think family work further. 
We are planning on developing 7 minute briefings for all the SAR’s, SCR’s and DHR’s, which
are published, to assist in sharing and embedding the learning of these reports in the
organisation. These will also be found on our newly updated intranet pages where up to date
information about adult and children’s safeguarding is centralised. 
To develop a trust wide Domestic Abuse (DA) steering group, led by the new DA lead and
safeguarding team. This will bring together feedback from our 3 borough’s MARAC and
perpetrator programs, which will advance training and development for our staff whilst also
embedding the learning from Domestic Homicide Reviews.

What we plan to do in 2022/23

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202274

Appendix 3

Page 168



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 75

This last year has been a real challenge for patients and staff. In response to the pandemic South
London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLaM) have been working hard to maintain safety
for all patients receiving treatment at the Bethlem Hospital and for all those who work on-site.
The challenges of the pandemic have brought opportunities to work differently. We have made
full use of virtual meetings enabling SLaM to actively engage with partner agencies. We have also
promoted the work of the Safeguarding Adult Board by sharing the learning resources produced
by the board with our staff.

This year we launched a revised SLaM safeguarding adult referral form, improving quality of
information sharing and capturing the personal perspective of the person at risk, ensuring their
voice is heard within the process. We have improved quality assurance and put in place systems to
improve our ability to provide reliable data relating to adult safeguarding.

Our Safeguarding Lead has been working in partnership with colleagues in the local authority to
improve communication within the referral process. Our focus has been on delivering the message
that the safeguarding process should be meaningful and personal to those using our service. We
have produced an organisational safeguarding strategy. As part of the strategy the Bethlem
Safeguarding Lead will be promoting safeguarding best practice and will be rolling out an
enhanced safeguarding supervision and training framework to our inpatient staff.

At a time when the extent of male violence against women and girls has been widely publicised,
SLaM has taken a zero-tolerance stance. As an organisation we have recently acquired White
Ribbon Campaign Accreditation aligning ourselves with the campaign promise to never commit,
excuse or remain silent about violence against women and girls. Identifying and supporting those
at risk of or experiencing domestic abuse and violence remains an area of our work that we as a
mental health trust are committed to improving.

As a major mental health care provider within south east London, we recognise that the pandemic
has exposed many communities to a variety of risks. SLaM has been working with many local
organisations to address the impact of COVID-19 on our communities. We have been working
alongside The South London Listens Programme to meet these challenges head on – developing
an urgent mental ill-health prevention response to ensure south London communities can recover
from the impact of the pandemic. 

Despite the barriers to engagement posed by COVID-19, we managed to engage with many south
London residents to co-design a two-year mental ill health prevention plan. One of the major
priorities is to address loneliness, isolation, and digital exclusion. During the next two years it is
hoped the programme will recruit and train mental health champions and create over 50 mental
health hubs across south London.

David Lynch
Trust Safeguarding Adults/Prevent Lead

South London and
Maudsley NHS
Foundation Trust

Appendix 3

Page 169



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202276

Glossary of
acronyms

Appendix 4

Association of Directors of Adult Social ServicesADASS

Anti-Social BehaviourASB

Adult Services Practice Advisory GroupASPAG

Black, Asian and minority ethnic BAME

Bromley HealthcareBHC

Bromley Safeguarding Adults BoardBSAB

Bromley Safeguarding Children’s PartnershipBSCP

Bromley Tenancy Support ServiceBTSS

Children on the Autistic Spectrum Parents' AssociationCASPA

Crisis Assessment TeamCAT

Change Grow LiveCGL

Care Quality CommissionCQC

Communications and Service User Engagement Group CSUEG

Domestic AbuseDA

Adult Social Care (London Borough of Bromley) ASC

Domestic Homicide ReviewsDHR

Deprivation of Liberty SafeguardsDoLS

Domestic Abuse Perpetrator PanelDAPP

Department of Health and Social CareDHSC

Domestic Violence Protection NoticesDVPNs

Enhanced Health in Care HomesEHCH

DEFINITIONAcronym

Page 170



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 77

Appendix 4

Health and Wellbeing BoardHWBB

Integrated Care Board ICBN

Independent Domestic and Sexual Violence Advocates IDSVA

Identification and Referral to Improve Safety IRIS

Liquidlogic Adults' Social Care SystemLAS

Left, Anarchist or Single-Issue TerrorismLASIT

London Borough of BromleyLBB

Local Enhanced ServiceLES

London Fire BrigadeLFB

Local Government AssociationLGA

Liberty Protection SafeguardsLPS

London Safeguarding Voices GroupLSVG

Multi-Agency Partnership Events MAPE

Multi Agency Risk Assessment ConferenceMARAC

Metropolitan Police ServiceMPS

Making Safeguarding PersonalMSP

Mental Capacity Act 2005MCA

Modern Day SlaveryMDS

Mental HealthMH

National Health ServiceNHS

National Institute for Health and Care ExcellenceNICE

National Referral MechanismNRM

Norfolk Safeguarding Adults BoardNSAB

Performance, Audit and Quality Sub GroupPAQ

Patient ExperiencePE

Policies and ProceduresPP

Quality Assurance FrameworkQAF

Page 171



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 202278

Appendix 4

Safeguarding Adults Organisational ReviewSAOR

Safeguarding Adults Partnership Audit ToolSAPAT

Safeguarding Adult ReviewSAR

Safer Bromley PartnershipSBP

Social Care Institute for ExcellenceSCIE

South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation TrustSLAM

Self-Neglect and Hoarding Panel SNaHP

Safeguarding Adults BoardsSAB

Extreme Right-Wing TerrorismXRWT

Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and ThreatsSWOT           

Training and Awareness Sub GroupT&A

Violence Against Women and GirlsVAWG

Workshop to Raise Awareness of PreventWRAP

Page 172



Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2021 to 2022 79

Appendix 4

Page 173



Produced by:

Adult Services
London Borough of Bromley
Civic Centre
Stockwell Close
Bromley BR1 3UH

www.bromleysafeguardingadults .org

October 2022 - A product of the Strategy, Performance and Corporate Transformation Division

Page 174



Annual report
for 2021 to 2022

-2021 2022

Page 175



Introduction

I am Teresa, the Independent Chair of the
Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board. 

Thank you for reading this report.

This report is about what the Bromley
Safeguarding Adults Board has done over
the last year to keep adults with care and
support needs safe from abuse and
neglect.

2 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report for 2021 to 2022

Page 176



3

About the Board

The Board includes people from Bromley
Council, the police, health services,
criminal justice services, Healthwatch,
charities and community groups, and care
providers.

The Board is a group of organisations that
work together to protect adults with care
and support needs from abuse and
neglect.

Every year the Board must write a report
to let people know how the board is
working.

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report for 2021 to 2022

Page 177



About this report

This report is a summary of what the Board
has done to make sure adults with care and
support needs are protected from abuse
and neglect.

hurts other people
treats people badly
says things that makes them upset or
frightened

Abuse is when someone:

Neglect is when people who are there to
help others do not look after them
properly or they cannot look after
themselves properly.

4 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report for 2021 to 2022

Page 178



What has the board done over
the last year?

The Board makes sure that all
organisations, like social care, police,
ambulance service and hospitals are
working together to protect adults from
abuse and neglect.

During the year, 554 concerns were
looked at because of the risk to the adult. 

The Board looked at 234 of these in more
detail:

Number of people helped

5Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report for 2021 to 2022

Page 179



46% were by someone the
person knew.

38% were men.

29% were for neglect.

49% took place in their own
home.

6

38%

29%

49%

46%

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report for 2021 to 2022

Page 180



Finished one review looking into how
adults are safeguarded. This is called a
Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR). We are
still completing one more review

The Board:

Looked at lots of information from all our
partners to make sure they are providing a
good service that protects people from
harm and abuse.

Looked at the policies and procedures to
update them and make them easy to find
for people who work with adults

Tasks we finished

7Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report for 2021 to 2022

Page 181



Worked with partners to make available
and promote training that is needed and
useful to all organisations.

Told people about how to stay safe and
how to get help. 

The Board also made lots of posters and
leaflets using Easy Read.

8 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report for 2021 to 2022

Page 182



What we are focused on

We have six priorities which focus our
work:

domestic abuse

financial abuse

self-neglect

9Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report for 2021 to 2022

Page 183



modern day slavery 

becoming an adult

specialist care 

10 Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report for 2021 to 2022

Page 184



Write our new two-year Business
Plan.

Think about the future changes in the
law.

Think about an individual’s whole
family when we help them.

11

During the next year we will:

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report for 2021 to 2022

Page 185



Tell more people about how to stay
safe and how to get help.

Provide more training to our staff.

12

Improve how people can tell us what
they think about our services.

Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report for 2021 to 2022

Page 186



How to report concerns about an
adult

If you are worried about an adult with care
and support needs, talk to someone or
report your concerns using the details
below:

Telephone Bromley Council on
020 8461 7777

You can report your worries to the Council
on their website:
www.bromley.gov.uk/AdultAtRiskReport

Or you can call the police on 101.

If it is an emergency, always phone 999.

13Bromley Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report for 2021 to 2022

Page 187

http://www.bromley.gov.uk/AdultAtRiskReport


More information 

If you would like more information or you
would like to tell us your story, please
contact Bromley Safeguarding Adults
Board on:

email bsab@bromley.gov.uk

Or visit our website:
www.bromleysafeguardingadults.org

Adult Services
London Borough of Bromley
Civic Centre, Stockwell Close
Bromley BR1 3UH

www.bromleysafeguardingadults.org

December 2022 - A product of the Strategy, Performance and Corporate Transformation Division

Page 188



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 

August 2022 
  

1 

Report No. 
ACH23-004 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

Part One 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: Adult Care & Health PDS Committee 

Date:  24th January 2023 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 

 

Non-Executive 

 

Non-Key 

 

Title: CONTRACT MONITORING – LEARNING DISABILITIES SUPPORTED 

LIVING SERVICES 

Contact Officer: Andrew Royle, Strategic Commissioner 

Tel: 020 8461 7612   E-mail: Andrew.royle@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Kim Carey, Director of Adult Social Care Services 

Ward: All 

1. REASON FOR REPORT 

 
1.1 The Council has five individual contracts with specialist learning disability providers to provide 

care and support into 25 supported living properties within the Borough. These contracts are 
with Achieve Together, the Brandon Trust, Lewisham Nexus Service, Diagrama and the 

Avenues Group. This annual monitoring report is being presented in line with the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules where the contract value exceeds £0.5m and provides an analysis of 
the providers’ performance during the initial contract mobilisation period and the current contract 

term. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 Adult Care and Health PDS Committee is asked to: 

 i)  Note and comment on the contents of this report 

 

Page 189

Agenda Item 11



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 

August 2022 
  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 

1. Summary of Impact: To ensure the continued provision of statutory services to adults with 
learning disabilities living in Bromley.                

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Transformation Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy  
2. Making Bromley Even Better Priority:  

  
  (2) For adults and older people to enjoy fulfilled and successful lives in Bromley, ageing well, 

retaining independence and making choices.  

 (3) For people to make their homes in Bromley and for business, enterprise and the third sector 
to prosper.  

 (5) To manage our resources well, providing value for money, and efficient and effective 
services for Bromley’s residents. 

  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable 
2. Ongoing costs: £7.1m per annum  

3. Budget head/performance centre:  Learning Disabilities  
4. Total current budget for this head: £18.3m per annum      

5. Source of funding: Existing revenue budget, client contributions 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):   N/A      

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:   N/A      
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement  

2. Call-in: Not Applicable  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications:    N/A    
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Property  
 

1. Summary of Property Implications:   N/A     
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Carbon Reduction and Social Value  
 

1. Summary of Carbon Reduction/Sustainability Implications: N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 

Customer Impact 
 

Page 190



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

3 

1. Estimated number of users or customers (current and projected):  113 adults with a learning 
disability  

________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:        

 
 

Page 191



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

4 

3. COMMENTARY 
 

3.1 The Council has five individual contracts with specialist providers to provide care and support 
to 113 people with learning disabilities living in 25 supported living schemes within the 
Borough.   

3.2 Over the past 2 years the Council has carried out planned retendering exercises on all of its 
supported living schemes and to ensure long term stability and continuity of service provision, 

has put in longer term contracts of up to 9 years.  
 

3.3      The contracts cover the following supported living schemes:  
 
  

Provider Schemes  No. of service 
users  

CQC Rating 

Achieve Together Masons Hill 7 Good 
Achieve Together Masons Hill 6 Good 

Achieve Together Century way 2 Requires 
Improvement 

Achieve Together Century way 2 Requires 
Improvement 

Brandon Trust The Coppice  3 Good 

Brandon Trust The Spinney  4 Good 
Brandon Trust The Glade 4 Good 

Nexus Crofton Road 4 Outstanding 
Nexus Crofton Road 4 Outstanding 

Nexus Devonshire Road 4 Outstanding 

Nexus Johnson Court 7 Outstanding 
Avenues Widmore Road 5 Good 

Avenues Lancaster House 6 Good 
Avenues Amplio House 6 Good 

Avenues Swingfield Court 11 Good 
Avenues Goldsmiths  3 Good 

Diagrama Vinson Close 4 Good 
Diagrama London Lane 5 Good 

Diagrama Brewery Road 5 Good 
Diagrama Redhill 4 Good 

Diagrama Moorfield Rd 4 Good 
Diagrama St Blaise 5 Good 

Diagrama Orchard Grove 4 Good 
Diagrama Lovelace 2 Good 

Diagrama Kersey 2 Good 

 

   The contracts cover the following terms and values:  

Provider Contract start 
date 

Initial Term 
(Yrs.) 

Extension (Yrs.) Value Full 
Term £m 

Achieve Together 25/1/22 5 3  
 

£43.4 
Brandon Trust 25/1/22 5 3 

Nexus 25/1/22 5 3 

Avenues 25/1/22 5 3 

Diagrama 1/4/21 5 2 + 2 £15.7 

 

Page 192



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

5 

3.4 The 113 people living in these services have tenancies with a Registered Social Landlord. The 
Council retains sole nomination rights into these properties which are a mix of houses and self-

contained flats.  The contracts relate to the provision of care and support which may include 
assistance with:  

 

 Managing bills and money 

 Shopping, cooking and healthy eating 

 Learning new skills for independence 

 Accessing employment, sports and social activities 

 Personal care and well-being 

 Managing medication 

  

3.5 The people living in these properties have a right of tenure and many tenants have lived in their 

homes for more than 10 years.  People living in supported living have greater independence, 
choice and control over their lives when compared to living in a care home.   

 
3.6   The supported living model of care has been adopted by councils nationally and, when 

compared with registered care services, is a cost-effective way of meeting needs. This is due to 

housing and general living costs being usually met by welfare benefits, with the Council being 
responsible for the cost of care and support only. 

 
3.7 The services are monitored regularly by the Council’s monitoring officers. Further monitoring is 

carried out by the Quality Checkers team which consists of 5 people with lived experience of 

services who focus on the service users’ experience of the monitored services.  Contract 
management meetings take place at least quarterly using feedback from the monitoring officers 

(who use the Council’s Quality Assurance Framework) and the Quality Checkers.  In addition, 
the attached Key Performance Indicators and Service Outcomes (please see Appendix 1) form 
part of the Contract / Service Specification and are used by commissioners to monitor 

performance. 

3.8 The Care Quality Commission (CQC) also carry out statutory inspections of the services. One 

service, Century Way, is currently under a Requires Improvement (RI) rating following its most 
recent inspection. This rating came about due to a change in the CQC Inspector’s interpretation 
of fire evacuation procedures that had been in place since the property opened. This issue has 

now been rectified and we are confident that this will be reflected in any future inspection. As 
per Council guidelines the approval of the Director of Adult Social Care is sought before placing 

a new client in a service that has an RI rating. Approval is given where appropriate monitoring 
and assurance arrangements are in place. 

3.9 Nominations are made to these services following assessment by a care manager based on 

needs and in accordance with the eligibility criteria set out in the care provider contract.  Cases 
are presented to the Adult Practice Review Group (PRG) for approval. This is to ensure; 

• A consistent approach has been applied when evaluating the vulnerable adult’s needs,  

• Appropriate ways of meeting their assessed eligible needs have been considered to 
ensure their safety and wellbeing,  

• All possible care options or alternatives for supporting people to live independently as long 
as possible at home/or in the community are fully explored using the Strength Based 

Model of Assessing.  

3.10  Service Profile / Data Analysis / Specification 
 

Page 193



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

6 

3.10.1 Supported Living services are monitored and supported by the Bromley Adult Services 
 Compliance Team using the Quality Assessment Framework (QAF) tool.  

 
3.10.2 The QAF tool has been overhauled over the last 6 months with a new format being trialled and 
 introduced. The new format will enable us to RAG rate (Red, Amber, Green) services and 

 have a clear overview where services are performing well or where improvements are 
 required. A full QAF will be completed with services CQC rated Good or above over a 24-

 month period, whilst services CQC rated below good will have an annual QAF visit and at least 
 an additional 6 month focussed visit (3 months if rated Inadequate). 

 

The QAF covers the following areas: 
 

1. Service Overview 

2. Policy & Procedures 

3. Individual Care and Support 

4. Medication Management 

5. Staffing 

6. Quality Assurance 

7. Health & Safety 

8. Complaints and Safeguarding 

9. Nutrition & Hydration 

10. Infection Prevention Control 

 

3.10.3 Areas for improvement identified through the QAF process result in an action plan shared with 

 the provider for completion, detailing what action they will take and by when. Improvements 

 are monitored through review visits and the ongoing QAF process.  An update on providers’ 

 performance against the new QAF format will be presented within the next annual contract 

 monitoring report. 

 
3.10.4 Compliance officers keep oversight of all complaints and safeguarding concerns and 

 monitoring visits are increased depending on the level of concerns about a service. 
 

3.10.5 Where placements have been suspended (due to concerns or in line with Council policy not to 
 place in services CQC rated below good), once the monitoring officer is satisfied that 
 significant improvement has been made by the service, a report is sent to the Director of Adult 

 Services (DAS report) for agreement to resume placements at the service.  
 

3.10.6 Intelligence gathered is shared at Care Services Intelligence Group (CSIG) meetings held 
 every six weeks and attended by multi-agency colleagues including South East London 
 Integrated Care System, CQC and LBB. 

 
  3.11   Continuous Improvement and Value for Money 

3.11.1  The Adult Social Care Compliance Team run 3 provider forums per year for Learning  
  Disability providers. The forum is used to share information and good practice with providers. 
  It also includes presentations on current topics by guest speakers including CQC, the London  

           Fire Brigade and Health representatives. 
 

3.11.2 It is worth noting that the providers operated these services during the height of the Covid                   

Page 194



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

7 

         lockdown and unfortunately some of the clients in these services did pass away due to Covid                
or associated complications. The response by our providers was beyond exemplary under 

these circumstances and they kept the services running in the face of considerable personal 
hardships  

3.11.3 As part of our recognition of this, in October 2022, working alongside Keeping Well South-

   East London, the Compliance Team ran a face to face ‘Schwartz Round’ for LD providers. 
   The purpose of a Schwartz round is to help us understand the challenges and rewards that 

   are intrinsic to providing care. It was a one hour long reflective space which enabled       
   attendees to reflect on the social and emotional impact of working in social care over the past 
   few years. The round was held for provider managers with a view to them extending the 

   Keeping Well South-East London scheme to their own staff teams. Feedback about the event 
   was very positive. 

 
3.11.4 The compliance team compiles a monthly Newsletter that is shared with providers ensuring 

   key information is easily available whilst reducing the number of emails sent to providers. 

 
3.11.5 The Councils Community Learning Disability Team (CLDT) conduct annual statutory reviews 

   on all of the service users living in these schemes. These reviews inform the quality          
    assurance overview of these services. Constant communication is maintained between 

   CLDT, the Compliance Team and Commissioners on service issues allowing for a holistic 

   approach to issue resolution, safeguarding and incident reporting as well as highlighting good 
   practice.  
 

3.11.6 CLDT work with providers when reviewing service user’s hours of support; hours are reduced 
   where a service user has achieved a level of independence or increased if further support is 

   assessed as necessary.   
 

3.11.7 In conclusion, the providers delivering these services are compliant or proactively     

   working towards being compliant with both the KPI’s and outcomes required under the terms 
   of the contract and with meeting the QAF outcomes. Good working relations have been 

   developed with all the providers which allows for open exploration and resolution of     
           challenges and ensures a solid foundation for long term relationships over the term of these  
           contracts. 

 
4. SOCIAL VALUE, CARBON REDUCTION AND LOCAL / NATIONAL PRIORITIES 

 
4.1  Social Value formed part of the formal evaluation process for all of these contracts. These 

services provide economic and social value by employing local staff and enabling access to 

local amenities.  
 

4.2 Social Value outcomes for service users are integrated into the contractual requirements and 
are monitored through a variety of mechanisms as indicated in Appendix 1. 

 

 

5. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT / USER SATISFACTION 

 
5.1 The Quality Checkers team consists of 5 people with a learning disability who live in supported 

living or with a carer in a shared lives placement.  They are all volunteers and support the work 
of the Contract Compliance Team.  Bromley is a leader in this area with very few councils 

facilitating volunteers with disabilities to undertake this valuable work.    
 

Page 195



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

8 

5.2 The Checkers have a lived experience of the services they check and have a unique insight to 

bring to this role. They check day services, supported living and shared lives placements. The 

monitoring tools used have been devised by the Quality Checkers and are based on the things 

they feel are important for good support and a fulfilling life. 

5.3 A critical element of the work carried out by the Checkers is being able to assist service users 
to express themselves frankly about the support they receive.  This includes gathering 
feedback on wellbeing via direct observation when visiting services who support people with 

complex communication difficulties.  The Checkers provide verbal feedback and written 
reports which include recommendations which are shared with the Contract Compliance Team 

as well as being sent to the provider. 
  
5.4 The Checkers are fully involved in the tender process and ask questions during clarification 

interviews with providers and are part of the final evaluation panel. This ensures that the voice 

of the service user is represented during the procurement process. The team are also actively 

involved in the recruitment process for shared lives carers and sit on their approval panel. 

5.5 See Appendix 2 for examples of outcomes achieved by people living in these services. 

 
 

6.  PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACT ISSUES 

 

6.1 The contract with Diagrama was awarded via Executive on 10th February 2021 (ACH21-009) 
for an initial term of 5 years with two further extension periods of 2 years each. Options for the 

provision of these services, including the possible Contract extension period will be considered 
by April 2025, subject to satisfactory Contractor performance. 

 
6.2 Contract mobilisation by Diagrama occurred during the latter part of covid restrictions which 

presented a number of logistical issues, Diagrama were able to resolve these with the 

minimum of disruption.  Diagrama did an excellent job in ensuring a smooth transfer of 
services on the contract start date. 

 

6.3 The contracts with Achieve Together, the Brandon Trust, Lewisham Nexus Service and the 
Avenues Group were awarded via Executive on 22nd September 2021 (ACH21-040) for an 

initial term of 5 years with an extension period of 3 years. Options for the provision of these 
services, including the possible Contract extension period, will be considered by January 2026, 
subject to satisfactory Contractor’s performance. 

 
6.4 Avenues and Achieve Together retained their original services so there was no contract 

mobilisation process for these providers. The mobilisation process for Brandon and Lewisham 
Nexus required an additional level of support from the Council as they were both new 
providers of contracted supported living services in the borough. The provision of sufficient 

time for the mobilisation period ensured that the transfer went smoothly with uninterrupted 
provision of services. 

 
 

7. TRANSFORMATION/POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 There is mutual understanding between the Council and the care providers of the financial 

challenges each party is managing.  All the providers invest resources in improving the offer 
for tenants within the available resources. Individual client care packages are reviewed 

through the statutory process alongside the providers’ own internal review processes. This has 

Page 196



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

9 

resulted in care package reductions through identifying where service users’ needs have 
reduced.  

 
 

8. STRATEGIC PROPERTY CONSIDERATIONS 
 

8.1 All of the properties utilised under these contracts are owned by external Registered Social 
Landlords. The Council has sole nomination rights into all of these properties. 

 
 

9.  PROCUREMENT CONSIDERATIONS 
 

9.1 In line with 23.2 of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, an annual report must be submitted 
to the Portfolio Holder for all contracts with a value higher than £500k. 

 
 

Non-Applicable Headings: IT & GDPR Considerations; Personnel Considerations; 
Legal Considerations; Financial Considerations 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact Officer) 

[Title of document and date] 

 

 

Page 197



This page is left intentionally blank



Appendix 1 

SERVICE KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND OUTCOMES 
 

 
 
 

KPI Target Monitoring Method 

1 Every referral will be accepted by the Provider, as 

per the terms of the contract. 

100% 

mandatory 

Quarterly Contract 

monitoring report 

2 Every referral to be assessed by the Provider 
within 5 working days.  

100% 
mandatory 

Quarterly Contract 
monitoring report 

3 The provider is to commence development of a 
person-centred strength based & outcome 

focussed support plan within 5 working days of 
moving in. 

100% 
mandatory 

Contract compliance 
visit 

4 % Of Service Users with an up-to-date Service 
User centred support plan reflective of current 

needs and reviewed at least quarterly or following 
a serious incident 
 

100% 
mandatory 

Quarterly Contract 
monitoring report / 

Contract Compliance 
Visit (snapshot) 

5 Service User is supported to attend and complete 

an Annual Health Check with GP  

100% Quarterly Contract 

monitoring report  

6 Service User is registered with all mainstream 
health services (Dentist, Optometrist etc.) 

100% Contract compliance 
visit 

7 % Of staff team to be permanent   
 

80% Quarterly Contract 
monitoring report 

8 That KPI scores in the QAF achieve at least Level 

B or above  

100% Contract compliance 

visit 

9 % Of agency staff by hours per quarter 
 
 

No more than 
10% of 
establishment 

hours 

Quarterly Contract 
monitoring report 

10 % Staff vacancies expressed as hours <16% Quarterly Contract 
monitoring report 

11 % Of staff receiving mandatory refresher training 95%  Contract compliance 
visit 

12 % Of appropriately trained and assessed as 

competent staff available to meet the health and 
medication needs of the Service Users, 24/7 

100% of time Contract compliance 

visit 

13 Ensure that all safeguarding and serious incidents 
are reported in accordance with national and local 

guidance. 

100% 
mandatory 

Quarterly Contract 
monitoring report 

14 Ensure that all safeguarding and serious incidents 
are reported within 24 hours to the Contract 
Monitoring Team  

100% 
mandatory 

Quarterly Contract 
monitoring report 

15 Level of Service User and/or their representatives 

satisfaction with the service as reflected in the 
Annual Survey. 

>90% satisfied Contract monitoring 

report – annual 
survey 

16 Communication passport in place and reviewed 100% Quarterly Contract 
monitoring report / 

Contract Compliance 
Visit (snapshot) 

17 Hospital passport in place and reviewed 100% Quarterly Contract 
monitoring report / 

Contract Compliance 
Visit (snapshot) 

18 Number of complaints resolved to the satisfaction 
of the complainant 

95% Quarterly Contract 
monitoring report 

Page 199



Appendix 1 

19 Compliance with Deprivation of Liberty guidance 
& Procedures/ Liberty Protection Safeguards 
(LPS) 

100% Contract compliance 
visit 

20 % Of Service Users who have had a medication 

review under STOMP* 

100% Contract compliance 

visit 

 
*STOMP stands for stopping over medication of people with a learning disability, 
autism, or both with psychotropic medicines. It is a national project involving many 

different organisations which are helping to stop the overuse of these 
medicines.  STOMP is about helping people to stay well and have a good quality of 

life. 
 

SERVICE OUTCOMES  
 
Domain 1: Autonomy, Voice & Control  

 
 Outcome Provider Evidence Evidence 

1.1 The individual feels that they 
are treated with dignity and 

respect within the service 

Post contract award, 
the Provider will be 

expected to submit 
evidence to support 
these outcomes 

 Positive feedback from 
individuals.  

 Positive feedback from family 
and friends.  

 Surveys with individuals which 

demonstrate a high level of 
satisfaction  

 Number and details of 

compliments received.  
 Contract monitoring reports. 
 CLDT reviews. 
 Monitoring visits 

1.2 Individual feels able to make 

a complaint or comment 
without fear of retribution 

Post contract award, 

the Provider will be 
expected to submit 
evidence to support 

these outcomes 

 Accessible information, Use of 

advocates. 
 Number and details of 

compliments received. 

 Number and details of 
complaints received.  

 Contract monitoring reports. 

 CLDT reviews. 
 Monitoring visits 

 

Domain 2: The Right Support at the Right Time 

 
 Outcome Provider Evidence Evidence 

2.1 Service User is enabled to 
meet the outcomes and 

aspirations within their 
support plan 

Post contract award, 
the Provider will be 

expected to submit 
evidence to support 
these outcomes 

 Positive feedback from 
individuals.  

 Positive feedback from family 
and friends. 

 Surveys with individuals 

which demonstrate a high 
level of satisfaction. 

 Contract monitoring reports. 

 CLDT reviews. 
 Monitoring visits 

2.2 That the Service users life 
pathway aspirations are 

driven and informed by their 
choice and control   

Post contract award, 
the Provider will be 

expected to submit 

 Positive feedback from 
individuals.  

 Positive feedback from family 
and friends. 

Page 200



Appendix 1 

evidence to support 
these outcomes 

 Contract monitoring reports. 
 CLDT reviews. 
 Monitoring visits 

2.3 That the Service User is 

happy with the staff team that 
support them, and they are 
engaged in the recruitment 

process. 

Post contract award, 

the Provider will be 
expected to submit 
evidence to support 

these outcomes 

 Positive feedback from 

individuals.  
 Positive feedback from family 

and friends. 

 Surveys with individuals 
which demonstrate a high 
level of satisfaction. 

 Contract monitoring reports. 
 CLDT reviews. 
 Monitoring visits 

 
Domain 3: Education, Training and Employment 

 
 Outcome Provider Evidence Evidence 

3.1 Individuals feel fulfilled and 

have contact and socialise 
with friends and family 

Post contract award, 

the Provider will be 
expected to submit 
evidence to support 

these outcomes 

 Positive feedback from 

individuals. 
 Positive feedback from family 

and friends.  

 Surveys with individuals 
which demonstrate a high 
level of satisfaction. 

 Number and details of 
compliments received.  

 Number and details of 

complaints received. 

3.2 Individuals feel that they have 
choice and control over their 
lives 

Post contract award, 
the Provider will be 
expected to submit 

evidence to support 
these outcomes 

 Service User centred support 
plans. 

 Service User involvement in 

support planning process.  
 Provider shows methods of 

engaging Service User 

choice. Contract monitoring 
reports. 

 CLDT reviews. 

 Monitoring visits 

3.3 Individuals access learning 
and leisure and participate as 
equal members of their local 

community 

Post contract award, 
the Provider will be 
expected to submit 

evidence to support 
these outcomes 

 Service User feedback 
systems demonstrate high 
levels of satisfaction. 

 Contract monitoring reports. 
 CLDT reviews. 
 Monitoring visits 

 
 
Domain 4: Being Active and Well  

 
 Outcome Provider Evidence Evidence 

4.1 Providers have developed 
good inter agency working 

Post contract award, 
the Provider will be 
expected to submit 

evidence to support 
these outcomes 

 Service users accessing 
other services (e.g., OT, 
SALT, Psychology) Contract 

monitoring reports. 
 CLDT reviews. 
 Monitoring visits 

4.2 Individuals maintain a healthy 

lifestyle and are not 

Post contract award, 

the Provider will be 

 Annual Health Check,  

Page 201



Appendix 1 

disadvantaged due to their 
needs 

expected to submit 
evidence to support 
these outcomes 

 Health Action Plans up to 
date. 

 DNR notices reviewed. 

Contract monitoring reports. 
 CLDT reviews. 
 Monitoring visits 

 
 
 

Domain 5: Relationships and Connections 

 
 Outcome Provider Evidence Evidence 

5.1 Individuals are able to access 
a wider circle of support 

rather than rely on the 
provider 

Post contract award, 
the Provider will be 

expected to submit 
evidence to support 
these outcomes 

 Person centred plans. 
 Strength based approach 

 Family/friend involvement. 
 Accessing community 

resources. 

 Contract monitoring reports. 
 CLDT reviews. 
 Monitoring visits 

5.2 Individuals feel that they can 

take positive risks in their life 

Post contract award, 

the Provider will be 
expected to submit 
evidence to support 

these outcomes 

 Person centred plans. 

 Strength based approach 
 Use of advocates. 
 Contract monitoring reports. 

 CLDT reviews. 
 Monitoring visits 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Domain 6: A Safe and Secure Home 

 
 Outcome Provider Evidence Evidence 

6.1 Service users are protected 
from the negative effects of 
any behaviour by people who 

use the services 

Post contract award, 
the Provider will be 
expected to submit 

evidence to support 
these outcomes 

 Positive feedback from 
individuals.  

 Positive feedback from family 

and friends. Surveys with 
individuals which 
demonstrate a high level of 

satisfaction. 
 Number and details of 

compliments received. 

 Number and details of 
complaints received.  

 Contract monitoring reports. 

 CLDT reviews. 
 Monitoring visits 

6.2 Service users maintain their 
tenancy and ensure their 

rights are upheld 

Post contract award, 
the Provider will be 

expected to submit 
evidence to support 
these outcomes 

 Accessible information. 
Repairs. 

 Complaints. 
 Length of tenancy. 
 Contract monitoring reports. 

 CLDT reviews, 

Page 202



Appendix 1 

 Monitoring visits 

6.3 Service users have positive 
interactions with other service 
users within the service 

Post contract award, 
the Provider will be 
expected to submit 

evidence to support 
these outcomes 

 Positive feedback from 
individuals.  

 Positive feedback from family 

and friends.  
 Surveys with individuals 

which demonstrate a high 

level of satisfaction. 
 Number and details of 

compliments received. 

 Number and details of 
complaints received.  

 Contract monitoring reports. 

 CLDT reviews. 
 Monitoring visits. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 203



This page is left intentionally blank



Appendix Two: Examples of Positive Outcomes for Service Users 

 

A Perfect Week 

G moved into his own home in Bromley just over a year ago. This was a big change 

for G who in the past has spent large parts of his life away from Bromley and his 

family and at times in hospital under section. G, his family, care provider and 

Bromley have worked together to develop a service that meets his needs and keeps 

him in the local community.  

One of the things that G does periodically is plan a ‘perfect week’ , in a perfect week 

he will choose a number of days out and who is going to support him for each 

activity. The team keep lots of photos and videos of G so that he can share with his 

family what he has been doing.  

This is just one of the things that he did in his last perfect week.  

G was very excited to go to the London Dungeon and was talking about it days 

before. He helped look up trains and decide to go from Chelsfield to Waterloo East. 

When we got there, we found a Costa and had lunch - a very important part of G’s 

life and routine is to stop and have a Costa.  

G really enjoyed his planned trip and bought an officially taken photo so that he 

could share the experience with his family and friends.  

Restoring fun times with care and support 

C has had a tough time with a change in needs including a diagnosis of dementia, 

epilepsy, and sleep disturbances. It has been a difficult year for her, but with the right 

level of compassion and support provided by our staff and the involvement of C’s 

family, health professionals, and the local authority C has managed to restore much 

normality and even maintain a busy week doing many activities. C even managed a 

visit to Disneyland Paris recently and is already planning her next visit such was her 

enjoyment of her trip.  

 

Bringing the community together to celebrate  

As many people we support are hugely fond of Queen Elizabeth II, we celebrated the 

Queen's platinum jubilee by throwing a party to make sure everyone could celebrate 

together and have a fun time. We invited people from other supported living 

schemes and residential homes locally as part of a collaboration to bring together 

our local community, reunite friends and build connections. Everyone we support, as 

well as people visiting from other services had a wonderful time and it was incredible 

seeing people catch up with friends and enjoy the celebrations together. 

When Her Majesty sadly died, she was remembered with respect and fondness by 

the people we support. Some visited London to sign the memorial book and leave 

Page 205



flowers.  Others made cards and artwork to remember her by and celebrate her life. 

They told us how sad it was that the monarch they’d known all their life had passed.   

Meeting the Mayor 

E, K, K, and J enjoyed the opportunity to meet the Mayor of Bromley on her Jubilee 

walkabout. This was a great chance for people we support to proudly show off their 

beautiful home-made decorations and talk about their plans. 

Learning new skills at the allotment 

People we support (including K, S, K, E, S) were all delighted to be given the 

opportunity to take over an allotment plot in Bromley that’s been made accessible for 

them. The allotment provides a fantastic space where people can take responsibility 

for their work, learn new life-long skills, grow their own sustainable local produce, 

stay active in the fresh air and also create new links within the local community. 

We’ve installed a ramp down from the pathway and cleared a seating area for the 

people we support to take a well earned rest. K particularly likes his new role at the 

allotment and he visits the allotment frequently making sure it is up to his standards! 

Benefits of the allotment are already being felt by the people we support in terms of 

improvements in wellbeing as well as new gardening skills 

A platform for people we support to flourish in the community 

E has lot of talents and we make sure we give him the tools and support he needs to 

make sure these talents are used to benefit himself and the local community. E has 

a paid job and enjoys regularly going to the local gym where he enjoys working out. 

He also volunteers at a local animal sanctuary centre. His independence through 

these activities has continued to be part of his identity and something he is very 

proud of. E recently started his second paid job and he’s doing an amazing job. His 

efficiency, timekeeping, and attendance are absolutely brilliant and he’s constantly 

learning new skills.  

Maintaining Family Connections 

H visits her mum every other week as her mum lives in a residential care home as 

she has dementia.  H visits her mum in her care home supported by her own team of 
support staff.  
H celebrated her birthday in November and she wanted her mum to come and 

celebrate with her.  
Her team made arrangements with her mums care home as well as Council social 

workers who were also involved for a number of reasons. To support H’s mum 
visiting the H’s provider met the cost of taxis.  
On her birthday H was surprised as her mum came with her care staff to celebrate 

her birthday. They spent several hours together. H was over the moon as she was 
laughing and kissing her mum a lot! It was also clear that H’s mum was happy to be 

able to celebrate her daughter’s birthday in her daughter’s home alongside H’s 
friends.  
 

 

Page 206



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 

August 2022 
  

1 

Report No. 
ACH23-003 

 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART 1 - PUBLIC 

 
  
 

 

   

Decision Maker: Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee. 

Date:  24 January 2023 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 

 

Non-Executive 

 

Non-Key 

 

Title: Annual Monitoring Report: Domiciliary Care 

Contact Officer: Channelle Ghania Ali - Integrated Strategic Commissioner  
Tel: 0208  461 7621   E-mail: Channelle-Ghania. Ali @bromley.gov.uk 

 

Chief Officer: Kim Carey -Director Adults Social Care 

Ward: All 

1. REASON FOR REPORT 

 

1.1 Policy Development and Scrutiny Committees may review contracting arrangements on an 
annual basis, where the contract value is over £500k. The Domiciliary Care Frameworks for 

both the Patch and Framework providers contracts commenced on 28 August 2021 and have 
an annual aggregate value that exceeds this threshold.  

1.2 This report provides an overview into the delivery of the contracts in accordance with the service 

specification. 

1.3 Given the number of providers (40 in total) this report will focus on the mobilisation and 

performance reporting to provide an insight into the first year of these contracts.  

 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 That the Adult Care and Health PDS committee notes the content of the contract monitoring 

report on the performance of Patch and Framework providers in the delivery of Domiciliary Care 
in the initial year of this Award.  

 

 

Page 207

Agenda Item 12



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 

August 2022 
  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 

1. Summary of Impact: There is no negative impact.  The service support both the local Corporate 
Plan priorities and statutory duty (3.1 below). 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Transformation Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy  
2. Making Bromley Even Better Priority (delete as appropriate):  

 For adults and older people to enjoy fulfilled and successful lives in Bromley, ageing well, 
retaining independence, and making choices.  

 To manage our resources well, providing value for money, and efficient and effective services 

for Bromley’s residents. 
    
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Estimated Cost £13.4m per annum  
2. Ongoing costs: Recurring Cost £107.2mill for 8 years 

3. Budget head/performance centre: All Domiciliary Care Budgets within Adult Social Care 

  

4. Total current budget for this head: £12.1m  
5. Source of funding: Council’s General Fund (within existing budget envelope)   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):   NA 
2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:   NA 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement  
2. Call-in: Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: NA  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Property  
 

1. Summary of Property Implications: NA  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Carbon Reduction and Social Value  
 

1. Summary of Carbon Reduction/Sustainability Implications:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 

Customer Impact 
 

Page 208



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

3 

1. Estimated number of users or customers (current and projected):   2193 Adults, 26 children: 
both current at end of year 1 of contract.  

  __________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  NA 

 
 

Page 209



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

4 

3. COMMENTARY 
 

3.1 Domiciliary Care is made available to adults assessed under the Care Act 2014 who require 
personal support to maintain their independence whilst remaining in their own homes. The 
service was recommissioned, as the previous Domiciliary Care Framework (2011) expired in 

2021. The new contracting arrangements have a focus on improving outcomes for residents 
and increasing independence via an early intervention and prevention approach. 

 
3.2 The Gateway 0/1 Commissioning Strategy for Domiciliary Care (ACH 19015) presented the 

strategic outcomes that underpin the new service model of Domiciliary Care as follows:  

I. To embed a new Patch model across the quadrants of the borough with Patches 
accepting 60-70% of all care packages, and the remaining accepted by the Framework; 

II. A systems change in Domiciliary Care moving from ‘Time/Task’ care to Strengths-
based assessments and care that seek to champion the strengths of the service-user to 
remain as independent as possible; 

III.  Which will in turn lean upon the Trusted Assessor Model of Care allowing providers to 
regularly review care packages, ensuring the optimum outcomes for service users. 

3.3    Following the Domiciliary Care Contract Awards (ACH21-031); to 8 Patch providers for 5 years 
with a potential 3-year extension and to 32 Framework providers for 4 years with no extension; 
the mobilisation period began in July 2021 supporting the requirement to commence the 

contracts on 28 August 2021.  

3.4  The Framework includes both established providers (14) who were also successful during the 
last tender (2011) and newly awarded providers (18). Where previous providers were 

unsuccessful, for the new Award, these became legacy providers (13) with the intention that 
their packages would move to the Patch or framework providers at the time of a care manager’s 

review.   

3.5  The Patch Award to the 8 providers is a mix of established Framework providers (4) on the 2011 
Award and new contractors (4) to the council.  

3.6  Because contract mobilisation took place over a period within the pandemic pressures and 
lockdown the Patch providers were offered an extended period of mobilisation from the intended 

November 2021 completion date.  

3.7 During this extended period of Patch mobilisation the providers submitted their mobilisation 
plans which included tasks such as recruitment & training of carers. All patch providers were 

onboarded to understand that their attendance at regular contract meetings is a contractual 
requirement. These contractual meetings aim to embed the strategic management process 

which includes the KPI and outcomes reporting. 

3.8 The ambition to mobilise our Patch providers in the first year has been slower than planned. A 
critical factor has been the national shortage of available care and health workers. This has 

been a challenge to our Patch and Framework providers, some of whom have mitigated against 
the carer’s shortages via the Government’s Sponsorship Licence option to recruit from abroad.       

3.9  Most patch providers have now recruited through the Government’s Sponsorship route and ten 
framework providers have followed suit. This new capacity has started to have a positive impact 
(from August/ September 2022) with reference to the increasing number of packages supported 

by the Patch providers. 

Page 210



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

5 

3.10 A fair proportion of providers (15), from both the Patch and Framework, have also engaged with 
the Wake up to Care project. This Council initiative helps to recruit carers that are new to care 

primarily, in partnership with our care providers. To date regular meetings have been held to 
discuss the progress of the Wake Up to Care initiative and on the recruitment of potential 
apprentices coming forward from the promotional work carried out across the borough in both 

colleges and shopping centres.  

3.11 Another specific contract management issue, that has since been resolved, is the replacement 

of the Carefirst platform, the Council’s social care software.  It has been superseded by Liquid 
Logic. The initial problems were concerned with invoicing and payments which impacted on our 
providers’ cashflows especially for smaller local domiciliary care businesses.  

3.12 Whilst the mobilisation is running behind schedule it is important to note that the Counci l can 
respond to all care package demands, primarily with Framework providers (as detailed in table 

C below).  

Service Profile / Data Analysis / Specification 

 

3.13 The contract has four Domiciliary care categories: Standard Adult Dom Care; Children & Young 
People, Discharge to Assess and Palliative/ End of Life Care. Our projections on numbers of 

service users have been based on these four categories. At the time of the Award report the 
average projection of all categories per calendar month was estimated at: 1,693. The data 
below shows that the projected average number of Domiciliary care packages (1,693) has 

increased by 29.53% to 2193 2022/23.   
 

3.14 Additionally, there has been consistent demand throughout the year with no easing of demand 

after the winter pressure period.  
 
Table A 

 
Table B 

  2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

April 2,006 1,983 2,064 

May 2,028 2,022 2,094 

June 2,083 2,074 2,108 

July 2,047 2,101 2,162 

Aug 2,031 2,096 2,207 

Sept 2,031 2,141 2,281 

Oct 1,976 2,163 2,291 

Nov 1,994 2,160 2,337 

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Marc

No. of individuals receiving Dom Care 
at the end of each month

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Page 211



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

6 

Dec 2,000 2,175   

Jan 1,979 2,228   

Feb 1,952 2,286   

Mar 1,957 2,355   

Average 
pcm 2007 2149 2193 

 
3.15 Package lengths are captured below for the first year of this Award (28 August 2021- 12 

November 2022). Please note we cannot compare 2021/22 with previous years due to 
onerousness of this task.  

 
Table C 
 

                          
 

Table D 
 

Duration of Packages 

Less than 60 days 2385 

2-6 months 1108 

6-12 months 606 

over 12 months 197 

 

Please note each service user may have several lines of care recorded on Liquid Logic system. 

3.16 The data above presents that most packages are under 60 days, which on first sight might 

indicate that service users are discharged within 60 days. However, most service users have 
several domiciliary care lines recorded as open at any time, for instance, 4 calls per day for 30 
minutes and these can be closed to add new ones at any time. So, a service user may have a 

domiciliary care line for less than 60 days but on closing this another one may be opened with a 
variation such as the domiciliary care provider or the 30 mins increasing. To gain a fuller 

understanding of domiciliary care lengths Commissioning would need to complete case reviews 
in Year 2.  
 

3.17 The anticipated package allocation, with 60-70% going to the Patch, is progressing slower than 
anticipated. This is due to the slow start in recruitment of carers, as discussed above. However, it 

Page 212



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

7 

is important to stress that the Council has been able to respond to all care package demands, 
primarily with Framework providers (as detailed in table E below) or as a last resort with other 

‘spot’ CQC rated ‘good’ and above providers. This latter safety net process was part of the 
commissioning strategy. 

 

3.18 Currently, the data shows that our Framework providers have the greatest capacity to accept 
packages, and that our reliance upon Spot or Legacy providers amounts to over a fifth of the 

total packages.  These spot or legacy packages usually place a cost pressure on the budget, but 
in year 2 we foresee a decrease in our use of spot and legacy providers. 

 

 
Table E 

 

 
 
 

3.19 During the first year a tiered strategic contract management process has been implemented.    
Providers with the greatest spend (£500k+) are required to:  

i. complete an additional data and contract management process and report upon activity  
ii. submit data on outcomes for adults with care and support needs (See appendix A for the 

template) and   

iii. participate in the Quality Assurance Framework process completed by the Quality Assurance 
Team.  

     

3.20 This tiered process is a tool to capture matters that will lead to improvements in the lifetime of 
the contract such as cost savings, value for money and positive outcomes for both the service 

users and Providers in their experiences. Additionally, all providers are required to report on 
capacity indices. 

 

3.21 To date all Patch providers have completed the expected quarterly meetings to discuss matters 
such as mobilisation and recruitment; their capacity building in their patch; their capacity over 

the winter festive period to accept new packages (as often carers’ rotas are pre-designed over 
this period with little capacity to accept new packages) and their expected 7-day capacity to 
accept hospital discharge throughout the year.  

 
3.22 All framework providers have completed quarterly meetings to discuss their mobilisation 

arrangements, general capacity, winter capacity and weekend capacity. 
 

59%19%

22%

Packages of Care split 28 August 2021 
to 21 Nov 2022

F/work

Patch

Spot

Page 213



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

8 

3.23 Both Patch and Framework providers have attended meetings on market development matters, 
and in relation to developing the newly commissioned Children & Young People and  End of 

Life/ Palliative domiciliary care areas. These have been specific targets areas for improvement 
as these are the categories in which we have not been able to place our packages in previous 
years, without relying on spot providers. 

 
3.24 As above, the Patch providers are required to return reports on the outcomes listed in Appendix 

A as part of the strategic contract management process.  The returns have been delayed for 
year 1 to enable the providers to focus on business recovery post pandemic; but all Patch 
providers are due to submit their data by December 2022. Our Framework providers will follow 

suit with the intention that these will be completed quarterly.  
 

3.25  The returns received thus far provide an insight into an initial sample of 50 people (please refer 
to Appendix A for the description of each measure below): 

 
Table F 

 
                          (1.1 – 5 – defined in Appendix A) 

 
Outcome 1: An individual can maintain or increase their level of Personal care. This is being met 

by approximately half of the sample.  

 
Outcome 2: An individual can maintain and use their home safely. Approximately half of the 

sample are meeting both measures 

 
Outcome 3: The individual develops and maintains family and other personal relationships.  This 

measure has been met by the whole sample.  
 
Outcome 4: The individual is supported to access a range of support and participate in the 

community. The sample illustrates that just over a third meet this outcome. 
 
Outcome 5: The individual is supported to avoid crisis e.g., hospital admission.  Approximately 

half of the sample have met this measure. 
 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 2.1 2.2 3 4 5

Outcomes returns from 50

Page 214



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

9 

3.26 The outcomes forms will support care manager reviews, providing a 360-degree picture of 
needs, demands and successes of our service users.  

 
3.27 Going forward, in year 2, it is the commissioning team intends to meet and work with all of the 

Patches and Framework providers to complete the outcomes forms on a quarterly basis, for 

each service user.   
 

 
4 Continuous Improvement and Value for Money 

 

4.1  The service user’s strengths are at the centre of care planning. The intention of care planning is 
to recover or build upon these strengths to reduce their reliance upon domiciliary care and prevent 

their needs escalating further.  We intend that the strengths-based assessments will work in 
conjunction with the Trusted Assessor model of care to reduce packages of care down where an 
individual has recovered skills and/or build upon completing personal care tasks for themselves. 

 
4.2 Our Trusted Assessor model of care assumes that our Patch and Framework providers will be re-

enabling our service users to do more for themselves; allowing providers to safely recommend to 
care managers a modification of the care packages, when this is possible to do safely.  Providers 
will be entitled to a one-off payment to alleviate any negative impact on their business. This re-

enablement of service users will ultimately increase the capacity of providers to offer packages 
elsewhere in the system. 

 

4.3  The process of implementing the Trusted Assessor model has begun. The initial phase will be a 
piloted with two of our Patch providers, prior to full roll-out. 

 
 

4.4  The first year of mobilisation has identified areas that will be addressed by the commissioning 

team. These include the following: 
 

4.5  A need for market development across the providers awarded the palliative care category and 
Children’s and Young People’s (CYP) category. To date commissioning has held forums to further 
engage our providers to understand their training needs, which will in turn enable them to accept 

packages. Currently the Integrated Commissioning Board (ICB) are not readily utilising the Patch 
providers for palliative care and our CYP teams are at times sourcing spot providers to accept our 

CYP packages. The intention of market development is that our providers can confidently accept 
packages and grow capacity for CYP and palliative care.  

 

4.6  Our data analysis shows that a few trends have begun to emerge; for instance, the double 
handed packages of care are increasing with a large proportion of these packages continuing for 

a 12-month period. We will need to understand if this trend will continue, as package intensity 
may have increased as residential care providers were not accepting new residents during the 
pandemic. This will be monitored during year 2 of this contract.  

 
4.7   Additionally, Commissioning needs a better understanding of the reablement referrals pathway, 

to, not only, increase the number of people using reablement but also allowing so ASC teams to 
safely reduce double handed care as part of the strengths-based assessments process.  

 

4.8 Further workstreams arising from our initial first year includes Commissioning working alongside 
the ICB in developing a Nursing apprenticeship with a Domiciliary Care pathway to increase the 

capacity of our Providers in year 2.  Nursing apprenticeships have been implemented in some 
regions across the country, which will allow commissioners to plan this initiative using previous 

Page 215



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

10 

intelligence. We are also seeking to utilise ICB funding to further bolster overseas recruitment for 
our Patch providers, utilising the Government Overseas initiative. 

 
4.9 Commissioning will also scope new preventative and early intervention models with the aim of 

reducing the  increase of domiciliary care over the course of this contract. Such as reducing 

loneliness and increasing physical health interventions where possible.  
 

4.10 The demand in our first year is showing an increase in packages, but when considering value 
for money our current average hourly rate of £19.51 illustrates a competitive domiciliary care 
hourly rate. The Fair Cost of Care review has shown an average £/hr increase of 0.4% for 

domiciliary care. However, as we allocated 3% inflation, we will have achieved the savings. 
 

 
5. SOCIAL VALUE, CARBON REDUCTION AND LOCAL / NATIONAL PRIORITIES 
 

5.1  All providers were questioned and scored at the tender stage on their operational 
understanding and commitment of social value. As the first year has been challenging we expect 

our providers may not have been able to recruit locally and this will have an impact on their social 
value plans.  However, this will be monitored via a questionnaire to providers in the forthcoming 
year to map their social value initiatives going forward.  

 
 
6. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT / USER SATISFACTION 

 
6.1 User Satisfaction is captured by our Quality Assurance team (QA) in their yearly Quality 

Assessment Framework (QAF) with all 8 Patch and 32 Framework providers. The QAF 
process requires the Quality team to contact service users to understand their experience of 
the Domiciliary care service that they are receiving.  

 
6.2  Currently two Patch providers are suspended due to their CQC rating of Requires Improvement 

as it is the Council’s policy to only use providers with a Good or above rating (wherever 
possible). The QA team will continue to follow the Council’s process in working closely with 
these two Patch providers to improve their quality via a service improvement plan.  

 
6.3  The QA team will soon be engaging in a service users’ focus group to detail qualitative 

experiences. Commissioning will be part of this process in order to understand service users’ 
experiences of domiciliary care. We will also map how best individuals are achieving the 
outcomes listed in Appendix A. 

 
6.4  Currently the Performance and Strategy Team undertake annual surveys to capture experiences 

of adult social care interventions in both the community and in residential services. A recent 
survey (2021/22) received 262 responses from those over 65+ receiving care whilst in the 
community. The overall analysis indicates that 70% state this intervention assists them to have 

control over their lives in their home.  
 

 
7.  PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACT ISSUES 
 

7.1 The current contract for the Patch providers commenced on 28 August 2021 for 5 years with 
an extension of 3 years. If the extension is utilised the current contract will end on 27 August 

2029.  The Framework contract commenced on the same date and is for 4 years ending on 27 
August 2025. Early discussion to open the dialogue on options for a new Framework will 
commence in September 2023 at the end of the second year of this contract.  

Page 216



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

11 

 
 
8. TRANSFORMATION/POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 The JSNA reports an increase of the older population, where in 2021 the over 65s is 17.8% of 
the overall population this will gradually increase to 20.2% by 2031. This may translate to an 

increase in demand for Domiciliary care, which will become evident through the period covered 
by this contract. The contracting arrangements will cater for these changes. 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Non-Applicable Headings: [List any of headings 4 to 16 that do not apply.] 
IT AND GDPR CONSIDERATIONS 

STRATEGIC PROPERTY CONSIDERATIONS 
PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS 

 

Background Documents: 

(Access via Contact Officer) 

NA 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 217



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

12 

 
APPENDIX A SERVICE USER OUTCOMES & INCENTIVES 

DOMICILIARY CARE OUTCOMES FOR ADULTS WITH CARE AND SUPPORT NEEDS 

 
Outcome 1: The Individual can maintain or increase their level of Personal Care   
 Output Provider 

Evidence 

Evidence 

1.1 The Individual can manage 
and maintain nutrition   

  Evidence and feedback from Service Users 
 Evidence and feedback from family and friends 
 Provider Surveys from Service Users 

 Number of care reviews that document this 
 Random survey calls from Council Staff 

1.2 The Individual is able to 
maintain personal hygiene  

  Evidence and feedback from Service Users 
 Evidence and feedback from family and friends 

 Provider Surveys from Service Users 
 Number of care reviews that document this 
 Random survey calls from Council Staff 

 

1.3 The Individual is able to 
manage toilet needs  

  Evidence and feedback from Service Users 
 Evidence and feedback from family and friends 
 Provider Surveys from Service Users 

 Number of care reviews that document this 
 Random survey calls from Council Staff 

1.4 The Individual is able to be 
appropriately clothed  

  Evidence and feedback from Service Users 
 Evidence and feedback from family and friends 

 Provider Surveys from Service Users 
 Number of care reviews that document this 
 Random survey calls from Council Staff 

 

Outcome 2: The Individual is able to maintain and use their home safely 
 Output  Provider 

Evidence 
Evidence 

2.1 The Individual is able to 
make use of their home 

safely  

  Any use of Assistive Technology is referred to Care 
First or the Care Manager  

 Provider Surveys from Service Users 
 Random Calls from Council Staff 

 

2.2 The Individual is able to 

maintain a habitable home 
environment where 
possible  

  Evidence and feedback from Service Users 

 Evidence and feedback from family and friends 
 Provider Surveys from Service Users 
 Number of care reviews that document this 

Random survey calls from Council Staff 

 
Outcome 3: The Individual develops and maintains family or other personal relationships 
 Output Provider 

Evidence 

Evidence  

3.1 The Individual has contact 
and socializes with friends 
and family  

  Person centered Care and Support Plan details 
family and personal relationships for Individual 

 Positive feedback from Service Users . 

 Positive feedback from family and friends.  

 Surveys with Service Users  which demonstrate a 

high level of satisfaction. 

 Number and details of compliments received.  

 Number and details of complaints received 

  

Outcome 4: The Individual is supported to access a range of support and participate in the 
community. 

Page 218



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

13 

 Output Provider 

Evidence 

Evidence 

4.1 The individual makes use 
of necessary facilities or 
services in the local 

community  

  Person centred Care & Support plans. 

 Individual’s involvement in support planning process.  

 Positive feedback from Service Users . 

 Positive feedback from family and friends.  

 Surveys with Service Users  which demonstrate a 

high level of satisfaction 

  

Outcome 5: The Individual is supported to avoid crisis e.g., hospital admission  
 Output  Provider 

Evidence 
Evidence 

 The Individual 
maintains a 

healthy  lifestyle  

  Risk Assessments are up to date 
 Concerns are reported immediately to GP or 111 and 

recorded 
 NOK are notified immediately of health concerns  
 Monitoring Checks  

 

 
 

Page 219



This page is left intentionally blank



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 

August 2022 
  

1 

 

Report No. 
ACH23-002 

 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

Part 1  
 

 

   

Decision Maker: ADULT CARE AND HEALTH POLICY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Date:  24/1/2023   

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Non-Executive 
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: COMMUNITY LINKS BROMLEY (CLB): INFRASTRUCTURE SUPPORT 
SERVICES TO THE VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND SOCIAL 

ENTERPRISE SECTOR (VCSE) – ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT TO 
MEMBERS  
 

Contact Officer: Maya Vadgama, Integrated Strategic Commissioner  

Tel: 0208 313 4046     E-mail: maya. vadgama@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Kim Carey, Director of Adult Services   

Ward: All 

 
1. REASON FOR REPORT 

 
1.1 This report is presented to provide monitoring updates for the Policy Development and 

Scrutiny Committees. The support to the Voluntary, Community, Social Enterprise (VCSE) 
sector contract is provided by Community Links Bromley, (CLB).  

1.2 The Council supports the capacity, capability, and sustainability of the local VCSE sector by 

funding a dedicated resource to coordinate, advocate and strengthen the sector and to 
support the needs of the local population.  

1.3  The current contract was awarded to CLB in September 2020, following a competitive tender. 
It commenced on 1 October 2020, for a five-year period to September 2025 with the option to 
extend for up to a further two years to September 2027. The annual value of the contract is 

£156K with a whole life value of £1.09M to September 2027.   

1.4 This report provides a summary of how the service has performed from October 2020 to 
September 2022, in addressing the requirements of the specification, in demonstrating how 

community-based support can be a key element in prevention and early intervention and to 
help to reduce demand for Council and health funded services. 

 

 

 

Page 221

Agenda Item 13



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 

August 2022 
  

2 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 That the Adult Care and Health PDS Committee (ACH PDS) is asked to : 

1.  Note the content of this contract monitoring report on the performance of CLB. 

 

 

 

Page 222



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

3 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 

1. Summary of Impact: Significant impact as this is a support service to the VCSE sector who 
provide a range of non - statutory, early intervention and preventative services to the local 
population. This helps to reduce demand for Council and health funded services and supports 

the wellbeing of residents.     
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Transformation Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy  

2. Making Bromley Even Better Priorities:  
 

(1) For adults and older people to enjoy fulfilled and successful lives in Bromley, ageing well, 
retaining independence, and making choices 
 

(2) For people to make their homes in Bromley and for business, enterprise and the third sector 
to prosper 

 
(3) To manage our resources well, providing value for money, and efficient and effective 

services for Bromley’s residents 

 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: This contract was awarded via a Part 2 process financial information is 
available as such on request to the Committee  

2. Ongoing costs:      

3. Budget head/performance centre: Information & early Intervention  
4. Total current budget for this head: £  

5. Source of funding: Better Care Fund 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):  N/A    

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A    
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Non-Statutory - Government Guidance  

2. Call-in: Not Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Property  
 

1. Summary of Property Implications: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 223



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

4 

Carbon Reduction and Social Value  
 

1. Summary of Carbon Reduction/Sustainability Implications: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 
Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users or customers (current and projected): Support offer available to all 
VCSE organisations in Bromley estimated to be 1200 +  

________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:        

 
 

Page 224



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

5 

3. COMMENTARY 
 

3.1  Service Overview  

 

3.1.1 Bromley has a strong VCSE sector with a long-established relationship with the 
Council. Voluntary and community organisations from local branches of large 
national charities to small Bromley community groups play a vital role in the 

community. 
 

3.1.2 The Council has invested in this relationship and the sector through 
commissioning a VCSE infrastructure group to support local organisations. CLB 
is the dedicated resource funded by the Council to support the VCSE sector in 

Bromley. The service aims to support and strengthen the social and economic 
growth of the broader voluntary and community sector in Bromley, through the 

Voluntary Sector Strategic Network (VSSN).    
 

3.1.3 As the voice of the sector, CLB works closely with the Council and the NHS 

South East London Integrated Commissioning Board and is the core founder of 
Bromley Third Sector Enterprise, (BTSE) who now hold the Bromley Well 

Contract. 
 

3.1.4 The VCCN focus is on community development and capacity-building, through 

advocacy, volunteering, and citizenship, by bringing people together through a 
common connection, whether through a particular location, interest, culture, or 

faith.  
 

3.1.5 These small projects help to reduce escalation of need to higher level 

intervention by supporting and enabling individuals to self-manage. They also 
recognise that some with higher needs, will require signposting to peer support 

groups and supported services, demonstrating the flexibility to blend specialist 
and universal services.                                                                                            

 
3.2 SERVICE PROFILE and PERFORMANCE   

3.2.1 CLB provides information, advice, and guidance to the sector on funding,   

investment, and volunteering. Outcomes specified in this contract are: 

 To increase the capacity, sustainability, and the effectiveness of the 
Voluntary and Community Sector in Bromley 

 
 To build capacity and capability in local communities by demonstrating 

social and economic impact 
 
 To leverage in external funding to help increase capacity 

3.2.2 A range of qualitative and quantitive annual contract targets are detailed at 
Appendix A, with notes on progress in the first two years of the contract.   

3.2.3  The overall performance for the first two years of the contract from October 
2020 to September 2022 has been good and is detailed below. The standard 

Page 225



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

6 

Red, Green and Amber descriptors detail achievement or progress towards the 
targets.   

3.3 Information Advice and Guidance (Green)   

3.3.1  The target gives assurance that the sector is informed of key issues which 

might affect them and has access to resources it needs to thrive.  

3.3.2 Sector surveys undertaken as part of the procurement exercise in 2020, 
showed that organisations wanted support to help them plan for the future, 

develop, and grow. CLB have fully delivered on this target.   

3.3.3  Using this feedback and their insight, the CLB website has been redesigned to 
ease navigation, provide clear information and resources, and this work 
continues to improve accessibility.  https://www.communitylinksbromley.org.uk/  

3.3.4  CLB’s communications channels remain relevant and up to date by embracing 
digital communication such as Face book, Instagram, and Twitter in addition to 

regular E- bulletins. Their reach and interactions across these platforms 
continues to grow as do the number of visitors to their web site. (Apdx A )  

3.4 Funding and Investment (Green)  

3.4.1 CLB receive core funding from the Council to finance their operations, 
premises, and staffing. 

3.4.2    A key challenge for all VCSE organisations is the ability to secure different 
revenue sources in order to remain sustainable and sourcing and applying for 

funding continues to be one of their top priorities.  

3.4.3    As sector lead, CLB have a financial target to leverage in £1.25M for the sector, 
over the term of the contract. The target measures how proactive the service is 

in keeping the sector informed and supported to draw in external funds. As of 
September 2022, they are over achieving this target.   

3.4.4 Their significant work has resulted in new external investment to the sector 
from a range of providers including but not limited to, the National Lottery, the 
Local Trust, London Sport, London Youth, The NHS’s National Development 

Programme, the Greater London Authority, and the earlier South East Clinical 
Commissioning Group, now South East London Integrated Care Board (ICB).  

3.4.5     Working in partnership and or supporting groups such as Bromley Mencap, My 
Time Active, Bromley Football Club and many others both in borough and out 

of borough, they have leveraged in a cumulative total awarded in excess of 
£809K since October 2020.  

3.4.6  CLB has delivered the National Lottery grants programme and during the past 
two years, have managed a local grants programme investing £119K to 

charitable organisations in Bromley.   

3.4.7 CLB is the Local Trusted Organisation for the Mottingham Big Local. This is a 

National Lottery Community Fund managed by a local trust to deliver resident 

Page 226

https://www.communitylinksbromley.org.uk/


Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

7 

led projects and CLB have secured plan approval, for a further investment of 
£600K in to the area.  https://localtrust.org.uk/big-local/about-big-local/ 

3.4.8     CLB proactively shares information on potential funding opportunities and 

facilitates relevant training and outreach work to help organisations prepare 
suitable bids and encourages collaborative and creative work on funding bids.  

3.4.9  Examples of CLB support includes the facilitation of 1:1 support and guidance 
to a number of organisations by staff from the National Lottery Awards for All 
England, and the Reaching Communities Fund, organised by the CLB. The 

event was well received and will be repeated twice a year.  

3.4.10 Funding fairs are popular with the sector and CLB endeavours to capitalise on 

their network of funding providers, to secure a number of different providers, to 
attend and disseminate their funding offer and guidance. Future fairs are 
planned for 2023.     

3.4.11 During the pandemic, (March 2020 - March 2021), the Direct Line Insurance 

Group offered emergency funding of £170K to the Council for the VCSE 
organisations. The fund was managed by CLB and distributed to 38 groups of 
various sizes and covering a range of services.    

   Final impact report on Bromley Emergency Covid-19 Response Fund - Community Links Bromley 

3.4.12 From September 2022 the Council and NHS funded Innovation Fund was 

managed internally within the Council. CLB continues to provide support during 
the quarterly bidding rounds with advertising, advice and guidance to potential 
bidders, use of their bidding platform, and support with evaluation and 

moderation of bids.   

3.5    Volunteering (Amber, work in progress)  

3.5.1  Bromley residents have a long tradition of volunteering and giving mutual 
support to their neighbours and wider community. However, maintaining a 

stable pool of volunteers is an increasing challenge, and sourcing suitable 
placements is not straightforward. CLB plays a role in brokering volunteering 

opportunities in the Borough. 
 

3.5.2 Their expertise was evidenced during the pandemic when CLB coordinated   

community assets and delivered the volunteer centre. Activating a network of 
volunteers, the initiative was delivered at scale and speed to support the 

Council in reaching out to the most vulnerable in areas such as befriending, 
shopping, delivering medication and supporting the covid vaccination 
programme.  

 
3.5.3 CLB supported the four vaccine clinics by assigning 4080 volunteers to 989 

clinics including those based at the Civic Centre and in Penge.  
 
 CLB also supported London South East colleges to develop a volunteer 

programme and train 50 student volunteers to support the lateral flow testing 
which enabled their students to get back to college. 

 

Page 227

https://localtrust.org.uk/big-local/about-big-local/
https://www.communitylinksbromley.org.uk/latest-news/final-impact-report-on-bromley/


Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

8 

3.5.4 Volunteering activity has reduced from those levels following the pandemic and 
stoppage of the furlough scheme. Many volunteers cite commitments to return 

to work and work premises, (which may not always be local, as reasons for the 
reduction in their time available for volunteering).  

   
3.5.5 CLB advertises opportunities on their website, for individuals offering volunteer 

time as well as organisations seeking volunteers, and through their e-newsletter 

which is sent to over 1300 individuals who had previously expressed an interest 
in volunteering. They match volunteers to organisations and hold volunteering 

fairs and training events with partner organisations which gave rise to the 
following feedback: 

 
“We delivered 1 Volunteer Management Training – How to Attract Volunteers. 
We had 9 organisations attend. The training focused on supporting 
organisations to set up a volunteer recruitment campaign.  

‘That was one of the best sessions I’ve ever been on – thanks so much!!’ (Care 
Plus), 

 
‘It was a very useful session, which has got me thinking about the different 
ways of how our organisation can recruit volunteers’ (Bromley Little Theatre)”  
 
“I wanted to get involved in doing something that had some purpose' In May 22, 
I started volunteering at Magpie Dance which I found through Community Links 
Bromley….. Even as I write this, I have the biggest smile on my face thinking 
about my volunteering experience.  'Magpie really is my happy place'.” 
 

3.6   Strategic Partnerships (Green)  

3.6.1  This target measures how CLB represents the VCSE sector on named boards 
and how the VCSE sector is contributing to strategic plans and decisions; the 

target is being achieved.  

3.6.2  The VCSE sector plays a vital role in supporting the health, social care and 
increasingly the wellbeing needs of communities and CLB provides support and 

leads the work streams emerging from the VSSN.  

3.6.3  CLB represents the VSSN at key strategic boards including but not limited to: 

 Health & Wellbeing Board  

 Adult safeguarding Board  

 Borough Resilience Forum 

 Borough Partnership for the South East London Integrated Care 

System  

 Bromley Business Partnership  

 The Borough Equalities Partnership Board  

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) Steering Group  

3.6.4  It is the lead organisation for the regional borough wide involvement of the 

voluntary sector to support NHS South East London Integrated Care Board 
(ICB) and the new integrated care system service planning. CLB are hosting 

the role of the Directors post for this work across the six South East boroughs. 

Page 228



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

9 

3.8   Continuous Improvement and Value for Money 
 

3.8.1 The effect of the pandemic has shown the value of CLB and the VCSE sector 
as key partners for the Council and NHS and the benefit of a cultural change 

towards seeking community solutions to community problems to reduce 
pressures and demand for statutory services.  

 
4. SOCIAL VALUE, AND LOCAL / NATIONAL PRIORITIES  

 

4.1 CLB is recognised and valued as the central voice of the VCSE sector and is a 
key partner of the Council and the NHS. It supports local organisations by 
helping them to secure funding and continue to deliver their services, much of 

which aligns with early intervention and prevention work.  
 

4.2 CLB contributes to local employment through its work force and delivering a 
number of volunteering opportunities, many of which result in employment 
offers. It supports reduction in recruitment costs through their advice, guidance, 

and advertising support to the sector. 
 

4.3 The contract requires CLB to maintain a database of local VCSE organisations 
and work with organisations to ensure it is updated regularly. The provider 
currently maintains the Simply Connects platform which provides a directory of 

providers, community services, activities, and support. 
  

4.4 The platform was originally designed to support the delivery of a multi-agency 
approach to social prescribing to support health, wellbeing, and self -care; a 
‘one stop’ shop for the whole community be they a provider offering services, 

individuals or groups seeking information or professionals, to sign post clients 
to invest in their self-care. 

4.5 In 2021 CLB received additional funding of £12.6K from Bromley Council Adult 
Social Care, to expand and update the Simply Connect platform. The additional 

funds were to support the awareness of the diverse range of day opportunities 
and to give support to residents as pandemic lockdown restrictions were lifted. 

5. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT / USER SATISFACTION 

 

5.1 A stakeholder survey was undertaken prior to the procurement exercise in 2020 
and informed the key targets and performance indicators. A follow up ‘state of 
the sector’ report is to be produced imminently and this will inform the timing of 

future stakeholder surveys.     
 

5.2 CLB is best placed to galvanise partner and community engagement and offer 
‘critical friend’ support to the Council as necessary during service redesign and 
remodelling.      

 

7. TRANSFORMATION/POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 The sector delivers early intervention and prevention activities to support the 
local communities and together with the CLB, play a vital role in supporting the 

Council’s transformation agenda and the following strategies: 

Page 229



Annual Contract Monitoring Report 
August 2022 
  

10 

 Making Bromley Even Better 
 

 Ageing Well  
 

 Tackling Loneliness 
  
 

Non-Applicable 

Headings: 
[List any of headings 4 to 16 that do not apply.] 

 6, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13,  

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 

Officer) 

 

 

Page 230



Document is Restricted

Page 231

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is left intentionally blank



Document is Restricted

Page 235

Agenda Item 16a
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is left intentionally blank


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES OF ADULT CARE AND HEALTH PDS COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 22ND NOVEMBER 2022
	Minutes

	5 WORK PROGRAMME AND MATTERS OUTSTANDING
	Appendices 1  2 Matters Outstanding and Work Programme

	7 ADULT CARE AND HEALTH PORTFOLIO DRAFT BUDGET 2023/24
	ACH PDS Appendices 2023-24
	DRB Summary
	Variations £
	Variations Notes 
	Subjective

	Appendix 2 - ASC Growth and Savings 2020-21 - 2022-23
	ASC Growth & Mitigation


	8 TACKLING LONELINESS STRATEGY - ACTION PLAN UPDATE
	Tackling Loneliness Strategy Action Plan for January 2023 PDS - FINAL
	Befriending Week 2022_A5Leaflet

	9a INTEGRATED COMMUNITY EQUIPMENT STORE - AWARD REPORT (PART 1)
	10 BROMLEY SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD 2021/22 ANNUAL REPORT
	BSAB_AnnualReport_2021-22
	BSAB_AnnualReport2021-22_EasyRead

	11 CONTRACT MONITORING - LEARNING DISABILITY SUPPORTED LIVING SERVICES
	Appendix 1 KPI's Outcomes
	Appendix 2 Good news stories

	12 CONTRACT MONITORING - DOMICILIARY CARE
	13 CONTRACT MONITORING - INFRASTRUCTURE SUPPORT TO VOLUNTARY SERVICES
	15 EXEMPT MINUTES OF ADULT CARE AND HEALTH PDS COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 22ND NOVEMBER 2022
	16a INTEGRATED COMMUNITY EQUIPMENT STORE - AWARD REPORT (PART 2)

